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12 Jury 1945.
From: H. Kent Hewitt, Admiral, U. S, Navy.
To: The Secretary of the Navy.
Subject : Report of further investigation into the facts surronnding the Japa-
nese attack on Pear] Harbor, T December 1941,
Reference:

(a) Report of Commission appointed by the President to investigate and
report the faects relating to the Japanese attack on Pearl Harbor,
T December 1941.

(b) Record of examination of witnesses having knowledge of the facts in
connection with the Japanese attack on Pearl Harbor, conducted by
Admiral Thomas C. Hart, USN (Ret.).

(¢) Public Law 339, 78th Congress.

(d) Precept appointing Naval Pearl Harbor Court of Inquiry, 13 July
1944,

(e) Record of proceedings and report of Naval Pearl Harbor Court of
Inguiry.

(f) First Endorsemcnt, dated 2 November 1944, by the Judge Advocate
General, and Second Endorsement, dated 6 November 1944, by Com-
mander in Chief, U, 8. Fleet and Chief of Naval Operations, to record
of proceedings of Naval Pearl Harbor Court of Inquiry.

(g) Report of Army Pearl Harbor Board, dated 20 October 1944,

() Letter 3 December 1944 from Commander in Chief, U. 8. Fleet and
Chief of Naval Operations, to the Secretary of the Navy, on report
of Army Pearl Harbor Board.

(i) Precept 2 May 1945 appointing H. Kent Hewitf, Admiral, U. 8. Navy, to
conduet further Pearl Harbor investigation.

(J) Memorandum 18 May 135, concerning the scope of the further investi-
gation and approval thereof by the Secretary of the Navy.

(k) Precept 6 July 1945 :umending reference (i).

Euclosure :
(A) Report of further investigation into the facts surrounding the Japanese
attack on Pearl Harbor, T December 1941,

(B) Record ot proceedings of this investigation, and exhibits therein.

1. The precept of the Secretary of the Navy, dated 2 May 1945, reference (i)
as amended by reference (k), directed that Admiral H. Kent Hewirt, USN, make
a4 study of the previous investigations, that such further investigation as might
appear to bhe necessary be then condueted, and,-that npon completion of the
investigation a report be submitted to the Secretary of the Navy setting forth
the findings and conclusions reached.

Review of the previous investigations disclosed that various matters of im-
portance, principally concerning intelligence, had not been investigated thor-
oughly. 'The subjects proposed for turther investigation were approved by the
Secretary of the Navy on 21 May 1945,

3. Counsel in this investigation wis John F. Sonnett, Speecial Assistant to the
Secretary of the Navy. Also assisting were Lieutenant Commander Benjamin
H. Griswold, TII, USNI, and Lieutenant John Ford Baecher, USNR. The re-
porters were Ship's Clerk Ben Harold, USNR, and Chief Yeomun Raymond E.
Iteese, USNR. These men took a special oath to maintain the security of the
information developed during the investigation.
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[1] InTRODUCTION
PRIOR INVESTIGATIONS AND SCOPE OF THIS INVESTIGATION

A. The Roberts Commission.

Pursuant to Executive Orvder dated 18 December 1941, a Commis-
sion, headed by Mr. Justice Owen .J. Roberts, conducted an investiga-
tion into the facts surrounding the Japanese attack on Pearl Harbor.
Thg Commission reported its findings on 23 January 1942 and con-
cluded :

1. Effective utilization of the military power of the Nation is essential fo suc-
cess in war and requires: First, the coordination of the foreign and military
policies of the Nation ; and, second, the coordination of the operations of the Army
and Navy.

2. The BSecrefary of State fulfilled his obligations by keeping the War and
Navy Departments in close touch with the international situation and fully advis-
ing them respecting the course and probable termination of negoefiations with
Japan.

3. The Secretary of War and the Secretary of the Navy fulfilled their obliga-
tions by conferring frequently with the Secretary of State and with each other
and by keeping the Chief of Staff and the Chief of Naval Operations informed
of the course of the negotiations with Japan and the significant implications
thereof.

4. The Chief of Stafl and the Chief of Naval Operations fulfilled their obliga-
tions by consulting and cooperating with each other, and with their superiors,
respecting the joint defense of the Hawniian coastal frontier; and each knew
of, and coneurred in, the warnings and orders sent by the other to the responsible
commanders with respect to such defense.

5. The Chief of Staff of the Army fulfilled his command responsibilities by
issuing a direct order in connection with his warning of probable hostilities, in
the following words : “Prior to hostile Japanese action you are directed to under-
take such reconnaissance and other measures as you deem necessary.”

6. The Chief of Naval Operations fulfitled his command responsibility by is-
suing a warning and by giving a direet order to the commander in chief, Pacific
Fleet, in the following words:

“This despatch is to be considered a war warning.”
and

“Execute an appropriate defensive deployment preparatory to carrying out the
tasks assigned.”

[2] 7. The responsible commanders in the Hawaiian area, in fulfillment
of their obligation to do =0, prepared plans which, if adapted fo and used for the
existing emergeney, would have been adequate.

8. In the cirenmstances the responsibility of these commanders was to confer
upon the question of pufting into effect and adapting their joint defense plans,

9. These commanders failed fo confer with respect to the warnings and orders
issued on and after November 27, and to adapt and use existing plans to meet
the emergency.

10. The order for alert No. 1 of the Army command in Hawaii was not adequate
to meet the emergency envisaged in the warning messages.

11, The state of readiness of the Naval forces on the morning of December
7 was not such as was required to meet the emergency envisaged in the warning
Messages.

12, Had orders issued by the Chief of Staff and the Chief of Naval Operations
November 27, 1941, been complied with, the aircraft warning system of the
Army shounld have been operating; the distant reconnaissance of the Navy,
and the inshore air patrol! of the Ariny, should have heen maintained; the anti-
aircraft batteries of the Avrmy and similar shore batteries of the Navy, as well
as additional antiaireraft artillery located on vessels of the fleet in Pearl Harbor,
should have been manned and supplied with ammuuition; and a high state of
readiness of aireraft should have heen in effect. None of these conditions was
in fact inangurated or maintained for the reason that the vesponsible com-
manders failed to consult and cooperate as to necessary action based upon the
warnings and to adopt measures enjoined by the orders given them by the chiefs
of the Army and Navy commmands in Washington,
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13. There were deficiencies in personnel, weapons, equipment, and facil@ties
to majntain all the defenses on a war footing for extended periods of time,
but these deficiencies should not have affected the decision of the responsible
commanders as to the state of readiness to be prescribed.

14. The warning message of December 7, intended to reach both commanders
in the field at about 7 a. m. Hawaiian time, December 7, 1941, was but an
added precaution, in view of the warnings and orders previously issned. 1t
the message bhad reached its destination at the time intended, it would still
Lave heen too late to he of substantial use, in view of the faet that the com-
manders had failed to take measures and make dispositions prior to the time
of . its anticipated receipt which would have been effective to warn of the
attack or to meet it

[3] 15. The failure of the officers in the War Department to observe that
General Short, neither in his reply of November 27 to the Chief of Staff's message
of that date, nor otherwise, had reported the measures taken by him and the
transmission of two messages concerned chiefly with sabotage which warned
him not to resort to illegal methods against sabotage or esplonage, and not to
take mieasures which wonld alarm the civil population, and the failure to reply
to his wmessage of November 20 outlining in full all the actions he had taken
against sabotage only, and referring to nothing else, tended fo lead General
Short to believe that what he had done met the requirements of the warniugs
and orders received by him.

16. The failure of the commanding general, Hawaiian Department, and the
commander in chief, Pacific Fleet, to confer and cooperate with respeet to the
meaning of the warnings received and the measures necessary to comply with the
orders given them under date of November 27, 1941, resulted largely from n sense
of security due to the opinion prevalent in diplematie, military and naval circles,
and in the poblie press, that any immediate attack by Japan would be in the
Far East. The existence of such a view, however prevalent, did not relieve
the commanders of the responsibility for the security of the Pacific Fleet and
our most important outpost.

17. In the light of the warnings and directions to take appropriate action,
transmitted to hoth commanders between November 27 and December 7, and the
obligation under the system of coordination then in effeet for joint cooperative
action on their part, it was a dereliction of duty on the part of each of them not
to consult and confer with the other respecting the meaning and intent of the
warnings, and the appropriate measures of defense required by the imminence
of hostilities. The attitude of each, that he was not reguired to inform himself
of, and his tack of interest in, the measnres undertaken by the other to earry
out the responsibility assigned to sueh other under the provisions of the plans
then in effect, (lemonstrated on the part of each a lack of appreciation of the
responsibilities vested in them and inherent in their positions as commander
in chief, Pacific Fleet, and commanding general, Hawailian Department.

19. Causes contributory to the suecess of the Japanese attack were:

Disregard of international law and custom relating to declaration of war by
the Japanese and the adherence by the United States to such laws and customs.

Restrictions which prevented effective counterespionage.

Emphasis in the warning mesgsages on the probability of aggressive action in
the Far East, and on antisabotage measures,

4] Failure of the War Department to reply to the message relating to the
antisabotage measures instituted by the Commanding General, Hawaiian De-
partment.

Nonreceipt by the interested parties, prior to the attack, of the warning message
of December 7, 1941,

20. When the attack developed on the morning of December 7, 1941, the officers
and enlisted men of both services were presenf in sufficient number and were
in fit condition to perform any duty. Except for a negligible number, the use of
intoxicating lignor on the preceding evening did not affect their efficiency.

21. Subordinate commanders executed their superiors’ orders without ques-
tion. They were not responsible for the state of readiness prescribed.

B. Admiral Hart's Investiqation.

Pursuant to precept of the Secretary of the Navy dated 12 Febru-
ary 1944, Admiral Thomas C. Hart, USN (Retired), conducted an
examination of witnesses having knowledge of facts in connection with
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the Japanese attack. Admiral Hart completed his examination on
15 June 1944,

C. Naval Court of Inquiry.

Public Law No. 339, 78th Congress, approved 13 June 1944, directed
the Secretary of War and the Secretary of the Navy, severally, to pro-
ceed forthwith to investigate the facts surrounding the Pearl Harbor
catastrophe, and to commence such proceedings against such persons

as the facts might justify.

A Court of Inquiry, consisting of Admiral Orin G. Murfin, USN
(Retired), Admiral Edward C. Kalbfus, USN (Retired), and Vice
Admiral Adolphus Andrews, USN (Retired), with Commander Har-
old Beisemeier, USN, as Judge Advocate, was appointed by the Secre-
tary of the Navy on 18 July 1944. The Court was directed to convene
on 17 July 1944, or as soon thereafter as practicable, for the purpose
of inquiring into all circumstances connected with the attack made by
Japanese forces on Pearl Harbor, Territory of Hawaii, on 7 Decem-
ber 1941 ; to inquire thoroughly inte the matter, and to include in its,
findings a full statement of the facts it might deem to be established.
The Court was further directed to state its opinion as to whether any
offenses were committed or serious blame incurred on the part of any
person or persons in the Naval service, and, in case its opinion was
that offenses had been committed or serious blame incurred, to recom-
mend specifically what further proceedings should be had. The Court
of Inquiry commenced its proceedings on 31 July 1944, and sub-
mitted the record of its proceedings on 20 October 1944.

[5] The Court of Inquiry concluded:

Based on finding II, the Court is of the opinion that the presence of a large
number of combatant vessels of the Pacific Fleet in Pearl Harbor on 7 December
1941, was necessary, and that the information available to the Commander-in-
Chief, Pacific Fleet, did not require any departure from his operating and
maintenance schedules.

Based on Finding III, the Court is of the opinion that the Constitutional re-
quirement that, prior to a declaration of war by the Congress, no blow may be
struck until after a hostile attack bas been delivered, prevented the Com-
mander-in-Chief, Pacific Fleet, from taking offensive action as a means of de-
fense in the event of Japanese vessels or planes appearing in the Hawaiian
ared, and that it imposed upon him the responsibility of aveiding taking any
action which might be constrned as an overt act.

Based on Finding V, the Court is of the opinion that the relations between
Admiral Husband E. Kimmel, U, 8. N,, and Lient. General Walter C. Short,
U. 8. Army, were friendly, cordial aud cooperative, that there was no lack of
interest, no lack of appreciation of responsibility, and no failure to cooperate
on the part of either, and that eaeh was cognizant of the measures being un-
dertaken by the other for the defense of the Pearl Harbor Naval Base to the
degree required by the common interest,

Based on Finding VI, the Court is of the opinion that the deficiencies in per-
sonnel and material which existed during 1941, had a divect adverse bearing
upon the effectiveness of the defense of Pearl Harbor on and prior to 7
December,

Based on Finding VII, the Court is of the opinion that the superiority of the
Japanese Fleet over the U. 8. Pacific Fleet during the year 1941, and the
ability of Japan to eobtain military and naval information gave her an initial
advantage not attainable by the United States up to 7 December 1941,

Based on Finding VIII, the Court is of the opinion that the defense of the
Pearl Harbor Naval Base was the direct responsibility of the Army, that the
Navy was to assist only with the means provided the 14th Naval District, and
that the defense of the base was a joint operation only to this extent. The
Court is further of the opinion that the defense should have been such as to
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function effectively independently of the Fleet, in view of the fundawental re-
quirement that the strategic freedom of action of the Fleet must be assured
demands that the defense of a permanent naval base he so effectively provided
for and conducted as to remove any auxiety of the Fleet in regard to the
security of the base, or for that of the vessels within its limits.

[6] Based on Findings IV, VIII and IX, the Court is of the opinion that
the duties of Rear Admiral Claude C. Bloch, U. 8. N, in connection with the
defense of Peart ITarhor, were performed satisfactorily.

Based on Finding XI, the Court is of the opinion that the detailed Naval
Participation Air Defense plans drawn np and jointly agreed upon were complete
and sound in concept, but that they contained a basic defect in that naval par-
ticipation depended entirely upen the availability of aireraft belonging to and
being employed by the Fieet, and that on the morning of 7 December these plans
were ineffective because they necessarily were dritwn on the premise that there
would be advance knowledge that an attack wus to be expected within narrow
Hinits of time, which was not the case on that morning.

The Court is further of the opinion that it swwas not possible for the Commander-
in-Chiet, Pacific Fleet, to make his Fleet planes permanently available to the
Naval Base Defense Officer in view of the need for theivr employment with the
Fleet.

Based on Finding X, the Court is of the opinion that Admiral Kimmel's aection,
taken immediately after assoming commarud, in placing in effect comprehensive
instruetions for the security of the Pacifie leet at sea and in the operating areas,
is indicative of his appreciation of his responsibility for the security of the Fleet,
andl that the steps taken were adequate and effective.

jased on Finding XTI, the Court is of the opinion that, by virtue of the informa-
tion that Admiral Kimmel had at hand shich indicated neither the possibility
nor the imminence of anp air attack on Pearl Harbor, and bearing in mind that he
had no knowledge of the State Department’s note of 26 November, the Navy's
condition of readiness on the morning of T December, 1941, which resulted in the
hostile planes being bronght under heavy fire of the ships’ anti-aireraft batteries
as they came within range, was that hest suited te the circmnstances, although
had all apti-nireraft batteries been manned in advance, the total damage in-
flicted on ships would have been lessened to a minor extent and to a degree
which is problematical; and that, had the Fleet patrol planes, slow and unsuited
for aerial combat, been in the air, they might have escaped and the number of
these planes lost might thus have been rednced.

The Conrt is of the opinion, however, that only had it been known in advanee
that the attack wounld take place on T December, could there now he any basis
for a eoneclusion as to the steps that might have been taken to lessen its ill effects,
and that, heyond the fact that conditions were unsettled and that, therefore,
anything might happen, there was nothing to distinguish one day from another
in so far as expectation of attack is concerned.

[71 It has heen suggested that each day all naval planes should have been
in the air, all naval personnel at their stations, and ail anti-aireraft guns manned.
The Court is of the opinifon that the wisdom of this is questionable when it is
considered that it could not be known elien an attack would take place and that,
to make sure, it wonld have been necessary to impose a state of tension on the
personnel day after day, and to disrupt the maintenance and operating schedules
of ships and planes beginning at an indetinite date between 16 Oectober and
T December.

Based on Finding XTI, the Court is of the opinion that, as no information of
any sort was at any time either forwarded or received from any source which
would indicate that Japanese carriers or other Japanese ships were on their way
to Hawaii doring November or December, 1041, the attack of 7 December af
Pearl Harbor, delivered under the eircumstances then existing, was unpreventahte
and that when it would take place was unpredictable.

Eased on Finding XIII, the Court is of the opinion that the actien of the
Commander-in-Chief, Pacific Fleet, in ordering that no routine, long-range recon-
naissance be nndertaken was sound and that the nuse of Fleet patrol planes for
daily, long-range, all-around recounaissance was not possible with the inndequite
number of Fleet planes available, and was not justified in the absence of any
information indicating that an attack was to be expected in the Hawailan area
within narrvow limits of time,

Based on Finding NIV, the Conrt is of the opinion thaf the shore-hased air
warning hystem, an Army service nunder the direct control of the Army, wias
ineffective on the morning of 7T December, in that there was no provision for
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keepiug track of planes in the air near and over Oahu, and for distinguishing
hetween those friendly and those hostile and that, because of this deficiency,
a flight of planes which appeared on the radar screen shortly after 0700 was
confused with a flight of Army B-17s en voute from California, and that the
information obtained by Army radar was valueless as a warning, hecause the
planes conld not he identified as hostile until the Japanese markings on their
wings came into view.

Based on Finding XV, the Court is of the opinion that by far the greatest
portion of the dmuage inflicted by the Japanese on ships in Pearl Harbor was
due to specially designed Japuanese torpedoes, the development and existence of
which was unknown to the United States.

Based on Finding XVI, and partieularly in view of the Chief of Naval Opera-
tions' approval of the precautions taken and the deployments made by Admiral
Kimmel in aceordance with the directive contained in the dispateh of 16 Oc-
tober 1941, the Court is of the opinion that Admiral Kimmel's decision, made
(8] after receiving the dispateh of 24 November, to continue the prepara-
tions of the Pacific Fleet for war, was sound in the light of the information
then available to him.

Based on Finding XVII, the Court is of the opinion that, although the attack
of T December came as a surprise, there were good grounds for the belief on
the part of high officials in the State, War, and Navy Departmments, and on the
part of the Army and Navy in the Hawaiian area, that hostilities wounld begin
in the Far East rather than elsewlere, and that the same considerations which
influenced the sentiment of the authorities in Washington in this respect, sup-
port the interpretation swhich Admiral Kimmel placed upon the “war warning
message” of 2T November, to the effect that this message directed attention away
from Pearl Harbor rather than toward it.

Dased on Findings XVIIT and XIX, the Court is of the opinion that Admiral
Harold R. Stark, U. S. N., Chief of Naval Operations and responsible for the
operations of the Fleet, failed to display the sound judgment expected of him
in that he did not transmit to Admiral Kimmel, Commander-in-Chief, Pacific
Fleet, during the very critical period 26 November to 7 December, important
information which he had regarding the Japanese situation and. especially,
in that, on the morning of T December, 1941, he did not transmit immediately
the faet that a message had been received which appeared to indicate that a
break in diplomatic relations was imminent, and that an attack in the Hawaiian
area might be expected soon.

The Court is further of the opinion that, had this important information heen
conveyed to Admiral Kimmel, it is a matter of conjecture as to what action
lie would have taken.

Finally, based upon the facts established, the Court is of the opinion that no
offenses have been committed nor serious blame incurred on the part of any
person or persons in the naval service.

(9] Fleet Admiral Ernest J. King, USN, commented in detail
on the findings of the Court of Inquiry in the Second Endorsement
thereto. He concluded, in part:

Despite the evidence that no naval officer was at fault to a degree likely to
result in conviction if brought to trial, nevertheless the Navy ecannot evade a
share of responsibility for the Pearl Harbor incident. That disaster eannot he
regarded as an “act of God,” beyvond human power to prevent or mitigate.
It is true that the country as a whole is basically responsible in that the people
were unwilling to support an adequate army and navy until it was too late
to repair the consequences of past neglect in time to deal effectively with the
attack that ushered in the war. It is true that the Army was responsible for
local defense at Pearl Harbor. Nevertheless, some things could have been done
by the Navy to lessen the suceess of the initial Japanese blow. Admiral Stark
and Admiral Kimniel were the responsible officers, aund it is pertinent to ex-
amine the possible courses of action they might have taken,

(a) Admiral Stark was, of course, aware that the United Xtates was pri-
marily concerned with its own possession, and the most important United States
possessions in the Pacific were the Philippine Islands and the Hawaiian Islands.
His attention should have been centered on those two places, as the Pacific
situation became more and more acute. He had been informmed by Admiral
Kimmel, in his letter of 26 May 1941, that Admiral Kimmel felt the need for
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early and aceurate information as to the general situation, and that he needed
to be informed of all important developments as they occurred by the quickest
and most secure means available. This letter should have emphasized the obvious
fact that Admiral Kimmel was in a difficult position, that he had fto use his
initiative to keep his Fleet dispositions in step with changes in the situation,
and that in order to do so he had to have an accurate running picture of the
rapidly moving course of diplomatic events. In my opinion, Admiral Stark
failed to give Admiral Kimmel an adeguate summary of the information avail-
able in Washington, particularly in the following respects:

(1) Admiral Kimmel was not informed of the State Department’s note of 26
November to the Japanese. This note was a definite step towards breaking
relations.

(2) Admiral Kimmel was not informed of the substance of certain inter-
cepted Japanese messages inquiring as to dispositions of ships inside Pearl Har-
bor, which indicated a Japanese interest in Pearl Harbor as a possible target.

(3) Admiral Kimmel was not informed of the implementation of the “Winds
message”. Admiral Stark says he never got this information himself, but it is
clear that it [10] did reaech Adwmiral Stark’s oflice, This, together with
the handling of other matters of information, indicates lack of efliciency in
Admiral Stark’s organization.

(4) Admiral Stark failed to appreciate the significance of the “1:00 p. m.
message’” received on the morning of 7 December, although the implications were
appreciated by at least one of his subordinates. It appears that had this message
been handled by the quickest available means, and with due appreciation of its
significance, it might have reached Admiral Kimmel in time to enable him to
malke some last minute preparations that would have enhanced the ability of the
ships in Pearl Harbor to meet the Japanese air attack.

(5) There is a certain sameness of tenor of such information as Admiral Stark
sent to Admiral Kimmel. They do not convey in themselves the sense of
intensification of the eritical relations between the United States and Japan,

(b) In my opinion Admiral Kiminel, despite the failure of Admiral Stark to
keep him fully informed, nevertheless did have some indications of increasing
tenseness as to relations with Japan. In particular, he had the “war warning"”
message on 27 November, the “hostile action possible at any moment” message
on 28 Naovember, the 8 December message that Japanese had ordered destruction
of codes, and the messages of 4 and 6 December concerning destruction of United
States secret and confidential matter at outlying Pacifiec Islands. These messages
must be considered in conneetion with other facets of the situation, and Admiral
Kimmel's statement on this phase of the matter must be given due consideration.
After weighing these considerations, I am of the opinion that he could and
should have judged more accurately the gravity of the danger to which the
Hawaiian Islands were exposed. The following courses of action were open
fo him :

(1) He could have used patrol craft which were available to him to condnct
long range reconnaissance in the more dangerous sectors. Whether or not this
would have resulted in detecting the approach of the Japanese carriers is
problematical. However, it would have made the Japanese task more difficult.

(2) He could have rotated the “in port” periods of his vessels in a less
rountine manner, so as to have made it impossible for the Japancse to have
predicted when there would be any vessels in port, This would have made the
Japanese task less easy.

[11] (3) If he had appreciated the gravity of the danger even a few
hours before the Japanese attack, it is logieal to suppose that naval planes would
have been in the air during the early morning period, that ships' batteries would
have been fully manned, and that damage control organizations would have been
fully operational.

The derelictions on the part of Admiral Stark and Admiral Kimmel swere
faults of omission rather than faults of commission. In the case in question,
they indicate lack of superior judgment necessary for exerecising command com-
mensurate with their rank and their assigned duties, rather than culpable
inefficiency.

D. Army Pearl Harbor Report.

Pursuant to Public Law No. 339, 78th Congress, an Army Board
conducted mvestigation into the Japanese attack, and on 20 October
1944 submitted its report to the Secretary of War. The Army report
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discussed, among other things, various matters involving the Navy,
such as the Navy’s command relationships at Hawaii, the “tapping”
of the telephone wires of the Japanese Consul in Hawaii by Naval
Intelligence, inforniation secured by Navy radio intelligence as to the
loeation and movements of Japanese naval forces, the Navy's responsi-
bility for long range reconnaissance (“The heart of the defense of
Oahu”), and the entrance of Japanese submarines into Pearl Harbor
on and atlegedly prior to 7 December 1941. The Army report com-
mented ecritically as to (a) the Navy's failure to conduct long range
reconnaissance, (b) the Navy’s failure to advise General Short of
the presence of a Japanese task force in the Jaluits in late November
1941, (¢) the Navy’s failure to advise General Short of certain mes-
sages, relating to the destruction of codes by the Japanese during the
first week of December 1941, and (d) the Navy's failure to advise
General Shott of the sinking of a Japanese submarine on the morning
of 7 December 1941, prior to the air attack. The Army report included
a finding that relations between General Short and Admiral Kimmel
were not satisfactory, as a practical matter, althongh cordial. Con-
cerning intelligence generally, the Army report stated, at page 232:

The Japanese armed forces knew everything about us. We knew little ahout
them. This was a problem of all our intelligence agencies. This should not
come to pass again. Our intelligence service must be brought in line with the
part which we are to play in world affairs.

We mnst know as much about other major world powers as they know about
us. This is an absolute condition precedent to intelligent planning by those
charged with formulating our international policies and providing for our secur-
ity. Our intelligence service should be second to none in its efficiency. It
must not be inferred that this is the exclusive funetion of the M. L. D. It iy
a national problem.

[12] In the past our intelligence service has suffered from lack of funds,
lack of interest, and legal obstacles and regulations. Steps should be taken to
correct all of these.

After consideration of the Army Pearl Harbor Report, Fleet Ad-
miral King, in a letter to the Secretary of the Navy, dated 3 December
1944, stated in part:

The Army Board find it difficult to understand the relations between the Comni-
mander in Chief of the Pacific Fleet, the Commander Hawaiian Sea Frontier, the
Commandant, FOURTEENTH Naval District, and the loeal Air Commander
(Rear Admiral Bellinger). The Board makes the comment “The Army had a
difficult time in determining under which of the three shells (Kimmel, Bloch, or
Bellinger) rested the pea of performance and responsibility.” My comment as to
this is that there are some unavoidable complexities in the Command relation-
ships between a fleet, a frontier, and a fleet base in the frontier. However, in this
case, there was no possibility of misunderstanding the fact that all naval forces
were under Admiral Kimmel. He and General Short should have been able fo
work out better arrangements for cooperation than they did. The reasons why
they did not have been discussed in paragraphs 4 and 5 above.

The Army Board stresses the point that General Short was dependent upon the
U. 8. Navy for information as to what the Japanese Navy was doing and for
estimates of what the Japanese Navy could do, This view is obviously sound.
It was a naval responsibility to keep not enly General Short but also the War
Department fully acquainted with the estimate of the Japanese naval situation.
There was some failure to pass on to General Short and the War Department in-
formation which should have been given to them by the Navy, but the basic trouble
was that the Navy failed to appreciate what the Japanese Navy could, and did, do,

) The_ Army Board reports on three matters which should be further
investigated by the Navy, These are;

a. It was stated that the War Depariment recelved information from some
naval agency that pn or about 25 November radio intercepts had located a Jap-
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anese task force, including carriers, in the Marshall Islands, Abount 1 December
it was reported that this force assumed radio silence, It is noted in the Record
that this information never got to Geuneral Short. There is some reference to
this incident in the Record of the Naval Court, but it was not followed up, pre-
sumably bheeanse the officer who was Director of Naval Iutelligence at the time
was not called as a witness. The matter is probably not of importance, since
even if there actually was a Jupanese force in the Marshalls it apparently had
nothing to do with the attack on Pearl Harbor. However, for the sake of com-
pleting the naval Record, this matter should be pursued further.

[13] b. The Army Board is of the opinion that Japanese midget sub-
marines operated freely inside of Pearl Harbor for several days prior to the
7th of December, for the purpese of obtaining information. This opinion is
based on the testitnony of an officiat of the Federal Dureaun of Investigation, who
apparently reached his conclusions by a study of certain captured Japanese charts
which were made available to F. B. 1. by Naval Intelligence. So far as is known,
there is no real ground for the supposition that Japanese submarines were
able to roam arvound Pearl Harbor at will, but since the allegation is made
in the Army Record, it is advisable to clear up any doubt that may exist by
further naval investigation.

c. There is reference to the faet that information was eobtained from naval
and F. B. 1. espionage over telephones and cables in Hawaii, but no record of
what this information was, This should be cleared up.

The Army Board finds that the Chief of Staff of the Army was at fault in that
he faited to keep General Short informed of the international situation and that
he delayed in getting critical information to General Short. In these respects,
the Army Report parallels the Naval Court findings as to the Chief of Naval
Operations. The Army Board further finds that General Marshall was at faunlt
and that he failed to keep his Deputies informed of what was going on, so that
they could aet intelligently in his absenee; in that he did not take action on
General Short's report on 28 November that he had established “Alert No. 173
and in that he lacked knowledge of conditions of reacdiness in the Hawaiian
Command.

The Army Board finds that General Short was at fanlf in that he failed to
place his command in an adeqnate state of readiness (the information which
he had was incomplete and confusing, but it was sufficient to warn him of tense
relations), in that he failed to reach an agreement with local naval officials
for implementing joint Army and Navy plans and agreements for joint action,
in that he failed to inform himself of the effectiveness of the long-distance
reconnaissance being conducted by the Navy, amd in that he failed to replace in-
efficient staff officers.

1 find nothing in the Record of the Army Board to canse me to modify the
opinions expressed in my endorsement on the Record of the Naval Court of
Inquiry. except in relation to the eooperation between Admiral Kimmel and
General Short. In view of the extensive and explicit discossion of this phase of
the matter by the Army Board, T am ne longer of the opinion that cooperation
hetween these two officers was adequiate in all respects. The cordial, but in-
formal, contact which they maintained evidently was not sofficient to coordinate
the means at rheir disposal to the best advantage. However, as already pointed
ouf, this fault was part and parcel of the [1}] general blindness to Jap-
anese potentialities in the Central Pacific which was the hasic cause of the
I'ear] Harbor disaster. The many details discussed by the Army Board and the
Naval Court are useful in showing how this blindness redonnded to our disad-
vantage, but they do not. in my opinion, prove anything more than that the
two naval officers in the high commands coneerned—Admiral Stark and Admiral
Kinunel—failed to display the supericr judgment they shonld have brought to
bear in analysing and making use of the information that becanie available
to them,

I recommend that the Secretary of the Navy cause further investigation to
be made in the matter referred to in paragraph 8 above:; namely, the alleged
radio contact with a Japanese fores in the Marshall Islands, the alleged
presence of Japanese midget submarvines inside Pearl Harbor prior to 7 De-
cember, and the substance of information obtained by naval and F. B. 1. tele-
phone and cable intercepts. I do not think it necessary to reconvene the Court
for this purpose. The proposed investigation could be made by another Conrt,
or by an investigating officer, for attachment to the Record of the original Court
of Inguiry.
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K. Findings of the Secretary of the Navy and Further Lnvestigation.

Upon review of the previous investigations, the Secretary of the
Navy found that there were errors of judgment on the part of certain
officers in the Naval Service, both at Pearl Harbor and at Wash-
mgton.  The Secrvetary further found that the previous investiga-
tions had'not exhausted all possible evidence and that the investiga-
tion directed hy Public Law 339 of the 78th Congress should be con-
tinued until the testimony of evely witness in possession of material
facts should be obtained and all possible evidence exhausted. The
Secretary stated that his decision would be reviewed when the in-
\'estagntion was finally completed, in the light of the evidence then at
hand.

The precept of the Secretary of the Navy, dated 2 May 1945, and
amended 6 July 1945, direeted that Admiral H. Kent Hewitt. USN.
mike a study of the previous investigations, that such further in-
vestigation as might appear to be necessary be then conducted, and
that upon completion a report be submitted to the Secretary of the
Navy setting forth the findings and conelusions reached.

Review of the previous investigations disclosed that various mat-
ters of importance, principally cencerning intelligence, had not been
investigated thoroughly. The subjects proposed for further investi-
gation were approved by the Secretary of the Navy on 21 May 1945.

Counsel in this investigation was John F. Sonnett, Special Assist-
ant to the Secretary of the Navy. Also assisting were Lieutenant
Commander Benjamin H. Griswold, III, USNR. and Lieutenant
John Ford Baecher, USNR. The reporters were Ship’s Clerk Ben
Harold, USNR, and Chief Yeoman Raymond E. Reese, USNR.
These men took a special oath to maintain the security of the infor-
mation developed during the investigation.

[25] . Witnesses in this Investigation.

At Pearl Harbor in 1941 :

Captain E)‘dwin T. Layton, USN, Intelligence Officer, Pacific Fleet.
(R. 182

Captain Joseph J. Rochefort. USN, in charge of Communications
Intelligence Unit, Fourteenth Naval District. (R. 43; 541)

Vic% Adrimal William W. Smith, USN, Chief of Staff, CincPac.

. 335
Vig% Adm%ral Charles H. McMorris, USN, War Plans Officer, CinePac.,
. 293

ReEu- Adn)ﬁral Walter 8. DeLany, USN, Assistant Chief of Staff,
Operations. CinePac. (R.163)

Vice Admiral Patvick N. L. Bellinger. USN, Commander, Hawaiian
Based Patrol Wings. Commander. Patrol Wing Two, Commander,
%‘{l{sk !":‘m'ce Nine, Commander, Fleet Air Detachment, Pearl Harbor,

. 471

Captain Jz)hn B. Earle, USN, Chief of Staft, 14th N. D. (R. 451)

Mr. George Street, Manager, RCA. Honolulu. (R. 411)

Rear Admiral Irving H. Mayfield, USN, District Intelligence Officer,
I4th N. D. (R. 554)

Captain Thomas H. Dyer, USN, Cryptanalytical and Decrypting,
Fleet Radio Unit, Pacific Fleet. (R. 418)

Captain Joseph Finnegan, USN, Translator, Fleet Radio Unit, Pacific
Fleet. (R. 424)
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Commander Wesley A. Wright, USN, Assistant Communications
Officer, CincPac, on temporary duty with Com 14 Communications
Intelligence Unmit. (R. 442)

Lieutenant (jg) Farnsley C. Woodward, USN, Cryptanalyst, Com-
munications Intelligence Unit, 14th N. D. (R. 541)

[26] Colonel Alva B. Yaswell, USMC, Translator, Cofamunica-
tions Intelligence Unit, 14th N, D. (R. 541)

Captain William W. Outerbridge, USN, Commanding Oflicer, USS
WARD. (R.87)

Lieutenant Commander Monroe H. Hubbell, USNR, Commanding
Ofticer, USS CONDOR. (R. 428)

Richard W. Humphrey, RM3c, USNR, Bishop’s Point Radio Station.

Lieutenant Oliver H. Underkofler, USNR, Communications Office,
14th N. D. (R. 465)

Lieutenant Donald Woodrum, USNR, District Intelligence Office, 14th
N.D. (R.376)

Commander Harvold S. Burr, USNR, Com 14 Liaison Officer at Gen-
eral Short’s Headquarters. (R. 376)

Brigadier General Carroll A. Powell, USA, Signal Officer, Hawaiian
Department. (R. 387)

At the Philippines in 1941:

Captain Redfield Mason, USN, Fleet Intelligence Officer, Astatie Fleet.
R. 68

Commnzldor Rudolph J. Fabian, USN, Officer in Charge, Radio In-
telligence Unit, Corregidor. (R. 68)
At Washington, D. C. in 19}1:

Vice Admiral Theodore S. Wilkinson, USN, Director of the Office of
Naval Intelligence. (R. 389)

Captain Arthur H. McCollum, USN. In charge of Far Eastern Sec-
tion, Foreign Branch, ONL. (R. 10)

Captain Laurance F. Safford, USN, Communications Security Sec-
tion. (R. 97; R. 529)

Captain Alwin D. Kramer, USN, ONT and Communications Security
Section. (R. 128)

Murs, Dorothy Edgers, Research Analyst, ONT. (R. 511)

[27] Lientenant Commander Francis M. Brotherhood, USNR,
Communications Security Section. (R. 143)

Lieutenant Frederick L. Ifreeman, USN, Communications Security
Section. (R. 149)

Lieutenant Commander Allan A. Murray, USNR, Communications
Security Section. (R. 433).

Lieutenant Commander George W. Linn, USNR, Communications Se-
curity Section. (R. 140)

Lieutenant Commander Alired V. Pering, USNR, Communications
Security Section. (R. 148)
Other witnesses:

Captain William H. Smedberg, I11, TSN, Now Assistant Combat In-
telligence Officer, Staff, Cominch. (R.4)

Lieutenant Commander Leo Reierstad, USNR, Now in charge of a
translating unit of Op-16-FE. (R. 158)

Lieutenant (jg) Joseph M. Conant, USNR, Translation sub-section
head in Op-16-FE. (R. 158)
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Commander Walter Karig, USNR, Lieutenant Welbourn Kelley,
USNR, Authors of “Battle Report.” (R. 80)
Lieutenant Commander Gilbert 15, Boone, USNR Head of Op-20-GL.

R. 554 R. 607)
[18] G. Ezhibits Received in this Investigation.
Received in this investigation were the following exhibits:
S, Description Raoerd
1 | Precept convening investigation. ... ___._____________ oy e S e S o L
1A | Mlodification of precegt. directing report of findings and conclusions. - 575
2 | Narrative statement by counsel of previous Navy investigations
3 [ CinCPOA Weekly Confidential Intelligence Bulletin of 8 December 1944, relating to the
A e e R Ty 5
4 | A translation of a captured Japanese submarine chart, showing courses and location of
U. 8. ships in Pearl Harbor. _. ... . . i eeceeoon 8
5 | CinCPOA Confidential Intelligence Bulletin of 20 October 1944, containing description
of Japanese midget submarines _____________________ . ... . 9
6 | ONI document “ONI 220-), Japanese Submarines' _ - 8
7 | Berthing plan at Pearl Harbar, 7 Ieceniber 1941 (Ex. 60 of Naval Court). @
8 | Photostatic copics of Com14 and Coml6 dispatch estimates of Japanesc fle
movements, 26 November 19041_ .. _______________ 12
9 | ONI Bulletin of 1 December 1941. Japanese fleet lo 17
10 | McCollum memorandumn estimating situation as of 1 December 19 21
AT T e e e 22
12 | FCC radio intercepts regarding “winds'' code (Ex. 65 of Naval Court)_. 31
41’:3 Collection of intercepted Japanese dispatehes. oo oo o i laeeiceiieees 36
148
14B || Photostatic copies of captured Japanese submarine chart, showing courses and location of
1148 U8 shipsin Fearl Harhor - oo oo i CeE iR e e 60
4
15 | Colleetion of intercepted Japanese dispatcehes (Ex. 63 of Naval Court) ... . 66
16 | Copies of dispatches sent from RI nnit, Corregidor, regarding Japanese fleet movements. . 75
17 | Photostat of captured Japanese submarine chart used for Plate V of “Battle Report”____. 83
[19]
18 | Log of conversation between WARD and CONDOR on the morning of 7 December 1941 91
19 | Tentative copies of Communication Intelligence Summaries, for 1 November,1941 to 6
December 1941, at Pearl Harbor 103
20 | Message from Tokyo establishing the hidden word cade 135
21 P’;\“fﬁc Fleet Intelligence Bulletin of 27 November 1941 concerning composition of Japanese -
T e e e e e e 85
22 | Daily Communication Intelligence Summaries, 14 October 1641 to 5 December 1941, given
to Fleet Intelligence Officer (Captain Layton) for delivery te Admiral Kimmel ... 194
23 | Memorandum of 1 December 1941 from Fleet Intelligence Officer to Admiral Kimmel, esti-
miting Japanese shinlotalionss oo et S e e e 211
24 | November 24th dispatch from CNO to CinePac (Ex. 15 of Naval Court)_. 238
25 | **War Warning"” (Ex. 17 of Naval Court) ___ . .. < 247
926 | Layton Intelligence reports from 6 Oclober 1941 to 2 December 1941 _ ... ... 259
27 | Paraphrased copies of dispatches from various intelligence agencies delivered ta CinePac. . 264
28 | Memorandum from Fleet Intellicence Officer to Admiral Kimmel regarding proposed
Army acrial reconnaissance of Mandated Islands. __ 205
29 | Intercepted Japanese consular dispatcbes delivered
PocerberI0th . . .. 272
30 | "Two Japancse panorama views of Pearl Harbo
from submarine (returned to Captain Layton) 279
30A | Photostat of Japanese log on reverse of exhibit 30 2
30B | Translations of exhibits 30 and 30A 250
81 | Panorama sketeliof Pearl Harbor from position five
from submarine (returned to Captain Layton) . 280
31A | Photostats of exhibit 31 = 250
32 | Original Japanese chart of Pearl Harbor recovered from Japanese midget submarine (re-
T G ek ML et ) PO SR e e B 231
[20]
SEI | PR a5 ] i v S S L L B R . SOESE R 251
33 | Original Japanese chart of Pearl Harbor recovered [rom Japanese submarine, showing de-
fensive installations (returned to Captain Layton) 200
33A | Photostatic copy of exhibit 33 = 291
34 | Staff Instruetions, CincPac, 1941 ... ______ 293
35 | U. 8. Pacific Fleet Operating Plan, Rainbow Five (Na
R g s 295
36 | Letter of 9 September 1941 from CNO to CinePac, approving Pacific Fleet Operating
Plan Rinabow Five. ... cccoaeo.-- L e B e T e 297
36A | Letter of 25 July 1941 from CincPac to CNO, submitting Pacific Fleet Operating Plan
L R e D e e e e S e s U e e e e A 297
37 | Photostatie copy of schecules setting forth utilization of patrel planes of Pacific Fleet [rom
17 Navember to 31 December and approved 22 November 1941 ... .. .. ... 308
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Num-| S Record
e Deseription age
38 | Transeripts of intercepted telephone ealls of Japanese Consul and Viee Consul in Honolulu
from October to 2 December 1941°(Consul's marked 38A; Vice Corsul’s marked 38B) . 379
39 | Copy of intercepted “Mori conversation' ... ... e e 382
40 | ONL Summaries of messages sent by Japanese Consul in Honolulu from 1 December {
6 December 1941 .o oo iacmmeceemooiaoea- o eaase, s 385
41 | File of work sheets on Jap diplomatic traffic (incorporated in other exhibit). = 420
42 | Paper showing part of decryption process of Japanese “PA™ code .. = 421
43 | Duty Officer, Navy Yard, Pearl Harbor, information sheets ... = 430
44 | Extract from signal log of gate vessel of 7 December 1041 ____________.________ = 430
45 | Extract from quartermaster’s log of gate vessel of 7 December 1941 ______..____. s 431
46 | Extract from log of Signal Tower, Navy Yard, Pearl Harhar, of 7 December 1941 = 432
47 | Collection of documents, containing Annex VII, Section VI, Joint Agreements, to Joini
Constal Frantier Defonss PIam o oo o one o eeas 457
48 | Collection of dispatches regarding submarine eontacts at Pearl Harbor in November and
December, 1941 . 461
49 | Ballinger “Estimate of Situation’ oo ceee et e - 474
[21]
50 | Letter from ComPask For 9, to CinC, 20 Decerber 1941, on reconnaissance prior to attack. . 481
50A | Dispatehes eited inexhibit 80 e L 482
51 | ComTaskFor 9 letter of 22 October 1941, file 0026 .. - oo, = 483
52 | ComTaskFor 9 letter of 16 January 1941 _._______ B, - 484
53 | ComPatWing 2 letter to CNO, of 11 December 1940___ E 488
54 | Watch and duty schedules of Patrol Wings One and Two prior toattaek. ... 496
55 | RCA Communications, Ine., statement, listing certain Japanese cable messages from
Honolulu in November and December, 1841 __ ..o o oommocimooae e 542
56 | Coded messages from Japanese Consul General at Honolulu, via RCA, among those listed
in exhibit 55, recelved by Navy 6§ December 1941 - - oo oo oo e 544
56A | Pages 7 to 12 of exhibit 56, containing messages not deerypted until after the attack = 600
57 | Coded messages from Japanese Consul General at Honolulu, via RCA, among those listed
in exhibit 55, received by Navy after theattack______________________... e 550
57A | Coded messages from Japanese Consul General at Honolulu, via ROA, received by Navy
on night of 7 December and subsequently translated.. . ... o 601
58 | Collection of dispatehes from Naval Communication files relating to Japanesc flect move-
ments and locations during the period 27 November to 7 December 1941 ... _______ 585
59 | Collection of Japanese plain language news broadeasts - ... 565
60 | Collection of memoranda relating to messages received at Naval Communi
rions- Japanese eode SYSIemB. . L e e e s hea 556
61 | Memorandum of Naval Communications, surveying work sheets processed by Navy of
Tnpanpseparple systemL . e el Dbt a57
62 | Report from DIO, [ith N. D.,'to Director of Naval Intelligence, of 19 April 1942, relating
to coded dispateh traffic of Japanese Consul General, Honloulu .______________________ 569
63 | Certified collection of documentsirelating to anti-torpedo baffles for protection against
torpedo plane attacks._________._ s T R S 602
64 | Copy of Itr. from Secretary of War to Secretary of Navy, dated!7 February 1941, relating
= to air defense at Pear] BarbOr. oo o awm i 603
65 | CincPac secret letter of 7 August 1941 relating to the organization of the Orange fleet. . . GOL
66 | Map showing the location of ships present at Pear] Harbor on 7 December 1941 .. _ . 603
67 | Telephone log of radio unit at Pearl Harbor, showing calls made and received on 7 De-
cember 1941 as t0 Jap fleet 0CAIONS - vt —oum oo somm oo e oo o 603
68 | Photostatic copies of memoranda relating to guestioning of captain of Japanese captured -
SBMAINe . . e s e e e e e 604
69 | Pacific Fleet Weekly Intelligence Bulletin for 11 June 1845, containing deseription of
midget submarines and methad of transport to Pearl Harbor . _._.___..__ __________ 604
70 | Selected collection of Pearl Harbor dispatches, miscellaneous subjects, taken rom CincPae
Bendunartere U0 00 e e e e e 604
71 | Collection of dispatches relating to proposed Army reconnaissance in November of 1941 _ 604
72 | Collection of dispatches of December 7 and 8, 1941, from CinPeac. IR 605
73 | CincPac secret letter of 12 December 1941 reporting damage to s| arl Harbor as
esult of attack and other defails. oo oo 605
74 | Photostatic copy of War Diary of Com 14 from 7 December 1941 to 1 January 1942 605
75 | War Diary of USS WARD; War Diary of 0-in-C, Net and Boom Defenses, 14th N. D
War Diary of USS CONDOR; excerpts from diary of Q-in-C, Net and Boom Defenses,
MEH N D WARD, and GONDOR: oLt = Lo 605
76 | Photostatic copy of 1st and 2nd endorsements on Com 14 letter of 30 December 1941 re-
lating 1o early morning submarine contact on 7 December 1941 ... ________ 606
77 | Collection of correspondence relating to eombined operating center for Army and Navy..- 606
78 | Typewritten translation and copy of intercepted Japanese communication contained in
exhibit 20, and notes relating thereto. . _____________.__........ e o B 611
79 | Photostatic copy of page 44 of volume containing translations of files of operations orders,
ugdeésﬁllnemos. and serials dealing with Japanese Navy plans, recovered from JTap CA cia
80 | Joint Coastal Frontier Defense Plan, Hawaiian Theatre__.. 613
&1 | Collection of phiotostatie copies of ONI memoranda dealing with organization and loca-
tions of Jap fleet as estimated during November and up to December 1, 1941, ______ 613
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A, U. 8. Pacific Fleet Operating Plan Rainbow Five.

On 26 July 1941, U. S. Pacific Fleet Operating Plan Rammbow Five
( Exhibit 35) was distributed to the Pacific Fleet by Admiral Kimmnel.
This plan was designed to implement the Navy basic war plan (Rain-
bow Five) in so far as the tasks assigned the U. S. Pacific Fleet were
concerned. It was approved 9 September 1941 by the Chief of Naval
Operations (Exhibit 36). The plan provided in part:

INTRODUCTION
CHAPTER TV. MOBILIZATION

0401. At the date of issue of this plan, the U, 8. Pacific Ileet has virtually
mobilized, and is operating, with intensive security measurves, from the Pearl
Harbor base. It is expected, therefore, that the major portion of the Fleet
can be ready for active service within four days of an order for general mobiliza-
tion. To provide for the contingency of M-day being set prior to the date on
which hostilities are to open, the day of execution of this Plan is designated
throughout the Plan as W-day. The day that hostilities open with Japan will
be designated J-day. This may or may not coincide with W-day.

CHAPTER IL ASSUMPTIONS

1211. The general assumptions on which this Plan is based are:

a. That the Associated Powers, comprising initially the United States, the
British Commonwealth (less Eire), the Netherlaunds East Indies, the Govern-
ments in Exile, China, and the ‘Free Freucli’ are at war against the AXis powers,
comprising either:

1. Germany, Italy, Roumania, Hungary, Bulgaria, or

2. Germany, Italy, Japan, Roumania, Huangary, Bulgaria, and Thailand,

NOTE: As of 22 June war exists hetween the European Axis and Russia, and
the latter may be tentatively considered as an ally against that part of the Axis
but not necessarily against Japan. . . .

[24] CHAPTER 1. INFORMATION

1314. The concept of the war in the Pacifie, as set fortl in ABC-1 is as follows:

Even if Japan were not initially to enter the war on the side of the Axis
Powers, it would still be necessary for the Associated Powers to deploy their
forees in a manner to guurd against Japanese intervention. If Japan does enter
the war, the military strategy in the Far East will be defensive. The United
States dees not intend to add to its present military strength in the Far East
but will employ thie United States Pacific Fleet offensively in the manner best
calculated to weaken Japanese economic power, and to support the defense
of the Malay barrier by diverting Japanese strength away from Malaysia. The
United States intends to so augmeunt its forces in the Atlantie and Mediterranean
areas that the British Commonwealth will be in a position to release he necesasry
forees for the Far East.

CHAPTER IIL. INFORMATION

Section 3. Bstimate of Enemy Action

1331. It is believed that German and Italian action in the Pacific will be
limited to commerce raiding with converted types, and possibly with an oceasional
pocket battleship or heavy cruiser.

1332, It is conceived that Japanese action will be as follows:

a. The principal offensive effort to be toward the eventual capture of Malaysia
(including the Philippines) and Hong Kong.

b. The secondary offensive efforts to be toward the interruption of American
and Allied sea communications in the Pacifie, the Far East and the Indian Ocean,
and to accomplish the capture of Guam and other outlying positions.
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¢. The offensive against China to be maintained on a reduced scale only.

d. The principal defensive efforts to be:

1. Destruction of threatening naval forees.

2, Iolding positions for their own use and denying positions in the Central
and Western Pacific and the Far East which may be suitable for advanced bases.

[25] 3. Protecting national and captured territory and approaches.

1393, To accomplish the foregoing it is believed that Japan’s initial action
will he toward:

a. Capture of Guan.

b, Bstablishment of control over the South China Sea, Philippine waters,
and (e waters hetween Borneo and New Guinea, by the establishment of ad-
vanced bases, and by the destruction of United States and allied air and naval
forces in these regions, followed by the capture of Luzon.

c. Capture of Nortliern Borneo.

d. Denial to the United States of the use of the Marshall-Caroline-Marianas
area by the use of fixed defenses. and, by the operation of alr forces and light
naval forees to reduce the strength of the United States Fleet,

e. Reenforcement of the Mandate Islands by troops, aireraft and light naval
forces,

f, Possibly raids or stronger attacks on Wake, Midway aud other outlying
United States positions.

1334, The initial Japanese deployment is therefore estimated to be as follows:

a. Troops and aircraft in the Homeland, Manchukuo, and China with strong
concentrations in Formosa and Hainan, fairly strong defenses in the Carolines,
and comparatively weak but constantly growing defenses in the Marshalls.

b. Main fleet concentration in the Inlamd Sea, shifting to a central position
(possibly Pescadores) after the capture of Guam and the reenforcement of the
Mandates,

¢. A strong fleet detachment in the Mindanno-Celebes area (probable main
hase in Halmahera).

d. Sufficient units in the Japan Sea to counter moves of Russian Naval forces
in that area.

e. Strong concentration of submarines and light surface patrol craft in the
Mandates, with such air sconting and air attack units as can be supported
there.

f. Raiding and observation forces widely distributed in the Pacifie, and sub-
marines in the Hawaiian area.

[26] Part I1. OUTLINE OF TASKS
CHAPTER 1. TASKS ASSIGNED BY NAVY BASIC PLAN—MISSION

2101. The Navy Basic War P’lan (Rainbow Five) assigns the following tasks
within the Pacific Area to the U. 8. Pacific Fleet :

a. SUPIPORT THE FORCES OF THE ASSOCIATED POWERS IN THE
FAR EAST BY DIVERTING ENEMY STRENGTH AWAY FROM THE MALAY
BARRIER, THROUGH THE DENIAL AND CAPTURE OF POSITIONS IN
THE MARSHALLS, AND THROUGH RAIDS OX ENEMY SEA COMMUNICA-
TIONS AND POSITIONS ;

b. PREPARE TO CAPTURE AND ESTABLISH CONTROL OVER THE
CAROLINE AND MARSHALL ISLAND AREA, AND TO ESTABLISH AN
ADVANCED FLEET BASE IN TRUK ;

c. DESTROY AXIS SEA COMMUNICATIONS BY CAPTURING OR DE-
STROYING VESSELS TRADING DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY WITH THE
ENEMY;

d. SUPPORT BRITISH NAVAL FORCES IN THE AREA SOUTH OF THE
EQUATOR AS FAR WEST AS LONGITUDE 155° EAST ;

e. DEFEND SAMOA IN CATEGORY “D*:

f. DEFEND GUAM IN CATEGORY “F";

g. PROTECT THE SEA COMMUNICATIONS OF THE ASSOCIATED
PPOWERS BY ESCORTING, COVERING, AND PATROLLING AS REQUIRED
BY CIRCUMSTANCES, AND BY DESTROYING ENEMY RAIDING FORCES;

L. PROTECT THE TERRITORY OF THE ASSOCIATED POWERS IN THE
PACIFIC AREA AND PREVENT THE EXTENSION OF ENEMY MILITARY
POWER INTQ THE EASTERN HEMISPHERE BY DESTROYING HOSTILE
EXDPEDITIONS AND BY SUPPORTING LAND AND AIR FORCES IN DENY-
ING THE ENEMY THE USE OF LAND POSITIONS IN THAT HEMISPHERE;
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CHAPTER II. TASKS FORMULATED TO ACCOMPLISH THE ASSIGNED MISSIONS

2201. It will be noted that the tasks assigned in the previous chapter are
based upon Assumption a2 of paragraph 1211 (Japan in the war). In formulat-
ing tasks the Commander-in-Chief has provided also for Assumption al and
divides the tasks to be accomplished by the Pacific Fleet into phases, as follows:

[27] a. PHASE I.—Initial tasks—Japan not in the war,

b. PHASIE 1A —Initial tasks—Japan in the war,

¢, PHASE 11, etc.—Succeeding tasks.

2202, Phase I tasks are as follows:

~a. COMPLETE MOBILIZATION AND PREPARE FOR DISTANT OPERA-
TIONS ; THEREAFTER MAINTAIN ALL TYPES IN CONSTANT READINESS
FOR DISTANT SERVICE.

b. MAINTAIN FLEET SECURITY AT BASES AND ANCHORAGES AND
AT SEA,

¢. TRANSFER THE ATLANTIC REENFORCEMENT, IF ORDERED.

d. TRANSFER THE SOUTHEAST PACIFIC FORCLE, 1F ORDERED,

¢. ABSIGN TWELVE PATROL PLANES AND TWO SMALL TENDERS TO
PACIFIC SOUTHERN AND A SIMILAR FORCE TO PACIFIGC NORTHERN
NAVAL COASTAL FRONTIER, ON M-DAY.

f. ASSIGN TWO SUBMARINES AND ONE SUBMARINE RESCUE VESSEL
TO PACIFIC NORTHERN NAVAL COASTAL FRONTIER ON M-DAY.

g. PROTECT THE COMMUNICATIONS AND TERRITORY OF THE ASSO-
CIATED POWERS AND PREVENT THE EXTENSION OF ENEMY MILITARY
POWER INTO THE WESTERN HEMISPHERE BY PATROLLING WITH
LIGHT FORCES AND PATROL PLANES, AND BY THE ACTION OF STRIK-
ING GROUPS AS NECESSARY. IN SO DOING SUPPORT THE BRITISH
NAVAL F'J(:')RCES SOUTH OF THE EQUATOR AS FAR WEST AS LONGITUDE
155° EAST.

h. ESTABLISH DEFENSIVE SUBMARINE PATROLS AT WAKE AND
MIDWAY,

i. OBSERVE, WITH SUBMARINES OUTSIDE THE THREE MILE LIMIT,
THE POSSIBLE RAIDER BASES IN THE JAPANESE MANDATES, IF AU-
THORIZED AT THE TIME BY THE NAVY DEPARTMENT,

j. PROSECUTE THE ESTABLISHMENT AND DEFENSE OF SUBSIDIARY
BASES AT MIDWAY, JOHNSTON, PALMYRA, SAMOA, GUAM AND WAKE,
AND AT CANTON IF AUTHORIZED.

k. CONTINUE TRAINING QPERATIONS AS PRACTICABLE.

1. MOVE THE MAXIMUM PRACTICABLE PORTION OF SECOND MARINE
DIVISION TO HAWAII FOR TRAINING IN LANDING OPERATIONS.

m. GUARD AGAINST SURPRISE ATTACK BY JAPAN.

[25] Phase 1A

2203. Phase 1A tasks arve as follows:

1. CONTINUE TASKS OUTLINED IN 2202 ab.g.h, and k.

b. ACCOMPLISH SUCH OF THE TASKS IN 2202 cd.ef, and j AS HAVE
NOT BEEN COMPLETED.

¢. MAKE AN INITIAL SWEEP FOR JAPANESE MERCHANTMEN AND
ENEMY RAIDERS AND TENDERS IN THE NORTHERN PACIIIC.

. CONTINUE THE PROTECTION OF THE TERRITORY AND COM-
MUNICATIONS OF THE ASSOCIATED POWERS, AND OF THE NAVAIL
COASTAL: FRONTIER FORCES., CHIEFLY BY COVERING OPERATIONS.

e. 1. MAKE RECONNAISSANCE AND RAID IN FORCE ON THE MAR-
SHALL ISLANDS.

2, TF AVAILABLE CRUISERS AND OTHER CIRCUMSTANCES PERMIT,
MAKE CRUISER RAIDS AGAINST JAPANESE SHIPPING IN WATERS
BETWEEN NANSEI SHOTO AND NANPO SHOTO.

f. ESTABLISH AND MAINTAIN MAXIMUM PRACTICABLE SUBMARINE
PATROLS AGAINST JAPANESE FORCES AND COMMUNICATIONS NEAR
THE JAPANESE HOMELAND.

g. MAINTAIN AIR PATROLS AGAINST ENEMY FORCES IN THE ADP-
PROACHES TO OAHU AND OUTLYING BASES.

h. ESCORT IMPORTANT SHIPPING. INCLUDING TROOP MOVEMENTS,
BETWEEN THE [IAWAIIAN AREA AND THE WEST COAST.

LIié Ei:E?I?TE SHIPPING IN THE FLEET CONTROL ZONE WHEN ESTAB-
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j. AUGMENT THE LOCAL DEFENSE FORCES OF THE HAWAIIAN
NAVAL COASTAL FRONTIER AS NECESSARY.

k. MOVE FROM SAN DIEGO TO HAWAII THE REMAINING UNITS AND
EQUIPMENT OF THE SECOND MARINE DIVISION.

1. PREPARE TO CAPTURE AND ESTABLISH CONTROL OVER THE
MARSHALL ISLAND AREA.

PART ITI. TASK ASSIGNMENT
CHAPTER 1. FHASE I

Section }. TASK FORCE NINE (PATROL PLANE FORCE)
3141. Task Force Nine will perform the tasks assigned in the following para-
graphs of this section.

[29] 3142. ON W-DAY TRANSFER TWELVE PATROL PLANES AND
TWO TENDERS TO EACH OF THE PACIFIC SOUTHERN AND PACIFIC
NORTHERN NAVAL COASTAL FRONTIERS. CONTINUE ADMINISTRA-
TION OF THESE FORCES AND ROTATE DETAIL AT DISCRETION,

3143. PERFORM TASKS ASSIGNED IN THE PATROL AND SWEEPING
PLAN (ANNEX T).. ...

“PART V. SPECIAL PROVISIONS

CHAPTER IV. TENATIVE OPERATION PLANS
PHASES 1 AND IA

Section 1. Phase I
United States Pacific Fleet
U. S. 8. PENNSYLVANIA, Flagship
Place
Date

Operation Plan

No. 1-R5." . . . .

1. Information, Assumptions, ete., as previousiy given in Parts I, IT and III
of Navy Plan O-1, Rainhow Five.

2. This Fleet will, in the Pacific Area, protect the (erritory and sea com-
wunications of the Associated DPowers and will support British Naval Forces
south of the equator as far west as Lougitude 155° East, while continuing train-
ing and guarding against attack by Japan. . . . .

Annex 1

United States Pacific Fleet
U. S. 8. PENNSYLVANIA, Flagship
Place
Dute
Patrol and Sweeping Plan™ . . . .

1. Information and Assumptions as previously given in Parts I, II, and III
of this Navy I'lan O-1, Rainbow Five. Latest information of enemy disposi-
tions, estimated intentions, and loeation of merchant shipping will be furnished
by the Commander-in-Chief, U. 8. Pacific Fleet, at time of execution.

[30] 2 Phase 1

This Fleet will, in the Pacific Area, protect the territory and sea communica-
tions of the Associated Powers by :

(a) Patrolling against enemy forces, particularly in the vicinity of the Hawai-
ian Islands; and on shipping lanes (1) West Coast-Iawaii, (2) Trans-Pacific
westward of Midway and (3) in South Seas in vicinity of Samoa.

(b) Escorting as conditions require and forces available permit.

(e¢) Covering.

(d) Employing striking forces against enemy raids and expeditions.

(e} Routing shipping. . . .

3. (d) Task Force Nine (Patrol Plane Force).

(1) Having due regard for time required to overhaul and upkeep planes and
for conservation of personnel, maintain maximum patrol plane search against
enemy forces in the approaches to the Hawaiian area.
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(2) Initially base und operate one patrol plane squadron from Midway. At
dizeretion increase the number of planes operating from bases to westward of
Pearl Harbor to two squadrons, atilizing Johnston :amd Wiake as the facilities
thereat and the situation at the time makes practicable.

(3) Be prepared, on request of Commander Task Force Three, to transfer one
patrol squadron gl tenders to that force for prompt operations in the South
Pacifie.

(4) Be purticularly alert to detect disgunised raiders.

(5) In transferring planes between hases, conduct wide sweep enronte,

(6) Planes engaged in training operations furnish suach asxsistance to Naval
Coastal Frontiers in which based as may be practicable.

[31] (7} Effect closest cooperation practicable with surface forces engaged
in sweeping during initial sweep of Phase 1A,

(8) Modify patrols as necessary in order to carry out tasks assigned in Mar-
shall Raiding and Reconnaissance Plan (Annex II to Navy Plan 0-1). . . .

B. Joint Coastal Fronticr Defense Plan, Hawaiian T heater, Orange
LND-ICD-42.

The Joint Coastal Frontier Defense Plan, Hawaiian Coastal Fron-
tier, Hawaiian Department and FOURTEENTH Naval District
(14ND-JCD—2), was sighed and placed in effect on 11 April 1941 by
the Comanding General, Hawailun Department, and by the Com-
mandant, FOURTEENTH Naval District (Exhibit 80). The plan
wag based on the joint Army and Navy basic war plans, and was to
constitute the basis on which all subsidiary peace and war projects,
joint operating plans, and mobilization plans would be based. The
method of coordination under the plan was by mutual cooperation
which was to apply to all activities wherein the Army and the Navy
would operate in coordination until and it the method of unity of
command were invoked. The tasks assigned were as follows:

14, TASKS.

a. JOINT TASK. To hold OAHU as a main outlying naval base, and to control
and protect shipping in the Coastal Zone.

b, ARMY TASK, To hold OAHU against attacks by sea, land, and air forces,
and against hostile sympathizers; to support the naval forces,

¢. NAVY ASK. To patrol the Coastal Zone and to control and protect shipping
therein; to support the Army forces.

The Hawaiian Naval Coastal Zoue was defined as “The Hawaiian
Naval Coastal Zone comprises the waters of the Hawaiian Coastal
Frontier™ (Oahu and such adjacent land and sea areas as were re-
quired for the defense of Oahu).

The plan provided that the Commanding General, Hawaiian De-
partment, and the Commandant, FOURTEENTII Naval District,
should provide for the following:

17. ARMY. The Commanding General, HAWAIIAN DEPARTMENT, shall
provide for:

a. The beach and land, seacoast and antiairerafr defense of QAHU with par-
ticular attention to the PEARL, HARBOR NAVAL BASE and naval forces
present thereat, HONOLULU HARBOR, CITY OF HONOLULU, and the SCHO-
FIELD BARRACKS-WHEELEL FIELD-LUALUALEI avea. The increasing im-
portance of the KANEBEOHE area is recognized, é

[32] b. An antiaireraft and gas defense intelligence and warning serviee,

e. Protection of landing fields and naval installations on ontlying islands eon-
sistent with available forces.

d. Defense of installations on OAHU vital to the Army and Navy and to the
civilian ecommuunity for light, power, water, and for interior guard and sabotage,
except within naval establishments.

e. Defense against sabotage within the HAWATITAN ISLANDS, except within
naval shore establishments.
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f. Establishment of an inshore aerial patrol of the waters of the OAHU
D. C. A, in cooperation with the Naval Inshore Patrol (see par. 18. a.), and
an aerial observation system on outlying islands, and an Aircraft Warning
~ervice for the HAWAITIAN ISLANDS.

g. Support of naval aireraft forces in major offensive operations at sea
conducted within range of Army bombers.

h. Provide personnel for and Army communication faeilities to harbor con-
trol post provided for in paragraph 18. e.

i. In conjunction with the Navy, a system of land communications (coordi-
niated by means of teletype, telegraph loops, and radio intercepts, and detailed
joint instructions) to insure prompt transmittal and interchange of hostile
intelligence. Radio communication between the Army and the Navy will be
governed by “Joint Army and Navy Radie Procedure, The Joint Board, 1940.”

1. An intelligence service, which, in addition to normal funections, will gather,
evaluate, and distribute both to the Ariny and to the Navy, information of
activities of enemy aliens or alien sympathizers within the HAWAIIAN
ISLANDS.

k. Counter-espionage within the HAWAIIAN ISLANDS.

L. Control of dangerous aliens or alien sywmpathizers in the HAWAIIAN
ISLANDS.

m. Army measures to assure effeetive supervision, control, and ecensorship
over communication systems which will conform to Joint Action of the Army
and the Navy, 1935, Chapter IX.

n. Supply of all Army and eivil population in the HAWAITAN ISLANDS.

[33] o. Hospitalization of all Army and civil population in the HAWAITAN
ISLANDS.

p. Reception and distribution of personnel and supplies for the Army #ud of
supplies for the eivil population,

1S, NATY. The Commandant, FOURTELENTH NAVAL DISTRICT, shall pro-
vide for:

a. An inshore patrol

b. An offshore patrol.

¢. An escort force.

d. An attack force.

e. Provide and maintain a harbor countrol post for joint defense of PEARL
and HONOLULU ITARBORS.

f. Installation and operation of an underwater defense for PEARL and
HONOLULU HARDBORS. (Hydro-acoustic posts, fixed, when developed and
installed probably will be under cognizance of the Army.)

. Support of Army forces in the OAHU-D, C. A, and installation of submarine
mine fields in the defense of the OAIIU-D. C. A a8 may be decmed necessary
and practicable,

L. Sweeping chaunels and mine fields.

i. Distant reconnaissance.

J. Attacking eneiny naval forees.

k. Maintenance of interior guard and defense against sabotage within all naval
shore establishments.

1. In conjunetion with the Army, as provided for in paragraph 17 i., a local
communication service to insure prompt transmittal and interchange of intel-
ligence.

m. Navy measures to assure effective supervision, control and censorship
over cominunication systems wlieh will conform to Joaint Action of the Army
and the Navy, 1935, Chapter IX.

n. Operation of a Naval intelligence systeni, inchiding counter-espionace, for
the collection, evaluation, and dissemination of hostile information.

o. Supply and hospitalization of all loeal naval defense forees.

[34] p. Operation or supervision of all water transportation and facilities
pertainfng thereto.

C. Annex VII. Section VI, to the Joint Couastal Frontier Defense
Plan.

Annex VI, Section VI to the Joint Coastal Frontier Defense Plan,
Hawaiian Department and Fourteenth Naval District, dated 28
March 1941, and approved by Admiral Bloch and General Short
2 April 1941, (Exhibit 47), dealt with joint security measures and
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protection of the Fleet and Pearl Harbor base. It stated that in
order to coordinate joint defensive measures for the security of the
Fleet and for the Pearl Harbor Naval base for defense against hostile
raids or air attacks delivered prior to a declaration of war, and before
a general mobilization for war, there were adopted the following
agreements: ) . .

Paragraph II, in respect of joint air operations, provided that
when the Commanding General and ComFOURTEEN agreed that
the threat of a hostile raid or attack was sufficiently imminent to
warrant such aection, each commander would take such preliminary
steps as were necessary to make available without delay to the other
commander such proportion of the air forces at his disposal as cir-
cumstances warranted in order that joint operations might be con-
ducted in accordance with the foilowing plans: (a) joint air attacks
upon hostile surface vessels to be condncted under the tactical com-
mand of the Navy; (b) defensive air operations over and in the
immediate vicinity of Oahu to he executed under the tactieal com-
mand of the Army; (¢) when naval forces were insufticient for long
distance patrol and search operations, and Army aiveraf( were made
available, these aireraft would be under the tactical control of the
naval commander directing the search operations.

Paragraph IIT provided for joint communications, and, among
other things, that all information of the presence or movements of
hostile aiveratt oftshore from QOahu secured through Navy channels
would be transmitted promptly to the Command Post of the Army
Provisional Anti-Aircraft Drigade and the Aiveraft Warning Serv-
ice Information Center; that subsequently, when the Army air-
craft warning service was established, provision would be made for
transmisston of information on the location or distance of hostile and
friendly aireraft. and special wire or radio circuits wonld be made
available for the use of Navy liaizon officers so that they might make
their own evaluation of the available information and transmit it to
their respective organizations.

Paragraph IV rvelated to joint anti-aiveraft measures, the arrival
and departure procedure for aiveraft, balloon barrages, Marine Corps
anti-aireraft artillery, and Army Airvernft Warning Sevvice. It
provided that the letter service was to be expedited in its installa-
tion and operation by the Army and, “during the period prior to the
completion of the AWS installation, the Navy, through use of Radar
and other appropriate means, will endeavor to give such warning of
hostile attacks as may be practicable.

[95] D. Joint Estimate Covering Avimy and Navy Air Action in
the Event of Sudden Hostile Action Against Oalo,

On 31 March 1941, Rear Admiral Bellinger, Commander Naval Base
Defense Air Force (Commander Patrol Wing Two), and Major Gen-
eral I, L. Martin, Commanding Hawaiian Air Force, prepared a joint
estimate covering joint Army and Navy air action in the event of snd-
den hostile action against Oahn or Fleet units in the Hawaiian area
(Exhibit 49).

Paragraph 1 of the estimate included a “Summary of the Situa-
tion,” which indicated that vetations between the United States and
Orange were strained, uncertain, and varying; that in the past Orange
had never preceded hostile action by a declaration of war; that a suc-

79716—46—Es. 1567——27
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cessful sudden raid against our ships and naval installations on Oahu
might prevent eﬂ’ectwe oftensive action by onr forces in the western
Pacific for a long period: that a strong part of onr fleet was con-
stantly at sea In the operating areas, organized to take prompt offen-
sive action; and, that it .11)puum1 possible that Ovange submarines
and/or an Orange fast raiding force might arrive in Ha,\mu.m waters
with no prior warning from our Intg]]wonce Service.

P‘ll“l“‘laph 1T of the estimate embraced a "Sunev of Opposing
Strengths,” indicating, among other things, that Orange might send
into the Hawaiian area one or more submarines and one or more fast

raiding forces composed of carriers supported by fast cruisers; that
the most diflicult situation to meet would be when several of the Ahove
elements were present and closely coordinating their actions; and that
the airveraft available in Hawaii were inadequate to maintain for any
extended period from bases on Oalin a patrol extensive enough to in-
sure that an air attack from an Orange carrier could not arrive over
Oahu as a complete surprise.

Paragraph 11T of the estumate dealt with *Possible Enemy Action.”
It stated that a declaration of war might be preceded by a surprise
submarine attack on ships in the operating area, a surprise attack on
Oahu, including ships and installations in Pearl Har hor, or a combina-
tion of these twos that it .1131)9‘11(3(1 the most likely and d‘mwemua form
of attack on Oahu would be an air attack, most likely launched from
one or more carriers which would probably approach inside of 300
miles. It was further pointed ont that a single attack might or might
not tudicate the presence of more submarines or more planes waiting
to attack after detending aircraft have been drawn away by the or-
iginal thrust ; that : "'(d) any single submarine attack might indicate
the presence "of considerable undiscovered ‘-alllfl(‘(‘ toz(eb probably
composed of fast ships accompanied by a carrier;” and that in a dawn
air attack there was a high possibility that it could be delivered as a
complete surprise in ap]te of any patrol that we might be using.

Pavagraph IV of the estimate considered “Action Open ta Us” Tt
was stated that it would be desirable to run daily patrols as far as
possible to seaward through 360°. but this could only be effectively
maintained with present pu«-onnei and material for a very short pe-
riod, and, as a practicable measure, could not therefore be undertaken
unless other intelligence [36] indicated that a surface raid wa
probable within rather narrow limits of time. Reference was made
to other types of action open in the event of a surprise attack on ships
in the operating area or on the islands, and pointed out that none of
the outlined courses of action could be initiated by our forces until
an attack was known to be imminent or had occurred.

Paragraph V contained *“Decisions.” The primary decision was
that the Naval Base Defense Air Force would locate and attack
forces initiating hostile action against Oalin or fleet units in order to
prevent or minimize damage to our forces from a surprise attack, and
to obtain information upon which to base coordinated vetaliatory
measures. A number of subsidiary decisions were made, including
decisions for the establishment of a search and attack group, an air
combat eroup, the assignment of missions fo the groups, and defini-
tions of conditions of readiness. The search and attack group was to
be under the Commander Naval Base Defense Air Force—Commander
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Patrol Wing Two, and, in accordance with enrrent conditions of read-

iness, included patrol squadrons and Army bombardment and recon-

naissance squadrons.

[37] E. Naval Base Defense Force Operation Plan No. 1-}1, and
Naval Base Defense Air Force Plan.

Admiral Block, as Naval Base Defense Officer, issued his Operation
Plan No. 1-41, on February 27, 1941 (Exhibit 53 of the Naval Court).
The Task Organization prescribed was: (a) Destroyer Patrol (Com-
mander Inshore Patrol) consisting of two destroyers, a boom patrol, a
harbor patrol, and A/B boom and minesweepers, (b) Base Defense Air
Force (Commander Patrol Wing Two) in conjunction with the Army,
(¢) Antiaiveraft Defense (District Marine Officer) in conjunetion with
the Army, (d) Harbor Control Post (District Operations Officer) in
conjunction with the Army. This plan directed attention, among other
things, to the Hawaiian Joint Coastal Frontier Defense Plan, and
stated :

By cooperation in support of the Army, Naval security measures will be
established as necessary for the joint protection of Pearl Harbor Base in order
to safeguard the Fleet.

In eonjunction with the Conmmanding General Hawaiian Department, the Naval
Base Defense Officer (Commandant Fourteenth Naval Distriet) will arrange to
coordinate joint effort; to set conditions of readiness; to hold required drills; fo
make “alarin™ and “all c¢lear” signals.

Assumptions.

(a) That no responsible foreign power will provoke war under existing condi-
tious, by attack on the Fleet or base, but that irresponsible and misguided na-
tionals of such powers may attemnpt :

(1) Sabotage from sinall eraft on ships based in PEARL HARBOR.

(2) Block the entrance echannel to PEARL HARBOR by sinking an obstruction
in the channel.

(3) Lay magnetie or other mines in the approaches to PEARL HARBOR,

(b} That a declaration of war might be preceded by :

(1) A surprise submarine attack on ships in base area—probable.

(2) A surprise air attack on ships in PEARL HARBOR—possible.

(3) A combination of these two—possible.

Annexed to Operation Plan 1-41 were: A detailed Inshore Patrol
Plan, ealled Annex *A ;” a detailed Naval Base Defense Air Force Plan,
called Annex “Baker:” a detailed Anti-aireraft Defense Plan, called
Annex #C:” a detailed Harbor Control Post Plan, called “D;” and a
detailed Communications Plan, known as Annex “Easy.”

Annex “Baker,” the detailed Naval Base Defense Air Force Plan,
dated 9 April 1941, was prepared by Admiral Bellinger and approved
by Admiral Block. Tt divided the Task Organization into (a) Search
and Attack Group, consisting of patrol squadrons and other planes,
ineluding Army reconnaissance squadrons, and (b) an air combat
group. This plan was made in accordance with the Joint Estimate,
dated 31 March 1941, which is digested above. The Naval Base De-
fense Air Force was, according to this plan, to [38] locate and
destroy hostile forces raiding against Oahu or Fleet units in the operat-
ing areas. The plan was effective upon receipt and became operative
without signal in the event of a surprise attack on Oahu, Tt might be
macde operative by dispatch. In the meantime, conditions of readiness,
rescribed in Addendum Two to this plan, would be taken as divected

y the Commanding General, Hawaiian Department, for Army units,
and by the Naval Base Defense Officer (ComFOURTEEN) for Navy



416 CONGRESSIONAL INVESTIGATION PEARL HARBOR ATTACK

units. The condition of material readines was to be signified by a
letter, such as “E,” signifying that all aireraft were conducting routine
operations and none were ready for the purpose of this plan, and the
condition of operational readiness by a number, such as “5,” signifying
that all types of available planes wonld be ready in four hours. It was
also required that a dispateh readiness report, as of 1500 each day, be
made by each unit assigned by this plan to a task grounp, stating the
number of planes and readiness.

[39] F. Pacifie Flect Letter on Security of the Fleet at Base and
in Operating Areas.

Pacific Fleet Confidential Letter No. 2CL—1, from the Commander
in Chief. Pacific Ileet, to the Pacific Fleet, concerning the security
of the Fleet at base and in operating areas, was issued in February,
1941 and reissued in revised form on 14 October 1941,

This order provided that the Security of the Fleet was predicated on
two assumptions:

(a) That no responsible foreign power would provoke war under
present existing conditions by attack on the Fleet or base, but that
irresponsible and misguided nationals of such powers might attempt

(1) sabotage on ships based in Pearl Harbor from small eraft,

(2) to block the entrance to I'earl Harbor by sinking an obstruction
in the channel.

(3) to lay magnetic or other mines in the approaches to Pearl
Harbor:

(b) That a declaration of war might be preceded by (1) a surprise
attack on ships in Pearl Harbor, (2) a surprise submarine attack on
ships in operating arveas, (3) a combination of the two.

Security measures were prescribed covering:

A. Continuous patrols, inshore. boom and harbor,

B. Intermittent patrols to consist of a destroyer offshore patrol and
an air patrol. The destroyer patrol was to consist (a) of a patrol to
10 miles from the entrance, (b) three destroyers to search 12 hours
prior to sortie or entry of Fleet or Task Force, (¢) one destroyer
(READY DUTY) for sereening heavy ships, other than during a
IPleet or Task Force sortie or entry, to be on one hour’s notice. The
air patrol was to consist of daily search of operating areas. as directed
by E‘ommandm- Aireraft. Scouting Force, an air patrol to cover entry
or sortie of a Fleet or Task Force, an air patrol during entry or de-
parture of a heavy ship at other times. There also was to be a daily
sweep for magnetic and anchored mines.

C. Sortie and entry.

D. Operating areas.

E. Ships at sea.

F. Ships in port.

The security provisions covering defense against air attack (G),
deseribed the principal Army anti-aireraft gun defenses of Pearl
Harbor and directed that Marine defense battalions would assist the
Army in manning them; and provided that in the event of a hostile
air attack, any part of the Fleet in harbor, plus all fleet aviation shore
based on Qahu. would augment the local air defense; it preseribed air
defense sectors and a berthing plan in Pearl Harbor. It further pro-
vided that the senior officer embarked, exclusively of CinePae, should
insure berthing so as to develop the maximum anti-aircraft gunfire;
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and that ComFOURTEEN, as Naval [40] Base Defense
Officer, should exercise with the Army joint supervisory control over
the defense against air attack, and take other action, including super-
visory control over naval shore based aircraft, arranging through the
Commander of Patrol Wing Two for eoordination of the joint air
effort between the Army and the Navy, and coordinate Fleet antiair-
craft fire with the base defense by advising the Senior Officer Em-
barked (exclusive of CincPac) of the condition of readiness to main-
tain, and by holding drills, ete.

Threee conditions of naval base defense readiness were prescribed.
Condition ITI vead as follows:

Anti-aireraft battery (guns which bear in assigned sector) of at least one ship
in each sector manned and ready. (Minimnm of four guns required for each
sector.) Condition of aireraft as prescribed by Naval Base Defense Officer.

The procedure to be followed by the task forces in the event of an
air attack was also se forth : the Senior Officer embarked was to execute
an emergency sortie order, sending destroyers ont and preparing a car-
rier and heavy ships and submarines for sorties; the Task Force Com-
mander at sea was to dispateh a striking unit, ete.; and the Naval Base
Defense Officer was to give the alarm indicating that an attack was in
progress or imminent, inform the Task Force Commander at sea of
the attack and type of attacking aireraft, launch air search for enemy
ships, and arm and prepare all bombing units available.

The action to be taken if & submarine attacked in the operating area
was set forth. It was provided that the ship attacked was, among other
things, to originate a plain language dispatch containing the essential
details; various actions were to be taken by other ships; and the Patrol
Wings were to assume readiness for search and for offensive action,
to carry out search as directed by Task Force Commander, and to pre-
pare to establish station patrol at a 220 mile radius from the scene of
attack at one hour before daylight of the next succeeding daylight
period. The shore based fleet aivcraft were to prepare to reheve planes
over the attack area, unless Pearl Harbor were also attacked, in which
case the instructions issued by the Naval Base Defense Officer would
have priority. It was further provided that “It must be remembered
that a single attack may or may not indicate the presence of more sub-
marines waiting to attack,” and *#(3) it must be remembered too, that
a single submarine attack may indicate the presence of a considerable
surface force probably composed of fast ships accompanied by a car-
rier. The Task Force Commander must, therefore, assemble his task
groups as quickly as the situation and daylight conditions warrant in
order to be prepared to pursue or meet enemy ships that may be located
by air search or other means.”

[41] G. Ezecution of Plans Prior io 7 December 1941.

(1) The Pacific Fleet Operating Plan Rainbow 5 provided that
the day of execution of the plan was to be designated as W-Day, and
that the day upon which hostilities opened with Japan would be J-Day,
which might or might not coincide with W-Day. Prior to the attack
on Pearl Harbor, W-Day had not been designated.

(2) The Joint Coastal Frontier Defense Plan haid been signed and
placed in effect on 11 April 1941 by the Commanding General, Hawai-
1an Department, and by the Commandant, Fourteenth Naval District.
It will be recalled that under this plan the method of coordination of
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Army and Navy effort was “by mutual cooperation” and not “unity
of command.” It will be recalled further that nnder this plan the
Army task was to hold Oahu against attacks by sea, land, and air
forces, and against hostile sympathizers; and to support the Naval
forces; and, that the Navy task was to patrol the coastal zone and
control and protect shipping therein; and to support the Ay forces;
and, that the Navy was obliged to provide distant reconnaissunce.

(3) Annex VII, Section 6 of the Joint Coastal Frontier Defense
Plan, which provided for joint defensive measures for defense against
hostile raids or air attacks delivered prior to a declaration of war
(including joint air operations and for the use of Army wireraft by
the Navy for long distance patrol when Navy forces were insuflicient),
was to become effective when the Consmanding General and Com-
FOURTEEN agreed that the threat of a hostile raid or attack was
sufficiently imminent to warrant such action. No such agreement was
made prior to the attack on December Tth.

(4) The Naval Base Defense Iforce Operation Plan, which provided
for an Inshore Patrol consisting of two destroyers, a boom patrol, a
harbor patrol, and an A/B boom and minesweepers. a Base defense
air force, anti-aiveraft defense, and a harbor control post, although
effective as to the inshore patrol was not in operation as to the base
defense air force.

(5) The Naval Base Defense Air Force Plan, dated 9 April 1941,
which was an annex to the Naval Base Defense Force Plan and which
had been made in accordance with the joint estimate of Bellinger
and Martin, dated 31 March 1941, was effective upon receipt. It was
to become operative without a signal in the event of a surprise attack
on Oahn and it might have been made operative by dispatch. It was
not made operative until the attack on 7 December 1941.

(6) The Pacific Fleet Letter on security of the Fleet at base and in
operating areas, which recognized the possibility of a surprise attack
on ships in Pearl Harbor and which set forth security measures
including patrols to be conducted both by destroyers and by aircraft,
was in effect during 1941, and in revised form after 14 October 1941.

[42] H. Admiral Kimmel’s Views as to the Possibility of a Surprise
Air Attack.

It appears from the War and Defense Plans, above sumunarized,
that it was believed that prior to a declaration of war there might be
a surprise attack by the Japanese on ships in Pearl Harbor or a sur-
prise submarine attack on ships in the operating areas. The possi-
bility of a surprise air attack on ships in Pearl Harbor had been ex-
pressed as early as 24 January 1941 by the Secretary of the Navy, in
a letter to the Secretary of War (Exhibit 64). a copy of which was
received by Admiral Kimmel shortly after he assnmed command of
the Pacific Fleet. In that letter, the Secretary of the Navy wrote:

If war eventuates with Japan, it is believed easily possible that hostilities
would be initiated by a surprise attack upon the fleet or the naval base at
Pearl Harbor . . . The dangers envisaged in their order of importance and
probabilities are considered to be: (1) air bombing attack, (2) air torpedo
plane attack, (3) sabotage, (4) submarine attack, (5) mining, (6) bombard-
ment by gunfire.

In his testimony before the Naval Court of Inquiry, Admiral Kim-
mel indicated some confusion as to his agreement with and his evalua-
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tion of the above letter by the Secretary of the Navy. He testified
that he had felt that the most probable form of attack on Pearl Har-
bor was by submarine, and that a bombing attack was the second most
probable, but that he had been of the view that there was no danger of
an air torpedo attack because the water was too shallow. He then
corrected his testimony, characterizing his previous festimony as er-
roneous, and stated that he had regarded an air attack as no more
than a possibility.

It appears clearly that Admiral Kimmel at all times during his
command of the Pacific Fleet was of the view that a surprise air
attack on Pearl Havrbor was a possibility. Thus.in a letter by Admiral
Richardsou, prepared in collaboration with Admiral Kimmel, on 25
January 1941 (Exhibit 70, Naval Court), it was stated in part that
the security of the Pacific Fleet would be predicated on certain as-
sumptions, including an assumption that Japan might attack without
warning and the further assumption that Japanese attacks might be
expected against shipping. outlying position, or naval units, and that
surprise vaids on Pearl Harbor were possible.  Again, in a leiter of
18 February 1941, concerning the adequacy of lacal defense (Exhibit
30. Naval Court), Admiral Kimmel stated. “T feel that a surprise
attack (submarine, air, or combined) on Pearl Harbor is a possi-
bility.”  And, as previously pointed out, the Fleet Security Letter.
reissued on 14 October 1941, predicated the security of the Fleet on
two assumptions. one of \\'hi(‘L was that a declaration of war might
be preceded by a swrprise attack on ships in Pearl Harbor. This,
Admiral Kinmnel testified before the Naval Court, referred to a sur-
prise air attack.

In connection with Admiral Kimmel's statement before the Naval
Court of Inquiry that he thought there was no danger of an air
[43] torpedo attack on Pearl Harbor because the water was 100
shallow, several letters from the Chief of Naval Operations should
be noted :

On 15 February 1941 (Exhibit 49, Naval Court), the Chief of Naval
Operations wrote to CincPac regarding anti-torpedo baflles for protec-
tion against attacks on Pearl Harbor. This stated that the shallow
depth of water limited the need for anti-torpedo nets in Pearl Harbor
and the congestion and the necessity for maneuvering room limited
the practicability of the present type of batlles. The letter indicated
that a minimum depth of water of 75 feet might be assumed necessary
successfuly to drop torpedoes from planes and that the desirable
height for dropping is 60 feet or less, There were various other
considerations stated. The recommendations and comments of the
Commander-in-Chief were especially desived. A similar letler was
sent by the Chief of Naval Operations to the Commandants of various
Naval Districts. including the Fourteenth, on 17 February 1941
(Exhibit 5%, Naval Court).

The reply to the vequest for recommendations and comments was
made on 20 March 1941, in a letter by Admiral Bloch, stating that the
depth of water at Pearl Harbor was 45 feet. and for that and other
reasons, he did not recommend anti-torpedo bafles. CincPuac agreed,
until such time as a light efficient net were developed.

In June 1941, the Chief of Naval Operations sent another letter to
the Commaundants of Naval Districts, copy to CinePac and others,
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referring to recent developments, and to experience at T'aranto, which
stated that no minimum depth of water could he assumed safe as
regards torpedo attack if there were suflicient water around a ship to
permit an attack to be developed and a sufficient run to arm the torpedo,
but that such an attack in 10 fathoms or more was more Itkely than
in shallow water (Ixhibit 55, Naval Court). The torpedoes at
Tarvanto, it was said, were launched in thirteen to fifteen fathoms
although some may have been in eleven.

Admiral Kimmel testified that on this correspondence he based his
opinion that there was no chance of an air torpedo attack on Pearl
Harbor—and that even after the June letter, he did not think that
torpedoes would run in such shallow water. He pointed out that the
Navy made no effort to place such nets in Pearl Harbor. He later
stated that he did not think an aerial torpedo attack would be made
because he did not think sueh torpedoes would run in Pearl Harbor
and did not give this a great deal of constderation for that reason.

[44] L. Adequacy of Forces to Carry Out Tasks Assigned.

The adequacy of forces assigned to the Pacific Fleet for carrying
out the tasks assigned in the war plans was the subject of testimony
Lefore both Admiral Hart and the Naval Court of Inquiry. From
the testimony it appears that although there were shortages con-
cerning which Admiral Kimmel had extensive correspondence with
the Chief of Naval Operations, there was general agreement by the
witnesses to the eflect that the Fleet was considered adequate to
carry out the initial tasks assigned in the war plans. The initial
tasks, it will be recalled, weve primarily defensive in nature, As
will appear subsequently in this veport, the number of fleet patrol
planes in the Hawatian area was not suflicient to enable a 360 degree
reconnaissance to be flown daily from Oahu for more than a few
days. but was suflicient for aiv reconnaissance of the more dangerous
sectors to have been flown for at least several weeks. To this extent,
therefore, the patrol planes assigned to the Pacific Fleet were a
limiting factor as to the Fleet’s ability to carry out one of the
initial tasks assigned in the war plans, namely, to “maintain air
patrols against enemy forces in the approaches of Oahu . . .7

The Joint Coastal Frontier Defense Plan stated that the Navy,
through ComFOURTEEN. would provide for distant reconnaissance
from Oahu.  Admiral Bloch had no aiv forces assigned to him and
had to rely upon the Fleet planes, which were under the control of
Admiral Kimmel, for the accomplishment of this task. Thus naval
patrol planes could be and were used for long distance reconnaissance
from Oahu only when they were made available by Admiral Kimmel
for that purpose.

[45] J. Command Organization.

(1) Methods of Coardination Between Avimy and Navy Commands.
According to “Joint Action of the Army and Navy, 1935,” (IExhibit
6, Naval Conrt). the operations of Army and Navy forces were to be
coordinated by one of two methods:

(a) Mutual cooperation, or,

(b) The exercise of unity of command.

(2) Coordination Between Army and Navy Commands in Hawaii.
The command organization in the Hawaiian area was designed to
function through “mutual cooperation” between the Army and Navy.
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This was the normal method of coordination according to Joint Ac-
tion of the Army and the Navy (Exhibit 6, page 5), and applied to the
defense of Pearl Harbor as well as the entire Hawalian avea.

(3) Desirability of Unity of Command.—(a) Unity of Command
for Hawaii considered in Washington. Admiral Stark testified be-
fore the Naval Court that, prior to T December 1941, he had given much
thought to the question of unity of command in Hawail but that no
satis?actory solution or decision had been reached as far as the Navy
Department was concerned. It had been the topic of many conversa-
tions with the Chief of Staff of the Army, but it was anticipated only
for amphibious operation (page 29, Naval Court). He and the Chief
of Staff of the Army could have placed unity of command into effect
at Hawaii, subject to the approval of the Secretaries of War and of
the Navy (page 39, Naval Court). However, “Joint Action of the
Army and Navy” (Exhibit 6. Naval Court) does not indicate that the
approval of the Secretary of War and the Secretary of the Navy would
have been required.

(b) Unity of Command for Hawaii consideved at Pearl Harbor.
Admiral Stark testified that Admiral IGmmel, as Commander-in-
Chief of the Pacific Fleet, in mutual agreement with the Commanding
General, Hawaitan Department, could have placed unity of command
in effect in Oahu (Naval Court, page 39; Exhibit 6, page 5). Admiral
Kimmel testified (Roberts Commission, page 538; Naval Court, page
296) that he had never had any discussion with the Commanding Gen-
eral of the Hawaiian Department on the desirability of putting unity
of command into effect in the Hawaiian area. but did state that where
command is vested in one agency. much better results can be obtained
than when responsibility is divided.

Admiral Kimmel testified that so far as the authority of ComFOUR-

TEEN to accomplish unity of command was concerned, ComFOUR-
TEEN did not have the authority withont reference to him and that
he would not have approved this nor accepted the responsibility for
Army action without reference to the Navy Department.
[46] Under the Naval Base Defense Plan (Exhibit 53, NC). unity
of command was vested in the Commander Naval Base Defense Air
Force over all offensive air operations and under the Army Air Com-
mander for all defensive air operations, but only after the plan had
been activated.

(c) Weakness of “MHutual Cooperation.”’

(1) dir Commend —Admiral Bellinger testified that the weakness
of the air defense plan was that there was no one officer in command
until after the plan was activated. The Bellinger-Martin estimate
(Exhibit 49) lie believed to be sound. but said that it lacked sanction
and that the missing sanction was unity of command.

(ii) Recommendation of Joint Commond Center—In an endorse-
nent dated 6 December 1941 from the Director. Radio Liaison Divi-
sion. to the Director, Naval Districts Division, advocating a combined
¢perating center for the Army and Navy at Pearl Harbor (which was
not established prior to the attack). Admiral Hooper stated “The
niost perfect set-up for command is one in which the supreme com-
mander is exercised by one officer best equipped of any for the
task . . . Because our defense is under two oflicers, Army and Navy,
we must try and arrange matters so that when component parts of the
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commands are interwoven these two can function as nearly as possible
as one.” (Exhibit 77). _

The recommendation for a Joint Command Center in Hawali was
originated by a dispatch from OpNav to ComFOURTEEN on 15
October 1941 (Exhibit 77), requesting that consideration be given
to the construction of a combined operating center suflicient in size and
facilities to accommodate in time of emergency stafls of all essential
operating activities of both Army and Navy in Hawaii.  An informal
joint working committee had been formed m Washington to endeavor
to improve cooperation of Army and Navy shore defense activities by
the formation of joint command centers. A reply to the above-men-
tioned dispatch strongly recommending against such a move is con-
tained in a letter from ComFOURTEEN to CNO, via CincPac, enclos-
ing a letter from General Short to ComFOURTEEN and an endorse-
ment by CincPac,

General Short stated that while he was strongly in favor of com-
bined operating centers for equivalent units of Army and Navy forces,
hie did not believe that all of the operating centers should be comibined
into one single building, because 1t was necessary that Army liead-
quarters be located in separate command posts for efliciency of indi-
vidual operation. It was also undesirable from the commumnication
and security standpoint. He suggested that, as an alternative, addi-
tional space for Navy units be constructed adjacent to the existing
command posts for equivalent Army units.

[471] In the basic letter (IExhibit 77) ComFOURTEEN recom-
mended that no steps be taken to concentrate the Army and Navy
in a common building and believed that the best interests of the CinC
Pacitic Fleet would be served by one building with only agencies of
the Ileet therein.

The CinCPacific Fleet. in his endorsement to this letter stated that

the mission of the Army and the Fleet were considerably different, the
operation of one being defensive and local, while the operations of the
other were offensive and far-fling. Strategic, rather than tactical,
cooperation was indicated and therefore the necessity for rapid re-
ceipt and exchange of information and arrival at quick decision was
of less importance. He was of the opinion that the establishment of a
combined operating center for the Army and Navy in ITawaii was not
only unnecessary, but definitely nndesirable.
. (4) Disagreement concerning Unity of Command at the Outlying
[slands—The evidence in the previous investigations and in this inves-
tigation indicates that there was some consideration of unity of com-
mand at outlying islands during the critical period 27 November to 7
December 1941.  This occurred as a vesult of dispatches by the Chief
of Naval Operations to CinePac on 26 November 1941 (Exhibits 18 and
40, Naval (jourt%, in which it was advised that the Army had agreed
to reenforce Midway and Wake with Arny personnel and to station
25 Army pursuit planes at Midway and 25 at Wake provided that
Admiral Kimmel considered this feasible and desirable. It was stated
that it would be necessary for Admiral Kimmel to transport these
planes and ground crews from Oahu to Midway and Wake on aireraft
carriers, that the planes would be flown off at destination and that the
ground crews would be landed in boats. Admiral Kimmel was di-
rected to confer with the Commanding General concerning this mat-
ter, and to advise as soon as practicable.
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It appears that this subject was considered at some length in con-
ferences held by Admiral Kimmel on and after 27 November 1941.
The discussion of unity of command as to these islands was summar-
izedd by Vice Admiral Smith in his testimony in this investigation.
He said that Admiral Kimmel asked the Army what he could expect
of Army fighters at Walke, and that General Martin of the Army Aiv
Force replied that the Army did not allow such planes to go more than
15 miles offshore. Admiral Kimmel then stated that the Army planes
were, therefore, no good to him.

General Short stated that if he manned those islands, he must com-
mand them and “Kimmel replied. ‘Over my dead body. The Army
should exercise no command over Navy bases.” General Short replied,
“Mind you, T don’t want these islands. T think they are better manned
by Marines. But if T must put planes and troops on them, then I must
command them.”” (Page 352, record of this investigation).

[48] Admiral Kimmel’s concern over the question of command
at the outlying islands was indicated by his dispatch of November
98th to the Chief of Naval Operations, advising of the proposed reen-
forcement of Midway and Wake with Marine ﬁghter planes and that
he would investigate more thoroughly the feasibility and practica-
bility of relieving them with Army planes. In this dispateh he
stated, “All outlying forces must be exclusively under Naval com-
mand?” (Exhibit 76, Naval Court). Similarly, in a letter of 2 December
1941 to Admiral Stark (Exhibit 50 of the Naval Court), Admiral Kim-
mel advised that the dispatches in regard to the use of Army personnel
were being given earnest consideration, that he believed Admiral
Stark would subseribe to the prineiple that all these outlying islands
must be under Navy command and the forces there subject to the
orders of the Commander-in-Chief without any qualifications what-
soever, and that he expected some difficulties along this line when
Army personnel were injected into the picture unless a very clear
directive were issued jointly by the War and Navy Departments.

It appears that Midway and Wake were reenforced with squadrons
of Marine planes, and that therefore, unity of command under the
Navy, actually existed at those islands. No solution of the command
prolﬂe31, in the event of possible-future inclusion of Army forces, was
reached.

[49] FINDINGS

1. The basic assumption of the Rainbow Five War Plan was that the
United States and her Allies would be at war with the Axis Powers,
either including or excluding Japan.

9. The Navy Basic War Plan (Rainbow Five) assigned various
offensive tasks to the Pacific Fleet, including the capture of positions
in the Marshalls and raids on enemy sea communications and positions,
and various defensive tasks, including the task of protecting the terri-
tory of the Associated Powers in the Pacific area and preventing the
extension of enemy military power into the Eastern Hemisphere by
destroying hostile expeditions.

3. The Pacific Fleet Operating Plan (Rainbow Five) assigned to the
Fleet various initial tasks. including the maintenance of fleet security
at the bases, at anchorages, and at sea, the protection of the communi-
cations and territory of the Associated Powers by patrolling with light
forces and patrol planes, the establishment of defensive submarine
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gatrols at Wake and Midway, and guarding against surprise attack by
apan.

4. The Pacific Fleet Operating Plan (Rainbow Five) and annexes
included among the initial tasks to be performed by the patrol planes
the maintenance of the maximum patrol plane search practicable in
the approaches to the Hawaiian area.

5. The Pacific Fleet Operating Plan was to be put into effect on
W-day, which, it was stated, miglht or might not coincide with the day
that hostilities opened with Japan. W-day was not fixed prior to the
attack.

6. The Joint Coastal Frontier Defense Plan, Hawaiian Theater, was
based on the Joint Army and Navy Basic War Plans. It constituted
the basis of subsidiary peace and war projects, joint operating plans,
and mobilization plans. The method of coordination under the plan
was to be by mutual cooperation nntil and unless unity of command
were invoked.

7. Under the Joint Coastal Frontier Defense Plan the Army’s task
was to hold Oahu against attacks by sea, land and air forces, and
against hostile sympathizers. and to support the naval forces. The
Navy’s task was to patrol the coastal zone (which included Oahu and
such adjacent land and sea areas as were required for the defense of
Qahu), and to patrol and protect shipping therein, and to support the
Army forces.

8. One of the specific tasks assigned to the Navy in the Joint Coastal
Frontier Defense Plan was that the Commandant, FOURTEENTH
Naval District, should provide for distant reconnaissance.

[50] 9. The Joint Coastal Frontier Defense Plan was placed in
effect on 11 April 1941 by the Commanding General, Hawaiian De-
partment. and by the Commandant. FOURTEENTH Naval District.

10. Annex VIL, Section VI, to the Joint Coastal Frontier Defense
Plan was an agreement between the Commandant, FOURTEENTH
Naval Distriet, and the Commading General, Hawaiian Department,
as to joint defensive measures for the security of the Fleet and for
the Pearl Harbor Naval Base against hostile raids or air attacks
delivered prior to a declaration of war.

11. Annex VII, Section VI. to the Joint Coastal Frontier Defense
Plan provided. among other things, for joint air operations and
providled that when naval forces were insuflicient for long distance
patrol and search operations and Army aireraft were made available,
the latter would be under the tactical control of the naval com-
mander directing search operations.

12. Annex VII. Section T, to the Joint Coastal Frontier Defense
Plan, also provided that the Army was to expedite the installation
of its aireraft warning service. und that prior to the completion of
that service. the Navy. through th use of radar and other appropriate
means, would endeavor to give such warning of hostile attacks as
might be practicable.

13. Annex VII, Section VI. of the Joint Coastal Frontier Defense
Plan provided that when the Commanding General and ComFOUR-
TEEN agreed that the threat of a hostile raid or attack was suffi-
ciently imminent to warrant such action, each commander would take
steps to make available to the other the air forces at his disposal, in
order that joint operations might be conducted in accordance with
the plan.
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14. The Commanding General and ComFOURTEEN did not
effect any agreement prior to the attack that the threat of a hostile
raid or attack was sufficiently imminent to warrant placing Annex
VII, Section VI, in operation.

15. 'The Naval Base Defense Force Operation Plan provided,
among other things, for a Base Defense Air Force in conjunction
with the Army. One of the assumptions was that it was possible
that a declaration of war might be preceded by a surprise air attack
on ships in Pearl Harbor, that it was probable that there might he a
surprise submarine attack on ships in the base area, and that a com-
bination of both forms of attack was possible.

16. The joint estimate by Admiral Bellinger and General Martin
stated, among other things, that the most likely and dangerous form
of attack on Oahu would be an air attack that would most likely be
launched from carriers which would probably approach inside of
three hundred miles. The estimate also stated that any single sub-
marine attack might indicate the presence of considerable undis-
covered surface forces, probably composed of [471] tast ships
accompanied by a carrier. This Estimate came to the attention of
Admiral Kanmel and Admiral Bloch.

17. The Naval Base Defense Air Force Plan was prepared by
Admiral Bellinger and approved by Admiral Bloch. This plan,
which was designated Annex “Baker” to the Naval Base Defense
Force Operation Plan, made specific provision for joint air opera-
tions by the Army and Navy. The Plan was effective upon receipt.
It was to become operative without signal in the event of a surprise
attack, or might be made operative by dispatch. In the meantime
condittons of readiness of aiveraft were to be as directed by the Com-
manding General, Hawaiian Department, for Army units, and by
‘ComFOURTEEN, as Naval Base Defense Officer, for Navy units,

18. The Pacific Fleet letter on security of the Fleet at base and
in operating areas, which was reissued by Admiral Kimmel in re-
vised form on 14 October 1941, provided that the Fleet’s security
was predicated on several assumptions, one of which was that a
declaration of war might be preceded by a surprise attack on ships
in Pearl Harbor, a surprise submarine attack on ships in the operat-
ing areas, or a combination of the two. This letter also stated that
a single submarine attack might indicate the presence of a consider-
able surface force probably composed of fast ships accompanied by
a carrier.

19. The Pacific Fleet security letter prescribed security measures,
including provisions for defense against air attack. It provided,
among other things, that ComFOURTEEN, as Naval Base Defense
Officer, should exercise with the Army joint supervisory control over
the defense against air attack and that he should take other action,
including supervisory control over naval shorve-based aireraft, and
arrange through the Conunander of Patrol Wing Two for coordina-
tion of the joint air effort by the Army and the Navy.

20. Under the Pacific Fleet security letter, the security measures
were to include intermittent patrols to consist of a destroyer off-
shore patrol, and an air patrol. The air patrol was to consist of
daily search of fleet operating aveas as directed by Aircraft Sconting
Force, one covering the entry or sortie of a fleet or task force, and
one during the entry or departure of a heavy ship at other times.
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21. The only local defense pluns in effect and operative prior to
the attack of 7 December 1941 were the Joint Coastal Frontier De-
fense Plan, under which the Navy was obliged to provide distant
reconnaissance, and the Pacific Fleet security Tet.ter, under which the
only aireraft patrol from Oahu was a daily search of fleet operating
areas, a search during entry or sortie of a fleet or task force, and
during the entry or departure of a heavy ship at other times.

[52] 22, The Pacific Fleet Operating Plan (Rainbow Five), ap-
proved by the Chief of Naval Operations, m estimating probable
enemy (Japanese) action, visnalized that one of the enemy defensive
ctforts wonld be “destruction of /ireatening naval forces™; that initial
action would include “possible raids or stronger attacks on Wake,
Midway, and other outlying United States positions”; and that the
imital Japanese deployment would inelude “raiding and observation
forces widely distributed in the Pucific, and that submarines in the
Hawaitun area . . . ." (Italics supplied.{ The possibility of an at-
tack on Hawaii was, therefore, included but in no way emphasized.

23, Admival Kimuiel was of the opiton. throughout his tenure of
command of the Pacitic Fleet, that a surprise air attack on Pearl
Harbor was a possibility. Neither he nor the key members of his staft
appear to have considered it as a sevious probability.

24, The method of command established in the local plans was that
of “mutual cooperation.” The relations between the responsible com-
manders were cordial. However, there was not in existence, prior to
the attack, any permanent operating setup which could ensure the
constant and trnely exchange of information, decisions, and intended
courses of action so essential to the efficient conduct of joint operations,
particularly in an emergency. .\ recent proposal looking to the es-
tablishment of a Joint Command Center had been the subject ofy
adverse recommendations by the responsible local commanders, both
Army and Navy.

25. In accordance with “Joint Action,” unity of command for the
defense of Oalm could have been placed in effect by local agreement
between the Commanding General of the Hawalian Department and
the Commandant of the FOURTEENTH Naval District. The latter,
however, would naturally not make such an agreement without the
approval of his immediate superior. the Commander-in-Chief, Pa-
cific Fleet. The question of unity of command for outlying islands
was discussed between Admiral Kimmel and General Short in con-
nection with a propoesal for reenforcement of Wake and Midway by
Army planes. General Short’s position was that if Army forces were
mvalved. the command must be his.  Admiral Iimmel maintained that
the command of naval bases must remain with the Navy. The islands
were reenforced with Marine planes.

[53] 1T
Jaraxese EsrroNnace ar Hawan

The center of Japanese espionage at Hawaii was the Japanese Con-
sulate General located in Honolulu. As a matter of regular routine,
information was collected by the Consulate General concerning the
location and movements of United States ships in and around Pearl
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Harbor and concerning defense preparations. This information was
forwarded by the Japanese Consulate General to Tokyo and elsewhere
in coded messages sent via commercial communication companies.
A collection of such messages, which has been decrypted and trans-
lated. appears in Exhibit 13 of this investigation and in Exhibit 63
of the Naval Court. This collection of messages does not include every
such message, but does fully illustrate the type of espionage reports
which were made. Subsequent to the attack, the incoming and out-
going message log of the Japanese Consulate General at Honoluln
was recovered and translated. These logs indicate the nature of all
of the communications to and from the Japanese Consnlate General
and show the frequency with which espionage reports were sent by
the Consul during 1941. A copy of the log is set forth in Exhibit 62.

It is to be noted that the espionage reports submitted during 1941
by the Japanese Consulate General became increasingly more detailed
and. in the first week of December, 1941, indicated the likelihood of
a surprise attack on Pearl Harbor. The possession of all of those
messages by the American intelligence services prior to the attack
would have been of inestimable value. Some of them, as will appear
later. were obtained prior to the attack. Those obtained, however,
although indicating Japanese interest in the location and movements
of ships in and from Pearl Harbor, did not include those messages,
particularly during the first week of December, 1941, which indi-
cated the likelihood of an air attack. Tt may also be noted at this
point that those Consulate messages which were obtained prior to 7
December 1941 were decrypted and translated in Washington but
not at Pearl Harbor.

Ilustrative of the type of message sent earlier in 1941 is a report
from Honolulu to Tokyo. dated 10 March 1941, which describes various
vessels seen in Pearl Harbor (Translated by Navy, April 5—Docu-
ment 1, Exhibit 13). The Japanese interest in the location of ships
in parteiular aveas of Pearl Iarbor is demonstrated by a dispatch from
Tokvo to Honolulu. dated 24 September 1941, requesting reports of
vessels in five sub-areas of Pearl Harbor, and requesting reports of
warships and aireraft carriers at anchor and tied up at wharves,
buoys and docks. Particular request was made for mention of the
fact when there were two or more vessels alongside the same wharf
(Army translation, October 9—Document 2, Exhibit 13). The Jap-
anese Consul at Honolulu establishied a code to refer to the location
of vessels in particular areas (Navy translation. October 10—Docu-
ment 3, Exhibit 13). Tokyo on 18 November 1941 requested a report
on vessels anchored in certain arveas and it divected that the investi-
gation be made with great secrecy (Army translation, December 2—
Document 9, Exhibit 13). A report was sent by Honolulu te Tokyo
on 18 November 1941 setting forth the warships in the harbor in
certain areas, commenting on the [54] presence or absence ot
aireraft carriers, and describing in detail the course of certain de-
stroyers which were observed entering the harbor (Army transla-
tion, December 6—Document 10, Exhibit 13). On November 20th,
Tokyo requested a comprehensive investigation of the Fleet bases
in the neighborhood of the Hawaiian mﬁitm'y reservation (Army
translation, December 6—Document 7, Exhibit 13). '
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On 24 November 1941, Honolulu reported to Tokyo concernin
the Fleet practice of leaving Pearl Iarbor, conducting maneunvers, ang
returning ; that the Fleet had not remained for a long period of time
nor conduected maneuvers at Lahaina Road; that destroyers and sub-
marines were the only vessels anchored there; that battleships seldom
entered the port of Hilo, Hanalei or Haneo ; that virtually no one had
observed battleships in maneuver areas; and, stated that the Fleet
maneuvered for one week at sea, either to the south of Maui or to the
southwest and pointed ont that aireraft carriers maneuvered by them-
selves. This also mentioned the times when cruisers and other ships
left Pearl Harbor and how long they wereraway, and generally how
long they remained at Pearl Harbor when anchored there (Army
translation, December 16—Document 23, Exhibit 13).

On November 28th, Tokyo requested intelligence, which was de-
seribed as being of major importance, concerning the movements of
battleships ont of the harbor, pointing out that if such movements
were reported but once a week, the vessels conld have traveled far,
and that Honolulu was to use its own judgment in deciding on reports
covering such movements. As to capital ships, it was requested that
reports of the entrance or departure and length of time at anchor
from the time of entry into port until departure be made (Army
translation, December S—Document 13, Exhibit 13). On November
28th, Honolulu reported to Tokvo concerning the B-17 planes at Mid-
way and range of anti-aireraft guns, observations of maneuvers by
troops, prospective reinforcements of troops at Honolulu during De-
cember or January, and advised of the presence of a cruiser usually
about 15,000 feet south of Pearl Harbor and one or two destroyers
at the entrance of the harbor (Army translation, December S—Docu-
ment 16, Exhibit 13).

The messages sent by the Japanese Consul during the week of 1
December to 7 December 1941, are of particular significance. A mes-
sage of December 1st reported on ship manenvers and deseribed the
place where maneuvers were held as about 500 nantical miles south-
east of Oahu, and stated the reasons why that conclusion had been
reached. This message set forth the “nsual” schedule for departure
and return of the battleships and stated that they left on Tuesdays
and returned on Fridays, or left on Friday and returned on Saturday
of the following weel, and that all ships stayed in port about a period
of one week. In view of their importance, five other messages sent
during the first week in December, 1941, are quoted in full:

From: Tokyo (Togo)

To: Honolulu

JI_)e]%ember 21941 (transtated by Army 30 December 1941)
#123 (Seeret outside the department)

In view of the present situation, the presence in port of warships, airplane
carrviers and cruisers is of [55] utmost importance. Hereafter, to the
utmost of your ability, let me know day by day. Wire me in each case whether
or not there are any observation balloons above Pearl Harbor or if there are any

indications that they will be sent np. Also advise me whether or not the
warships are provided with antimine nets,
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From : Honolulu (Kita)

To: Tokyo

3 December 1941. (Trauslated by Navy 11 December 1941)

(PA-K2) )

#245 (in 2 parts, complete) (Military Secret).
From Ichiro Fujii to the Chief of #3 Seetion of Military Staff readquarters.
1. I wish to change my method of communicating by tdﬂ'nah to the following :
L. Arrange the eight signals in three columns as fo]luws:

Meaning Signa
Battleship divisions including scouts | Preparing tosortie. ... . . L S . 1
and screen units.
A number of carriers. ... ____.... Preparing to sortie. ... (- R 2
Battleship divisions.._._ All departed between 1st and ard . AT 3
Can‘iers“...___--..-. Several departed between 1st and 3rd. s 4
(s ats B e R All departed between 1st and 3rd . __ 3 5
Battleship divisions .} All departed between 4th and 6th . 6
Carriers Several departed between 4th and it 7
Carriers All departed between 4th and 6th_. . ... 8

I

2. Signals.
I. Lapikai Beach House will show lights during the night as follows:
Signal
[56] Onelightbetween 8and O p. mo - . ___ 1
Gne Tiaht hetweer' O Hnd 10 p i e 2
e disb Shetvaar 0 and gt e S
One light between 11 and 12 p. m SO O e 4
11

Twarlishts hetweendZand l o oo — oo oo o o0 e 5
Two lights between 1 and 2 a. m_ S . = ]
avolightybetween 2and 8 a . m— —oaee o T
Hhvophinthaetweenm @ and o G e e S
(Part 2)

III. Lanikai Bay, during daylight.
If there is a “star’” on the head of the sail of the Star Boat it indicates
signals 1, 2, 3, or 4.
If there is a “star” and a Roman numeral IIX it indicates signal 5, 6. 7, or 8.
IV. Lights in the attic window of Kalama House will indicate the fullowmg
Times Signal
1900-2000. - ———— 3
SR e P L e e 4
= L S L e e 1 S 5
2200-2300 G R, 6
I
8

2300-2400_ A .
O S o S

V. K. G. M. B. Want Ads.

A. Chinese rug ete. for sale, apply P. O. box 1476 indicates signal 3 or 6.

B. CHIC. . CO farm ete. apply P. O. box 1476 indicates signal 4 or 7.

C. Beauty operator wanted ete. apply P, O. box 1476 indicates sigual 5 or 8.

3. If the above listed signals and wireless messages cannot be made from
Oahu, then on Maui Island, 6 miles to the northward of Kula Sanatorium at a
point halfway between Lower Kula Road and Haleakala Road (latitude 20°40°
N., longitude 156°19" W., visible from seaward to the southeast and southwest
of Maui Island) the following signal bonfire will be made daily until your EXEX
signal is received:

[57] Time Signal
3 Epae e e e S e 3 or 6
From 8—9 4007

From 9—10_____ s e 5 or 8
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From: Honoluln
To: Tokyo
5 December 1941 (Transtated by Navy 10 December 1941)
(PA-K2)
#7252
(1) During Friday morning, the Hth, the fhree battleships mentioned in my
message #239 arrived here. They had been at sea for eight days.
(2) The Lexington and five heavy cruisers left port on the same day.
(3) The following ships were in port on the afternoon of the 5th:
8 battleships.
3 light cruisers.
16 destroyers.
Four ships of the Honolulu elassand —___________ were in dock.

From : Honolulu

To: Toyko

December 6, 1941 (Translated by Army 8 December 1041)
PA-K?2

#2538 Re the last part of your #123.

1. On the American Continent in October the Army began fraining barrage
balloons troops at Camp Davis, North Carolina. Not only Lave they ordered four
or five hundred ballons, but if-is understood that they are considering the use of
these balloons in the defense of Hawaii and Panama., In so far as Hawaii is
concerned, though investigations have been made in the neighborhood of Pearl
Harbor, they have not set up mooring equipment, nor have they selected the
troops to man thent. Furthermore, there is no indication that any training for
the maintenance of balloons is being nndertaken. At the present fime there are
no signs of barrage balloon equipment. In addition, it is difficult to imagine that
they have aetually any. However, even though they have actually [58]
made preparations, hecause they must control the air over the water and land
runways of the airports in the vicinity of Pearl Harbor, Hickam, Ford and Ewa,
there are limits to the balloon defense of Pearl Harbor. I fmagine that in all
probability there is considerable opportunity left to take advantage for a surprise
attack against these places.

2. In my opinion the battleships do not have torpedo nets. The details are
not known. I will report the results of my investigation.

From : Honolulu.

To : Tokyo

December G, 1041  (Translated by Army 8 December 1941)
PA-K2

#2656

1. On the evening of the 5th, among the battleships which entered port were
____________ and one submarine tender. The following ships were observed at
anchor on the 6th: :

9 battleships, 8 light cruisers, 3 submarine tenders, 17 destroyers, and in addi-
tion there were 4 light cruisers, 2 destroyers lying at docks (the heavy cruisers
and airplane carriers have all left).

2. It appears that no air reconnaissance is being condueted by the fleet air arm.

[69] FINDINGS

26. Japanese espionage at Pearl Harbor was effective and, partieu-
larly during the critical period 27 November to T December 1941,
resulted in the frequent transmission to Japan of information of great
importance concerning the Pacifie Fleet, the movements and loeations
ot ships, and defense preparations.

27, Certain reports sent by the Japanese Consul General via a com-
mercial communications company at Honolulu in the week preceding
the attack indicated the likelihood of an air attack on Pearl Harbor.

28. Tt will appear subsequently that various coded messages sent
by the Japanese Consul General at Honolulu, which did not indicate
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the likelihood of an air attack on Pearl Havbor, were intercepted by
Army and Navy radio intercept stations and were decoded in Wash-
ington, D. C., prior to the attack; that others which were obtained
at Honolulu by Naval Intelligence prior to the attack were, with the
exception of a few unimportant messages, in a code which could not
be decrypted theve before December Tth; and, that three messages
mtercepted by Army radio intercept stations at Hawaii and at
San Francisco, which immdicated the likelihood of an air attack, were
forwarded to the War Departiient for decryption but were either not
receivecd there prior to the attack or were not decrypted prior to the
attack. If the United States intelligence services had been able to
obtain and to decode and translate promptly all of the espionage ve-
ports sent by the Japanese Consul General during the period 27
November to 7 December 1941, the information so obtained would
liave been of inestimable value.

I

Navarn INTELLIGENCE AND EVENTS PRELIMINARY TO THE ATTACK

[Gar] A. The Organization of Naval Intelligence in Generaly
Sourees of Information, and Relations with the Pacifie
Flect.

The Office of Naval Intelligence, which was under the Chief of
Naval Operations, consisted of two main branches—Domestic and
Foreign. The Domestic Branch had to do with internal espionagé
and other subversive activities of foreign nationals or organizations
inimical to national and particularly naval welfare. It maintained
branch offices in various of the principal cities of the United States,
including Honolulu. The Foreign Branch was organized into a num-
ber of sections, of which one was the Far Eastern Section. The
Director of Naval Intelligence was Rear Admiral T. S, Wilkinson, Jr.
The officer in charge of the Far Eastern Section of the Foreign Branch
was Commander Arvthur H. McCollum.

The primary sources of information which the Far Eastern Section
had were Naval Attache reports from Japan and China, observers’
reports from various ports in the Far East, rveports from the Com-
mander-in-Chief of the Asiatic Fleet and from the Commander-in-
Chief of the Pacific Fleet, including reports as to radic intelligence.
and reports of investigations conducted by the domestic branch of
ONI, particularly from Honolulu, and State Department reports at
Washington. A most important part of the information provided to
the Far Eastern Section was supplied by a unit at Washington known
as OP-20-G. This was under the command of Commander Laurence
T, Safford and supplied information obtained from communication
or radio intelligence. This section was staffed both by Communica-
tions officers and Intelligence officers. The information received by
OP-20-G was supplied to Lt. Comdr. Alvin D. Kramer of ONI, who
was working with that section. and was transmitted by him to the
head of the Far Eastern Section and to the Director of Naval Intel-
ligence.

The section known as OP-20-G was concerned with the interception,
decryption, and translation of Japanese messages. In addition it was
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responsible for furnishing the Navy’s own codes and eiphers and for
the supervision of the security of the Navy's own communications.
Japanese messages were intercepted by various methods, including
rac]lio interception by a number of radio intercept stations located in
the Untted States. which transmitied the Japanese communications,
as intercepted by them. to OP-20-G for decryption and translation.
In addition to reports from intercept stations loeated in the United
States, this section received reports from communication intelligence
units located at Pear] Harbor and in the Philippines. This unit was
concerned with the plans and intentions of foreign governments, prin-
cipally Japan, and with intelligence relating to naval operations in the
Atlantic.  The communications intelligence organization at Pearl
Harbor. which had subsidiary statiots at Oahu, Midway, Samoa, and
Duteh Harbor. was concerned primarily with the dispositions and
[617] plans of naval forces in the Pacific and with surveillance of
Japanese naval communications. The communications intelligence
unit in the Philippines. which was located at Corregidor, was con-
cerned with Japanese naval communications and Japanese diplomatic
communications. The Officer in Charge of the communieations intel-
ligence unit at Pearl Iarbor was Lt. Comdr. Joseph J. Rochefort.
The officer in charge of the communications intelligenee unit at Cor-
regidor until September, 1941 was Lt. Comdr. Rudolph J. Fabian.
He remained thereafier assisting that unit.

Japanese diplomatie communications were in various codes, such
as the code known as the “purple” code, the “red” code, the “J-19”
code, the “PAK 27 code, and the “ILA” code. The so-called “purple”
code contained the most important Japanese diplomatic messages.
Messages in this and in other diplomatic codes were intercepted and
read ut the Philippines primarily for the purpose of local informa-
tion. They were sent, as intercepted, to the Navy Department in
one of the Navy’s own codes.  All intercepted diplomatic traffic was
sent to Washington whether or not it was deciphered and read at
the Philippines. None of this information was sent fromn the Phil-
ippines to Pearl Harbor. The unit at Pearl Harbor was intercepting
and decrypting no Japanese diplomatic traflic. It had been directed
to concentrate on Japanese naval systems. The unit at Washington
was charged with the general contrel of the units at Corregidor,
Pearl Harbor, and at Washmgton, and handled the Japanese diplo-
matie systems and also handled some Japanese naval systems.

Intercepted Japanese diplomatic traffic received by the Washing-
ton unit was pooled with similar traflic intercepted by the Army and
was decrypted and translated by the Navy and the Army on an
alternate bay basis. The resulting information was distributed daily
by ONIT to the Chief of Naval Operations, and to others in the Navy
Department. ‘I'he President and the State Department similarly
were furnished this information daily.

It appears that, although the Navy enjoyed considerable success
in deerypting Japanese diplomatic communications, the Japanese
naval codes were not being read. Information obtained by radio in-
telligence, therefore, from Japanese naval traffic was based almost
entirely on so-called “traffic analysis” and not upon reading of the
messages themselves.

The units at Pearl Harbor and the Philippines advised the Wash-
ington unit of the results of their traflic analysis of Japanese naval
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communications, and of the estimated location and movement of
Japanese naval forces, and also exchanged information with one
another on that subject. The units also exchanged information on
technical subjects, that is, pertaining to codes and ciphers and keys
for decyphering codes.

Information developed from the reading of the “purple” messages
wase not sent to the Pearl Harbor unit as such. It does appear, how-
ever, that various of the warning messages and other dispatches sent
by the Chief of Naval Operations Lo the Commander-in-Chief, Pacific
Fleet. were based upon information derived from the Japanese diplo-
matic messages. [62] Thus it appears that the knowledge of
the Commander-in-Chief of the Pacific Fleet as to the status of diplo-
matic relations with Japan depended primarily upon the messages
sent to him by the Chief of Naval Operations. The information re-
ceived by the radio intelligence unit at Pearl Harbor as to the loca-
tion and movement of Japanese naval forces was. however, brought
directly to the attention of the Commander-in-Chief of the Pacific
Fleet daily by the Fleet Intelligence Officer. as was other material of

. o

an intelligence nature.

B. The Approach of War: Intercepted Communications Awvailable at
Washington, and Messages Sent by ONO to Admiral Nimmel.

It should be noted that the Japanese communications which were
intercepted and decoded and translated by the War and Navy De-
partments, as set forth in this section, were not sent to Admiral
Kimmel. Various of the messages sent to Admiral Kimmel by the
Chief of Naval Operations were based on these Japanese communi-
cations,

(1) The vesignation of the Japanese Cabinet and October 16th
dispateh.

On 16 October 1941, the Chief of Naval Operations sent a dispatch
to Cinclant, CinePac and CincAF (Exhibit 13, Naval Court), reading
as follows:

The resignation of the Japanese Cabinet has created a grave situation X
If a new Cabinet is formed it will probably be strongly nationalistic and anti
American X If the Konoye Cabinet remains the effect will he that it will
operate under a new mandate which will not include rapprochement with the
US X In either case hostilities between Japan and Russia are a strong pos-
sibility X Since the US and Britain are held responsible by Japan for lher
present desparate situation there is also a possibility that Japan may attack
these two powers X In view of these possibilities you will take due precau-
tions including such preparatory deployments as will not disclose strategic
intention nor constitute provocative actions against Japan X Second and third
adees inform appropriate Army and Navy distriet authorities X Acknowledge

On 17 October 1941, Admiral Stark wrote to Admiral Kimmel
(Exhibit 38. Naval Court). In this letter, Admiral Stark advised
that things had been “popping” here for the last twenty-four hours,
but from the dispatches Admiral Kimmel knew about all that they
did. He said, “Personally, I do not believe the Japanese are going
tosail into us and the message I sent you merely stated the ‘possibility ;’
in fact, T tempered the message handed me considerably. Perhans
I was wrong, but I hope not. In any case after long pow-wows in
the White House, it was felt that we should be on guard, at least until
something indiecates the trend.” .

[63]  Admiral Stark continued that Admiral Kimmel would re-
call that in an earlier letter, when War Plans was forecasting a Jap-
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anese attack on Siberin in August, Admiral Stark had said that his
own judgment was that they would make no move in that direction
until the Russian situation showed a definite trend. In this letter he
said that he thought this whole thing worked up together. He stated
that efforts would be made to maintain the status quo in the Pacific.
How long it could be kept going. he did not know, but the President
and Mr. Hull were working on it. To this letter was annexed a post-
seript, stating in part, “General Marshall just called up and was
anxious that we nmll-:e some sort of reconnaissance so that he could feel
assured that on arrival at Wake. a Japanese raider attack may not be
in order on his bombers. 1 told him that we could not assure against
any such contingency, but that I felt it extremely improbable and that.
while we keep track of Japanese ships as far as we can, a carvefully
planned raid on any of these island carriers in the Pacific might be
difficult to detect. However, we ave on guard to the best of our zﬁ)ility,
and my advice to him was not to worry.”

Also annexed was a memorandum of 17 October 1941, by Rear Ad-
miral Schuirmann. estimating the importance of changes in the Jap-
anese Cabinet. The substance of this analysis was that the military
would determine Japanese action whether to attack Russia or move
southward, and would make that decision on the basis of opportunity
and what they could get away with, and that it would not be deter-
mined by the ecabinet in power.

(2) Japanese messages concerning German attitude; Nomura's
desire to resign.

On 18 October 1941, the Navy translated an intercepted Japanese
communication from Berlin to Tokyo, dated 1 October 1941, which
stated that the Germans were becoming inereasingly dissatisfied with
Japan's position, particularly becaunse Japan was not advising Ger-
many of the negotiations with the United States. although the United
States was advising England (Document 4, Exhibit 63, Naval Court).

A Japanese message from Tokyo to Washington, dated 16 October
1941, was intercepted and translated on 17 October 1941. Tn this
Toyoda advised Nomura that althongh he had been requested by both
the German and Italian Ambassadors in Tolivo to give them confiden-
tial information on the Japanese-United States negotiations, he had,
in consideration of the nature of the negotiations, been declining to do
so. However, early in October. following the German attacks on
American merchant ships and the consequent revival of the movement
for revision of the neutrality act. the German authorities demanded
that the Japanese Governnient submit to the American Government a
message that if the Roosevelt Administration continuned to attack the
Axis powers, a belligerent situation would inevitably arise between
Germany. Italy, and the United States. which, under the Three-Power
Agreement, might lead Japan to join immediately the war against the
United States. 1t was indicated that such a message was being con-
sidered and there were reasons which would not permit of postpone-
ment (Document 3. Exhibit 63. Naval Court).

[64] On 22 October 1941, Nomura sent a message to Tokyo which
was intercepted and translated on 23 October 1941, in which he said
that he was sure that he, too, should go out with the former cabinet ;
that he knew that the Secretary of State realized how sincere he was
and yet how little influence he had in Japan; that there were some
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Americans who trusted him and who said that things would get better
for him, but that their encouragement was not enough; that among his
confreres in the United States there were some who felt the same
way, but they were all poor deluded souls; that the instructions could
be carried out by Wakasugi; that Nomura did not want to be the bones
of a dead horse; that he did not want to continue “this hypoeritical
existence, deceiving other people;” that he was not trying to flee from
the field of battle, but as a man of honor, that was the only way open
for him to tread; and that he sought permission to return to Japan
(Document 5, Exhibit 63, Naval Court).

On 23 October 1941, a message from Tokyo to Washington of the
same date was intercepted and translated, which stated that the efforts
Nomura was making were appreciated; that, as he was well aware,
the outcome of those negotintions had a great bearing upon the de-
cision as to which road the Imperial Government would proceed;
that as such it was an exceedingly important matter; that they were
placing all of their reliance on Nomura’s reports for information on
this matter; that for these reasons they hoped that he would see fit
to sacrifice his personal wishes and remain at his post (Doctiment 6,
Exhibit 63, Naval Court).

(3) Action taken by Admiral Nimmel,

Admiral Kimmel advised, in a letter of October 22nd (Exhibit 14,
Naval Court), that the action taken included maintaining two sub-
marines for patrol at Midway, dispatching twelve patrol planes to
Midway, preparing to send six patrol planes from Midway to Wake,
and to replace the six at Midway from Pearl Harbor, sending two
submarines to Wake, and sending additional Marines and stores there,
dispatching additional Marines to Palmyra, placing Admiral Pye
and his ships on twelve hours notice, getting six submarines ready to
depart for Japan on short notice, putting some additional security
measures in effect in the operating areas outside Pearl Harbor.

On 7 November 1941, Admiral Stark wrote to Admiral Kimmel
(Exhibit 74, Naval Court) in reply to Admiral Kimmel’s letter of
October 22nd. He stated, among other things, “O. IL. on the disposi-
tions which you made in connection with recent change in the Jap-
anese cabinet. The big question is—what next?!” Also. “Things
seem to be moving steadily towards a erisis in the Pacific. Just when
it will break, no one can tell. The principal reaction I have to it all
is what I have written you before; it continually gets ‘worser and
waorser’! A month may see, literally, most anything. Two irreconcil-
able policies cannot go on forever—particularly if one party cannot
live with the setup. It doesn’t look good.”

[65] (4) The first Japanese deadline message : Japanese interest
in Admerican ships. _

On 5 November 1941, the Navy translated a message from Tokyo
to Washington, reading as follows:

(Of utmost secrecy).

Because of various circumstances, it is absolutely necessary that all arrange-
ments for the signing of this agreement be completed by the 25th of this month.
I realize that this is a diffieult order, but under the circumstances it is an
unavoidable one, Please understand this thoroughly and tackle the problem
of saving the Japanese-U. S. rvelations from falling into a chaotie condition.

Do so with great determination and with unstinted effort, I beg of yon.
This information is to be kept strictly to yourself only.



436 CONGRESSIONAL INVESTIGATION PEARL HARBOR ATTACK

During the first half of November, there were translated in Wash-
ington various intercepted Japanese communications concerning ships
and planes at Manila and Seattle (Documents 1-8, Exhibit 68, Naval
Court). According to one of these messages, which was dated 5
November 1941, the Navy General Staff wanted investigation done
at Manila as to the conditions of airports, types of planes and num-
Lers of planes there, warships there, machmery belonging to land
forces, and the state of progress being made on all equipment and
establishments.

(5) Arrival of Kurusu; Stark and Marshall recommendations as
to ultimatum.

The situation existing early in November was summarized by
Nomura, in a report to Tokyo. dated 10 November 1941, intercepted
on November 12th (Document 8, Exhibit 63, Naval Court by refer-
ence to a report from the legal adviser to the Japanese Embassy, who
had conferred with Senator Thomas and Secretary Hull, that the
United States was not bluffing, that if Japan invaded again, the
United States would fieht with Japan, that psychologically the Amer-
ican people were ready, that the Navy was ready and prepared for
action. Noamnra also reported that he had a conversation with “a cer-
tain Cabinet mewmber™ who had said that Nomura was indeed a dear
friend, that he would tell him alone this: that the American govern-
ment was receiving reports that Japan wonld be on the move again
and did not believe that Nomura's visit to the President, or coming
of Kurusu, would have any effect on the general situation. Nomura
said that he had explained how impatient the Japanese had become
since the freezing. how eager they were for a quick understanding, how
they did not desire a Japanese-American war, and how they Tmped
for peace until the end. The Cabinet member replied, however, that
the President and Secretary of State believed “those reports.” [66]
Nomura also said that his friend had stated that the United States
could not stop becanse if Japan moved, something would have to be
done to save the “face” of the United States.

Admiral Stark was not hopetful that anything in the way of hetter
understanding between the United States and Japan would come from
Kurusu’s visit. His opinion was that it would be impossible to recon-
cile the Japanese and American views. Admiral Stark so advised
Admiral Kimmel by letter dated 14 November 1941 (Exhibit 39, Naval
Court). With this letter. Admiral Stark also sent to Admiral JKim-
mel a copy of a memorandum; dated 5 November 1941, by Admiral
Stark and General Marshall, for the President. This was concerned
with the belief of Chiang-IKai-Shek that a Japanese attack on IKum-
ming was imminent and that outside military support was the sole
hope for the defeat of that threat. The memorandum considered
whether the United States would he justified in undertaking offensive
operations against the Japanese to prevent her from severing the
Burma Road. The memorandum stated that the Fleet in the Pacific
was nferior to the Japanese Fleet and could not undertake an wn-
limited strategic offensive in the Western Pacific. It pointed out that
by the middle of December, 1941, United States air and submarine
strength in the Philippines would become a positive threat to any
Japanese operations south of Formosa. The recommendations were
in general that all aid short of war be given to China and that no ulti-
matum be given to Japan.
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(6) Further and Final Japanese “deadline messages.”

At this time, information was received in Washington that the
Japanese Government had established a further and final deadline
for the completion of diplomatic negotiations. This consisted of two
messages from Tokyo to Washington, which were intercepted and
translated by the Army, as follows :

(a) A translation on 17 November 1941 (Document 10, Exhibit 63,
Naval Court), of a dispatch, dated November 16th, the highlights of
which were :

* % ¥ The fate of our Empire hangs by the slender thread of a few days,
so please fight harder than you ever did before.

What you say is of course so * * * hui I have only to refer you to the
fundamental policy laid down in my #7253 (in which Togo says that conditions
within and without Japan will not permit any further delay in reaching a
settlement with the United States) * * * try to realize what that means.
In your opinion we ought to wait and see what turn the war takes and remain
patient * * * the sitnation renders this out of the question. I set the dead-
line for the solution of these negotiations in my #7386, and there will be ne change.
Please try to understand that. You see how [67] short the time is; there-
fore, do not allow the United States to sidetrack us and delay the negatiations
any further. Press them for a solution on the basis of our proposals, and do
your best to bring about an immediate solution.

(b) On 22 November 1941 (Document 11, Exhibit 63, Naval Court),
a translation of a dispateh of the same date, veading in substance:

To both you Ambassadors.

It is awfully hard for us to consider changing the date we set in my #7136.
You should know this, however, I know you are working hard, Stick to our
fixed poliecy and do your very best. Spare no efforts and try to bring about the
solution we desire. Thebe ave reasons hevond your ahility to guess why we
wanted to settle Japanese-American relations by the 25th, but if within the next
three or four days you can finish your conversations with the Americans; if
the signing can he completed by the 20th (let me write it ont for vou—twenty-
ninth) ; if the pertinent notes ean be exchanged ; if we can get an understanding
with Great Britain and the Netherlands:; and in short if everything can be
finished, we have decided to wait until that date. This time we mean it, that
the deadline absolutely cannot be changed. After that things are automatically
going to happen. Please take this into your careful consideration and work
harder than you ever have before. This, for the present, is for the information of
you two Ainbassadors alone.

(7) T'he Navember 24th dispatch to CincPac and others.

On 24 November 1941 (Exhibit 15), a dispatch (which before the
Naval Court Admiral Stark said was based in part on the “deadline”
intercept—page 775), was sent lgy the Chief of Naval Operations to
CincAF. CincPac, ComELEVEN, ComTWELVE, ComTHIRTEEN,
and ComFIFTEEN for action, reading:

Chances of favorable outeome of negotiations with Japau very doubtful X
This situation coupled with statements of Japanese Government and movements
their naval and military forces indicate in our opinion that a surprise aggressive
movement in any direction including attack on Philippines or Guam is a pos-
sibility X Chief of Staff has seen this dispateh concurs and requests action
addresses to inform senior army officers their areas X Utmost secrecy necessary
in order not to complicate an already teuse situation or precipitate Japanese
action X Guam will be informed separately

[68] On 25 November 1941 (Exhibit 47, Naval Court), Admiral
Stark wrote to Admiral Kimmel in response to his letter of 17 Oc-
tober 1941, on the inadequacy of local defense forces in Hataii
(JExhibit 46, Naval Court). Admiral Stark stated that CinePac had
taken cognizance of his responsibilities in connection with tasks per-
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taining to the Hawaiian Coastal Frontier and that the forces avail-
able in the Hawaiian area, both Fleet and local defense forces, and
the actual operations of our own and hostile forces would indicate the
numbers of Fleet vessels or atreraft required to be assigned to local
defense tasks. Admiral Stark’s letter continued by summarizing the
situation in regard to increasing the local defense forces and, among
other things, pointed out that the Department had no additional air-
planes available for assignment to the FOURTEENTH Naval Dis-
trict. .\ marginal note on a copy of this letter, apparently written in
Hawaii, stated, *In other words. look to the Fleet. They seem to
forget that the Fleet has offensive work to do.”

On 25 November 1941 (Exhibit 16, Naval Court), Admiral Stark
also wrote a personal letter to Admiral Kimmel stating, among other
things. that Admiral Stark agreed with Admiral Kimmel that, for
example, to cruise in Japanese home waters, Admiral Kimmel should
have a substantial increase in the strength of his fleet, but pointed out
that neither ABC-1 nor Rainbow-5 contemplated this as a general
policy; after the British strengthened Singapore, and under certain
auspicions oceastons, opportunity for raids in Japanese waters might
present themselves, but this would be the exception rather than the
rule. A postseript to this letter stated that both My, TTull and the
President confirmed the gravity of the situation mdicated by the
message which Admiral Stark gent a day or two before. It stated
further that neither the President nor Mr. Hull would be surprised
over a Japanese surprise attack: that from many angles an attack
on the Philippines would be the most embarrassing thing that conld
happen to us: and there were some who thought it likely to occur.
Admiral Stark further stated: “1 do not give it the weight others da.
but I included it because of the strong feeling among some people.
You know I have generally held that it was not the time for the Jap-
anese to proceed against Russia. 1 still do.  Also T still rather look
for an advance into Thailand, Indo-China. Burma Road area as the
most likely. . . . I won't go into the pros and cous of what the
United States wmay do. I will be damned it T know. T wish T did.
The only thing T do kiow is that we may do most anything and that’s
the only thing I know to be prepaved for; or we may do nothing—I
think it is more likely to be anything.”

(8) Dispatehes concerning reenforcement of Wake and Midway.

On 26 November 1941. a dispatch (Exhibit 40, Naval Court) was
sent by the Chief of Naval Operations to CincPac stating that the
Army had offered to make available some units of infantry for reen-
foreing defense battalions now on station, if Admiral Kinunel consid-
ered that destrable: also. that the Army proposed to prepare, in
Hawaii, garrison troops for advance bases which ‘Admiral Kimmel
might occupy. but was unable to provide any antiaireraft units.
Admiral Kimmel was instructed to take this into consideration
and [69] advise when practicable the number of troops desired
and recommended armament.

Also on 26 November 1941, another dispateh (Exhibit 18) was sent
to CincPac, which stated that in order to keep the planes of the Second
Marine Aireraft Wing available for expeditionary use, OpNayv had
requested the Army. and the Avmy had agreed, to station twenty-five
Army pursuits at Midway aid a simikue number at Wake, provided
CinePac considered this feasible and desirable ; that it would be neces-
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sary for CincPac to transport these planes and gromd crews from
Oahu to these stations on aireraft carriers, and that the planes would
be flown off at destination; that ground personnel would be Ianded in
boats and essential spare parts, tools and ammunition would be
taken in the carrier or on later trips of regular Navy supply vessels;
that the Army understood that these forees must be quartered in
tents; that the Navy must be respousible for supplying water and sub-
sistence and transporting other Army supplies; that the stutioning
of these planes must not he allowed to interfere with planned move-
ments of Army bombers to the Philippines: and, that additional
parking aveas should be luid promptly if necessary. A question was
raised as to whether or not Navy bombs at outlying positions could
be earried by Army bombers which might fly to those positions in
order to support Navy operations. CinePac was directed to confer
with the Commanding General and advise as soon as practicable.

(9) Intercepted Japancse communications of Novewber 2610 and
ST,

On November 26th and 27th, there were available in Washington
additional intercepted Japanese messages. all of which had been sent
from Tokyo, as follows:

(a) A Navy translation on 27 November 1941 (Document 14, Ex-
hibit 63, Naval Court) of a message to Nanking, dated 15 November
1941, in the so-called “Purple” code, addressed to “Naval authorities”
which stated :

We are now in the midst of very serious negotiations and have not reached an
agreement as yet. As the time limit is near please have them (deter?) for a
while.

(b) A Navy translation on 26 November 1941 (Document 13, Ex-
hibit 63, Naval Court) of a message to Washington, dated 19 Novem-
ber 1941, stating that:

Wihen our diplomatie relations are becoming dangerous, we will add the fol-
lowing at the beginning and end of our general intelligence broadeasts:

(1 if it is Japan-U, S. relations, “HIGASHI".

(2) Japan-Russia rvelations, “KITA".

(3) Japan-British relations, (including Thai, Malaya and N. E. 1.), “NISHI".

[70] The above will be repeated tive times and included at beginning and
end. Relay to Rio de Javerio, Buenos Airves, Mexico City, San Franeisco.

(e) An Army translation on 26 November 1941 (Document 9, Ex-
hibit 68, Naval Court). of a message to Manila. dated 20 November
1941, in the “purple” code, marked “Strictly Secret” and stating:

Please advise hmmediately the results of your investigations as to the type
of draft — presumed to be in the waters adjacent to Subic Bay. (Near Manila,
B T

Furthermore, please transmit these details to the Asama Maru as well as to
Tokyo.

(d) An Army translation on 26 November 1941 (Document 12, Ex-
hibit 63, Naval Court) of a message to Washington, dated 26 November
1941, in the “purple” code, which stated :

T'o be handled in Government Caode.

The situation is momentarily beeoming more tense and telegrams take tao
long. Therefore, will you cut down the substance of your reports of negotin-
tions to the minimum aund, on oceasion, call up Chief YAMAMOTO of the Ameri-
can Bureau on thie telephone and make your request to him. At that time
we will use the following code: (Codes were then set forth.)
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(10) The State Department note of November 26th and Japanese
reaction thereto: the war warning of November 27th.

The diplomatic negotiations with the Japanese representatives, No-
mura and Kurusu, came to a head on 26 November 1941. At that
time, the State Department presented a proposal to the Japanese
and that Department reported to the Navy Department, among others,
that it had no further hopes of composing matters with the Japanese.
The Japanese reaction to this proposal appears from dispatches which
were subsequently decrypted and translated. They are as follows:

(a) An Avmy translation (Document 17, Exhibit 63, Naval Court)
of a message from Washington (Noumuru) to Tokyo, dated 26 No-
vember 1941, in the “purple™ code and marked “Extremely urgent,”
which stated:

At 4:45 on the afternoon of the 26th I and Ambassador KURUSU met with
Secretary HULL and we talked for about two hours.

HULL said, “For the last several days the Ameriean Government has been
getting the ideas of various quarters, as well as eonferring carefully with the
nations concerned, on the provisional treaty proposal presented by Japan on
[71] the 20th of this month, and 1 am sorry te tell you that we cannot agree
to it. At length, however, we feel compelled to propose a plan, tentative and with-
out commitment, reconciling the points of difference between our proposal of
June 21st and yours of September 25th.”  So saying, he presented us with the
following two proposals :

A. One which seeks our recognition of his so-called ‘four prineiples.’

B. (1) The conclusion of a mutual nono-aggressive treaty between Tokyo,
Washington, Moscow, the Netherlands, Chungking and Bangkok.

(2) Agreement between Japan, the United States, England, the Netherlands,
China and Thai on the inviolability of French Indo-China and equality of eco-
nomic treatment in French Indo-China.

(3) The eomplete evacuation of Japanese forces from China and all French
Indo-China.

(4) Japan and the United States both definitely promise to support no regime
in China but that of CHHIANG-KAI-SHEK.

(5) The abolition of extra-territoriality and concessions in China.

() The conclusion of a reciprocal trade treaty between Japan and the United
States on the basis of most favored nation treatment.

(7) The mutual rescinding of the Japanese and American freezing orders.

(8) Stabilization of yen-dollar exchange.

(9) No matter what sort of treaties either Japan or the United States has
contracted with third countries, they both definitely promise that these treaties
will mot be interpreted as hostile to the ohjectives of this treaty or to the main-
tenance of peace in the Pacifie. (This is, of course, supposed to emasculate the
Three-Power Pact.)

in view of our negotiations all aleng, we were both dumbfounded and said we
could not even cooperate to the extent of reporting this to Tokyo. We argued
back furiously, but HULL remained solid as a rock. Why did the United States
have to propese such hard terms as these? Well, England, the Netherlands, and
Clhina doubtless put her up to it. Then, too, we have been urging them to quit
helping CHIANG, and lately a number of important Japanese in speeches have
been urging that we strike at England and the United States. Moreover, there
have been rumors that we are demanding of Thai that she give us complete
control over her national defense. All that is reflected in these two hard pro-
posals, or we think so.

[72] (b) An Army translation (Document 16, Exhibit 63,
Naval Cowrt) of a message from Washington to Tokyo, dated 20
November 1941, in the “purple” code and marked “Extremely urgent,”
Message #1180, reading :

From NOMURA and KURUSU.
As we have wired you several timesg, there is hardly any possibility of having

them consider our “B” proposal in toto. On the other hand, if we let the
situation remain tense as it is now, sorry as we are to say so, the negotiations
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will inevitably be ruptured, if indeed they may not already be called so. Our
failure and humiliation are complete. We might suggest one thingz for saving
the sitnation. Although we have grave misgivings, we might propose, first,
that President ROOSEVELT wire you that for the sake of posterity he hopes
that Japan and the United States will cooperate in the maintenance of peace
in the Pacifiec (just as soon as you wire us what you thiuk of this, we will
negotiate for this sort of un arrangement with all we have in us), and that you
in return reply with a eordial message, thereby not only clearing the atmosphere,
hut also gaining a little time. Considering the possibility that England and
the United States are scheming to bring the Netherlands Indies under their
protection through military occupation, in order to forestall this, I think we
should propose the establishment of neutral nations, including French Indo-
(hina, Netherlands India and Thai. (As you know, last September President
ROOSEVELT proposed the neutrality of French Indo-China and Thai.)

We suppose that the rupture of the present negotiations does not necessarily
mean war between Japan and the United States, but after we break off, as we
said, the military occupation of Netherlands India is to be expected of England
and the United States. Then we would attack them and a clash with them would
he inevitable. Now, the question is whether or not Germany would feel duty
bound by the third article of the treaty to help us. We doubt if she would.
Again, yon must remember that the Sino-Japanese incident would have to wait
until the end of this world war before it could possibly be gettled.

In this telegram we are expressing the last personal opinions we will have to
express, so will Your Excellency please be good enongh at least to show it to the
Minister of the Navy, if only to him; then we hope that you will wire back
instantly.

(c) An Army translation (Document 18, Exhibit 63. Naval Court)
of a message from Tokyo to Washington, dated 28 November 1941, in
the “purple” code, reading:

[i281] Re your #1189.

Well, you two Ambassadors have exerted superhuman efforts but, in spite of
this, the United States has gone ahead and presented this humiliating proposal.
This was quite unexpected and extremely regrettable. The Tmperial Government
can by no means use it as a basis for negotiations. Therefore, with a report of
the views of the Imperial Government on this American proposal which I will
send you in fwo or three days, the negotiations will be de facto ruptured.
This is inevitable. However, I do not wish you to give the impression that the
negatiations are broken off. Merely say to them that you are awaiting instrue-
tions and that, although the opinions of your Government are not yet clear to
vou, to your own way of thinking the Imperial Government has always made
just claims and has borne great sacrifices for the sake of peace in the Pacifie.
Say that we have always demonstrated a long-suffering and conciliatory attitude,
but that, on the other hand, the United States Lias been unbending, making it
impossible for Japan to establish negotiations. Since things have come to this
pass, I contacted the man you told me to in your #1180 and he said that under
the present circumstances what you suggest is entirely unsuitable. From now on
do the best you can. s

(Note: The man is the Navy Minister.) ) .
On 27 November 1941, Admiral Kimmel received a dispatch from
CNO, which has been termed the “war warning.” It read:

This dispatch is to be considered a war warning x negotiations with Japan
looking toward stabilization of conditions in the Pacific have ceased and an ag-
eressive move by Japan is expected within the next few days x the number
and equipment of Japanese troops and the organization of naval task foz_'ces
indicate an amphihions expedition against either the Philippines (printed in ink,
“Thai”) or Kra Peninsula or possibly Borneo x execute an n_;mmpimte de@ensn'e
deployment preparatory to carrying out the tasks assigned in WPL 46 x inform
district and Army autherities x a similar warning is being sént by War Depart-
ment x spenavo inform British x continental districts Guam Samoa directed take
appropriate measures against sahotage.

(11) The dispatch of November 28th
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On November 28th, the Chief of Naval Operations sent a copy of a
dispatch to CinePac for information which was received on November
29th (Exhibit 19, Naval Court), which repeated a dispateh which had
been sent by the Almy to Conumander, Western Defense Command, as
follows:

[74] Negotiations with Japan appear to be terminated to all practical pur-
poses with nnly the barest possibility that the Japanese Government might come
back and offer to continue X Japanese future action unpredictable but hostile
aetion possible at any moment X If hostilities eannet repeat not be avoided the
United States desires that Japan commit the first overt act X This policy should
not repeat not be coustruned as restrieting you to a course of action that might
jeopardize your defense X Prior to hostile Japanese action you ave directed to
undertake such recounaissance and other measnres as you deem uecessary but
these measures should be carried out so as not repeat not to alarm civil population
or disclose intent X Report measures taken X A sepat ate message is !Jemg sent to
G-2 Ninth Cerps area re subversive aectivities in the United States X Should
hostilities occur you will earry out the tasks assigned in Rainbow Five so far as
they pertain to Japan X Limit dissemination of this highly secret information to
minimum essential officers

The Navy dispatch continued that WPL-52 was not applicable to
the Pacific area and would not be placed in effect in that arvea, except as
then in force in Southeast Pacific Sub Area, Panama Coastal Frontier.
It stated further:

“Undertake no offensive action until Japan has culunntmd an overt act X Be
prepared to carry out tasks assigned in WI'L 46 so far as they apply to Japan in
case hostilities oecur.

(12) Intercepted diplomatic communications, November 2% to De-
cember 6, 191,

On 30 November 1941, there was a Navy translation of a message
from Tokyo to the hp.m(-se emissaries in Washington, dated 29 No-
vember 1941 (Document 19, Exhibit 63, Naval Court), requesting that
they make one move attempt to discuss the situation with the United
States. and to state that the United States had always taken a fair posi-
f1on in the past: that the Imperial Government could not understand
why the United States was taking the attitude that the new Japanese
proposals could not be the basis “of discussion. but instead had made
new proposals which ignoved actual conditions in East Asia and which
would greatly injure the prestige of the Imperial Government; that
the United States should be asked what had become of the "basic
chjectives that the United States had made as the basis for negotiations
for seven months; and that the United States should be asked to reflect
on the matter. The emissaries were directed in carrying out this in-
struction to be caveful that this did not lead to unything like a break-
ing off of negotiations,

I_I il Also on 30 November 1911, there was a Navy translation
of a trans-Pacific radio telephone conversation from Kurusu in
Washington to Yamamoto in Tokyo, in which a telephone code was
used (Document 20, Exhibit 63. Naval Court). This indicated that
Kurosu e\pectu([ a long message (“probably Tokyo’s reply to Mr.
Hull’s proposals™) ; that the President was returning appavently be-
cause of the speech of the Japanese Premier which Kurusn said was
having strong repercussions here; that Kurusu said that unless the
Premier and olhms used greater caution in speeches, it would put the
Japanese emissaries here in a very difficult position; that care should
be exercised, that Yamamoto said that they were bemrr careful; that
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Kurusu wanted the Foreign Minister told that the emissaries here
had expected to hear something different—some good word—but in-
stead got this (the Premier’s speech) : that the Japanese-American
negotintions were to continue: that Yamamoto wanted them to be
stretehed out:; that Kurusu needed Yamamoto's lielp to do this, and
that both the Premier and the Forelgn Minister would need to change
the tone of their speeches and that all wonld have to use some dis-
cretion; that Yamamoto said the real problem that the Japanese
were up against was the effect of happenings in the South.

There were four significant Japanese communications intercepted
on 1 December 1941, as follows:

(a) Navy translation—(Document 21. Exhibit 63. Naval Court)

From: Tokyo

To: Washington

1 December 1941
(Purple ('A)

FS64 Re my #85T

1. The date set in my wessage #FS12 has come and gone, and the situation
continues to be inereasingty critieal. However, to prevent the United States
from becoming unduly suspicious we have been advising the press and others
that though there are some wide differences between Japan amd the United
States, the negotiations are continuing. (The above is for only your infor-
mation,}

2. We have decided to withihold submitting the note to the U. 8. Ambassador
to Tokyo as suggested by you at the end of your message #1124, Please make
the necessary representations at your end only,

3. There arve reports here that the President’s sudden return to the capital
is an elfect of Prewier Tojo's statement., We have an idea that the President
did so because of his concern over the eritical Far Eastern situation. Please
make investigations into this matter.

[7¢] (b) Army translation—(Document 22, Exhibit 63, Naval
Court)

From: Tokyo

To: Berlin

November 30, 1941

Purple

#9S6 (Strietly Secret) (o be handled in Government Code) (Part 1 of 2)
(Secret outside the Department)

1. Japan-American negotiations were commenced the middle of April this year.
Over a period of half a year they have been continued. Within that period the
Imperial Government adamantly stuck to the Tri-Partite Allianee as the corner-
stone of its national policy regardless of the vieissitudes of the international
situation. In the adjustment of diplomatic relations between Japan and the
United States, sbe has based her hopes for a solution definitely within the scope
of that alliance. With the intent of restraining the United States from par-
ticipating in the war, she boldly assumed the attitude of carrying through these
negotiations,

2. Therefore, the present cabinet, in line with your wessage, with the view
of defending the Empire's existence amd integrity on a just and equitable basis,
has continued the negotiations carried on in the past. However, their views and
ours on the question of the evacnation of troops, upon which the negotiations
rested (they demanded the evacnation of Imperial troops from China and French
Indo-China), were completely in opposition to each other,

Judging from the course of the negotiations that have been going on, we first
came to loggerheads when the United States, in keeping with its traditional
idealogical tendency of managing iuternational relations, re-emphasized her
fundamental relianee upon this traditional policy in the conversations carried
on between the United States and England in the Atlantic Ocean. The motive
of the United States in all this was brought out by her desive fo prevent the
establishment of a new order by Japun, Germany, and Italy in Europe and in
the Far East (that is to say, the aiws of the Tri-Partite Alliance), As long as
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the Empire of Japan was in alliance with Germany and Italy, there could be
no maintenance of friendly relations between Japan and the United States was
the stand they took. From this point of view, they began to demonstrate a
tendency to demand the divorce of the Imperial Government from the Tri-Partite
Alliance. This was brought out at the last meeting. That is to say that it has
only been in the negotiations of the last few days that it has become gradually
more and more clear that the Imperial Government could no longer [77]
continue negotiations with the United States. It became clear, too, that a
continuation of negotiations would inevitably be detrimental to our cause.
(Part 2 of 2)

3. The proposal presented by the United States on the 26th made this attitude
of theirs elearer than ever. In it there is one insulting elause which says that
no matter what treaty either party enters into with a third power it will
not be interpreted as having any bearing upon the basic object of this treaty,
namely the maintenance of peace in the Pacific. This means specifically the
Three-Power Pact. It means that in case the United States enters the European
war at any time the Japanese Empire will not be allowed to give assistance to
Germany and ltaly. It is ctearly a trick. This clause alone, let alone others,
makes it impossible to find any basis in the American proposal for negotiations.
What is more, before the United States brought forth this plan, they conferred
with England, Australia, the Netherlands, and China—they did so repeatedly.
Therefore, it is clear that the United States is now in collusion with those na-
tions and has decided to regard Japan, along with Germany and Italy, as an
enemy.

(¢) On 1 December 1941, the Army translated an intercepted mes-
sage from Tokyo to the Japanese Ambassador in Berlin, dated 30 No-
vember 1941 (Document 6, Exhibit 13), which in substance stated :

The couversations between Tokyo and Washington now stand ruptured. Say
very secretly to Hitler and Ribbentrop that there is extreme danger that war
may suddenly break ouf between the Anglo-Saxon nations and Japan, and that
the time of the breaking out of this war may come quicker than anybody reams.
We will not relax our pressure on the Soviet, but for the time being would
prefer to refrain frow uny indirect moves on the north. . . . lmpress on the
Germans and Italians how important secrecy is,

(d) Army translation—(Document 23, Exhibit 63. Naval Court)

From: Washington (Nomura)

To: Tokyo

November 28, 1941

Purple

#1214 To be handled in Government Code.

Re my #1190.

So far silence has been maintained here concerning our talks with the United
States ; however, now the results of our conference of the 26th are out and head-
lines like [78] this are appearing in the papers: “Hull Hands Peace Plan
to Japanese”, and “America Scorns a Second Munich.” The papers say that it
is up to Japan either to accept the American proposal with its four principles,
or face war, in which latter case the responsibility would be upon Japan.

This we must earefully note.

On 3 December 1941, there was available the Army translation of
a report by Kurusu and Nomura to Tokyo, dated 2 December 1941
(Document 25, Exhibit 63, Naval Court), which stated:

Today, the 2nd, Ambassador KURUSU and I had an interview with Under-Sec-
retary of State WELLES. At that time, prefucing his statement by saying that
it was at the direct instruction of the President of the United States, he turned
over to ug the substance of my separate wire #1235, Thereupon we said: “Since
we haven't been informed even to the slightest degree concerning the troops in
French Indo-China, we will transmit the gist of your representations direetly to
our Home Government. In all probability they never considered that such a
thing as this could possibly be an upshot of their proposals of November 20, The
Under-Secretary then said: 1 want you to know that the stand the United States
tnlces is that she opposes aggression in any and all parts of the world.,” Thereupon
we replied: “The United States and other countries have pyramided economic
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pressure upon economic pressure upon us Japanese. (I made the statement that
economic warfare was even worse than forceful aggression.) We haven't the
time to argue the pros and cons of this question or the rights or wrongs. The
people of Japan are faced with economic pressure, and 1 want you to know that
we have but the choice between submission to this pressure or breaking the
chains that it invokes. We want you to realize this as well as the situation in
which all Japanese find themselves as the result of the four-year incident in
Chinga ; the President recently expressed cognizance of the latter situation. Fur-
thermore, I wonld have you know that in replying to the recent American pro-
posals, the Imperial Government is giving the most profound cousiderafion to
this important question which has to do with our national destiny.” Under-See-
retury WELLES said : T am well aware of that.” I continued: “We cannet over-
emphasize the fact that, insofar as Japan is concerned, it is virtually impossible
for her to accept the new American proposals as they now stand. Our proposals
proferred on the 21st of Juue and the proposals of September 25th, representing
our greatest conciliations based on the previous proposal, still stand. In spite of
the fact that the agreement of both sides was in the offing, it has come to naught.
At this late juncture to give thoughtful consideration to the new proposals cer-
tainly will not make for a smooth and speedy settlement of the negotiations.
Recently, we promised fo evacuate our troops from French Indo-China in [79]
the event of a settlement of the Sino-Japanese incident and the establishment of
a just peace in the Far East. In anticipating the settlement of fundamental
questions, the question of the representations of this date would naturally dis-
solve.” The Under-Secretary assiduously heard us out and then said : *“The Amer-
ican proposals of the 26Gth were brought about by the necessity to clarify the
position of the United States because of the internal sifuation here.” Then he
continued : *“In regard to the opinion that you have expressed, I will make it a
point immediately to confer with the Seeretary.” I got the impression from the
manner in which he spoke that he hoped Japan iu her reply to the American pro-
posals of the 26th would leave this much room. Judging by my interview with
Secretary of State HULL on the 1st and my conversations of today, it is clear that
the United States, too, is anxious to peacefully conelude the eurrent difficult situa-
tion. I am econvineed that they would like to bring about a speedy settlement.
Therefore, please bear well in mind this fact in your considerations our reply to
the new American proposals and to my separate wire #1233,

There were various intercepted Japanese communications of interest
available on 4 December 1941, as follows:
(a) Navy translation (Document 26, Exhibit 63, Naval Court)

From: Tokyo

T'o: Hsinking

1 December 1941

(Purple)

#893

. . . In the event that Manchuria participates in the war . . . in view of various
circumstances it is our poliey to cause Manchuria to participate in the war in
which event Manchuria will take the same steps toward England and America
that this country will take in ease war breaks out.

A summuary follows :

1. American and British consular officials and offices will not be recognized as
having special rights. Their business will be stopped (the sending of code
telegrams and the use of short wave radio will be forbidden.). However it is
desired that the freatment accorded them after the suspension of business be
comparable to that which Japan accords to consular officials of enemy countries
resideént in Japan.

[80] 2, The treatment accorded to British and American public property,
private property, and to the citizens themselves shall be comparable to that
accorded by Japan.

3. British and American requests to third powers to look after their consular
offices and interests will not be recognized.

However, the lezal administrative steps taken by Manchoukuo shall be equitable
and shall correspond to the measures taken by Japan.

4, The treatment accorded Russians resident in Manchoukue shall conform
to the provisions of the Japanese-Soviet neutrality pact. Greaf care shall be
exercised not to antagonize Russia.

79716—46-—Ex, 15T 29
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(b) Navy translation (Document 27, Exhibit 63, Naval Court)

From: Washington
To: Tokyo
1 December 1941
(Purple)
71227

(This raised the guestion of a possibility of a conference between persouns in
whom the leaders have confidence to have the make one final effort to reach
some agreement. The meeting to be held at some midway point, such as Hono-
lulu, . . It was said that this last effort might facilitate tlie final decision as
fo war or peace.)

(¢) Navy translation (Document 29, Exhibit 63, Naval Court)

From: Tokyo
To: Washington
3 December 1941
(Purple)
#8756 Chief of Office routing.
Re your #1232
Please explain the matter to the United Stutes along the following lines:
There seem to be rumors to the effect that our military garrisons in French
Indo-China are being strengthened. The fact is that recently there has been
an unusual amount of activity by the Chinese forces in the vicinity of the Sino-
French Indo-China border. In view of fhis, we have [81] increased our
forces in parts of northern French Indo-China. There would naturally be some
movement of troops in the southern part as a result of this. We presume that
the source of the rumors is in thie exaggerated reports of these movements. In
doing so, we have in no way violated the limitations contained in the Japanese-
French joint defense agreement.

(d) Navy translation (Document 31, Exhibit 63, Naval Court)

From: Washington
To: Tokyo
3 December 1941
(Purple)
#1243

If we continue to increase our forces in French Indo-China, it is expected
that the United States will close up our Consulates, therefore consideration
sliould be given to steps to be taken in connection with the evacuation of the
consuls.

On 5 December 1941, there were available translations of additional
intercepted Japanese communications dealing with the diplomatic
negotiations, as follows:

(n.) Army translation (Document 33, Exhibit 63, Naval Court)

From: Washington
To: Tokyo
3 December 1941
(Purple)
#1243
Judging from all indications, we feel that some joint military action between
Great Britain and the United States, with or without a declaration of war, is
a definite certainty in the event of an occupation of Thailand.

(b) Navy translation (Document 34, Exhibit 63, Naval Court)

KFrom: Washington
To: Tokyo
1 December 1941
(Purple)
#1225

(This is a report of conversations held by Japanese representatives with
Secretary Hull on Deceinber 1st, which referred to the Japanese Premier’s speech,
the President’s return, Japanese troop movements, and apparent agreements
as to the impossibility of reaching an agreement.)
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[82] (18) Intercepted Japanese espionage messages between 29
November and 6 December 191.

During this period there were available to the Navy and to the
Army in Washington translations of intercepted Japanese espionage
reports concerning Manila, San Francisco, and Honolulu. From
these it appeared that the Japanese were interested in the movements
of ships to and from those ports. The messages relating to Honolulu
were as follows: g

fa) On December 3rd, the Navy Department translated a com-
munication from Tokyo to Honolulu, dated 15 November 1941 (Docu-
ment 24, Exhibit 63, Naval Court), which stated that since relations
between Japan and the United States were most critical, the “Ships
in the harbor report” shonld be made irregularly but at the rate of
twice a week and that extra care should be taken to maintain secrecy.

(b) On December 5th, there was available at the War Department
a translation of a message from Tokyo to Honolulu, dated 18 Novem-
ber 1941, requesting reports on vessels in certain areas of Pearl Harbor,
and directing that the investigation be made with great secrecy
(Document 37, Exhibit 63, Naval Court).

(¢) Also available on December 5th at the Navy Department- was
a translation of a message from Tokyo to Honolulu, dated 29 Novem-
ber 1941, stating that reports had been received on ship movements,
but in the future Honolulu was also to report even when there were
no movements (Document 36, Exhibit 63, Naval Court).

(d) On December 6th, there was available at the War Department
a translation of a message from Honolulu to Tokyo, dated 18 Novem-
ber 1941, (Document 40. Exhibit 63, Naval Court), reporting on ships
anchored in Pear] Harbor and in certain aveas of the harbor, and
pointing out that the Saratoga was not in harbor and that the Enter-
prise or some other vessel was in a particular area. This message also
reported on the course of certain destroyers which had been observed
entering the harbor.

(14) Intercepted message advising of fourteen-part reply by
Japanese and first thirteen parts of reply—G December 1941.

On 6 December 1941, the Army translated an intercepted Japanese
communication (Document 38, Exhibit 63, Naval Court), from Tokyo
to Washington, which read :

1. The Government has deliberated deeply on the American proposal of the

2G6th of November and as a result we have drawn up a memorandum for the
United States contained in my separate message #902 (in English).
{831 2, This separate message is a very long one. I will send it in fourteen
parts and I imagine you will receive it tomorrow. However, I am not sure.
The situation is extremely delicate, and when you receive it I want you please to
keep it secret for the time being.

3. Concerning the time of presenting this memorandum to the United States,
I will wire you in a separate message. However, I want you in the meantime
to put it in nicely drafted form and make every preparation to present it to
the Americans just as soon as you receive instruetions.

Also on 6 December 1941, the Navy translated the first thirteen
parts of the Japanese reply (Document 39, Exhibit 63, Naval Court),
which had been sent from Tokyo to Washington in the Japanese
diplomatic code. It may be noted that the translations of parts 8
and 9 of the reply which were originally indicated as Navy trans-
lations were corrected so as to indicate that they were translated by
the Army. These 13 parts which are not set forth here, but particu-
larly part 13, disclosed that the Japanese were of the view that the
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American proposal, viewed in its entirety, could not be accepted by
the Japanese as a basis of negotiations.

The message concerning delivery of the Japanese reply, and the
first thirteen parts of that reply, were received in the Navy Depart-
ment by 3 p. m. on 6 December 1941. After decryption and transla-
tion by about 9 p. m. on December 6th, they were distributed by Lt.
Comdr. Kramer to the White House and to the Secretary of the
Navy. The Secretary of War and Secretary of State apparently
also received copies and a meeting was called of the three Secretaries
for ten o’clock on the following morning.

(15) Communications intercepted on 7 December 1941.

The Japanese communications which were translated and avail-
able on the morning of 7 December 1941 included the following:

(a)y From: Washington (Nomura)
To: Tokyo
December 3, 1941
Purple ((Urgent)
#1256. Re your #875

I received your reply immediately. I presume, of course, that this reply was
a result of consultations and profound consideration. The United States Gov-
ernment is attaching a great deal of importance on this reply. Ispecially since
{he President issued his statement yesterday, it is being rumored among the
journalists that this reply is to be the key deciding whether there will be war
or peace between Japan and the United States. There is no saying but what
the United States Government will take a bold step depending [84] upon
how our reply is made, If it is really the intention of our government to
arrive at a settlement, the explanation yon give, I am afraid, would neither
satisfy them nor prevent them taking the bold step referred to—even if your
reply is made for the mere purpose of keeping the negotiations going. There-
fore, in view of what has been elucidated in our proposal which I submitted
to the President on November 10th, I would like to get a reply which gives a
clearer impression of our peaceful intentions. Will you, therefore, reconsider
this question with this in mind and wire me at once.

(b) From: Washington

To: Tokyo
December 6, 1941
Purple (Urgent)
#1272

In addition to carrying on frontal negotiations with the President and HULL,
we also worked directly and indirectly through Cabinet members having close
relations with the President and through individuals equally influential (because
of its delicate bearing upon the State Department, please keep this point strictly
secret). Up until this moment we have the following to report:

(1) On the 4th those engaged in Plan “A” dined with the President and ad-
vised him against a Japanese-American war and unrged him to do the “intro-
ducing” at once between Japan and China. However, the President did not
malke known what he had in mind. Aeccording to these men, this attitude of the
President is his usual attitude. IRecently, when the President discussed matters
with LEWIS and settled the strike question, I understand that he did so on the
advice of these individuals.

(2) Those earrying on Plan “B” included all of our proposal of November
20th into that of September 25th and after incorporating those sections in the
United States proposal of November 26th which are either innocuous or adyan-
tageous fo U8 - . - = {Message Incomplete) e o

(c) From: Budapest

To: Tokyo
December 7, 1941
LA

#104 Re my #103

On the 6th, the American Minister presented to the Government of this country
a British Government communique to the effect that a state of war would break
out on the Tth.

Relayed to Berlin,
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[85] (d) Navy translation (Document 39, Exhibit 63, Naval

Court)

From: Tokyo

To: Washington

7 December 1941

(Purple-Eng)

#902 Part 14 of 14 .

(Note: In the forwarding instructions to the radio station handling this part,
appeared the plain English phrase “VERY IMPORTANT")

7. Obviously it is the intention of the American Government to conspire with
Great Britain and other countries to obstruet Japan's efforts toward the estab-
lishment of peace through the creation of a New Order in East Asia, and espe-
cially to preserve Anglo-American rights and interests by keeping Japan and
China at war. This intention has been revealed clearly during the course of the
present negotiations. Thus, the earnest hope of the Japanese (Government to
adjust Japanese-American relations and to preserve and promote the peace of
lthe Pacific through cooperation with the American Government has finally been
0St,

The Japanese Government regrefs to have to notify hereby the American
Government that in view of the attitude of the American Government it cannot

bnt c(.)’nsider that it is impossible to reach an agreement through further negotia-
tions.

(e) Army translation (Document 41, Exhibit 63, Naval Court)
From: Tokyo
To: Washington
December 7, 1941
Purple (Urgent—Very Important)

#907 To be handled in government code,

Re my #902.

Will the Ambassador please submit to the United States Government (if pos-
sible to the Secretary of State) our reply to the United States at 1:00 p. m. on
the 7th, your time.

(16) Delivery of Part 1} and the I p. m. message and action taken.

The evidence indicates that Part 14 of the Japanese reply, which
required decoding but not translation, was received between 0805 and
0700 on T December 1941, and that it and the first 13 parts were dis-
tributed [86] by Lt. Comdr. Kramer to Admiral Stark’s
office between 0900 and 0930, and then to the White IHouse and to the
State Department. The “1 p. m. delivery message” was not distributed
at this time. Kramer testified that he returned to the Navy Depart-
ment at about 10: 20 and found that message and certain other mes-
sages, such as a message which directed the destruction of Japanese
codes, still on hand and another which thanked the Ambassador for
his services. This material, Kramer testified, was delivered to Admiral
Stark at about 10:30, and then to the White House and to the State
Department.

The evidence indicates that the “1 p. m. message” was decrypted
and was available in Japanese in the Navy Department prior to 0700
on T December 1941, and that because there was no Japanese translator
on duty it was sent to the Army for translation at about 0700. It is not
clear when the Army returned the translation of that message. Kra-
mer stated that it was not in the Navy Department when he left to dis-
tribute the fourteen-part reply between 0900 and 0930 that morning,
but that he found it upon his return to the Navy Department at abont
10:20. It would appear, therefore, that the Army returned its trans-
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lation of the “1 p. ni. message” =some time between 0900 and 1020 on
7 December 1941. It further appears that several hours’ advance
notice of the contents of that message may have been lost because there
wias no Japanese translator on duty at the Navy Department on that
Sunday morning. and hecause it was necessary to wait for an Army
translation.

Prior investigations developed the fact that, after consultation with
Admiral Stark that morning, General Marshall sent a message to
varions Army commands, including the Connmanding General, Hawai-
idh Department. The message read: ’

Japanese are presenting at one p. m. Eastern Standard time today what amounts
to an ultimatum also they are under orvders to destroy their code muachine im-
mediately stop Jnst what significance the hour set nuay have we do not know
but be on alert accordingly stop Inform naval authorities of this communication,

The priov investigations also developed the fact that the Army radio
was unable to raise Hawaii that morning and accordingly sent that
message by commercial cable in code. The message, according to
General Short’s prior testimony, was received by the Signal Officer
at Hawaii at 1145, and decoded some fonr hours after the attack.

Whether or not the Army message would have reached the Com-
manding General, Hawaiian Department, prior to the attack if a
Navy translator had been on duty on the morning of 7 December
1941, or if the Army had immediately translated and returned the
“1 p. m. message,” is speculative. It is, morever, also speculative as
to what action might have been taken by General Short or Admiral
Kimmel had they received that Army message prior to the attack.

[87] (17) Messages sent to Addmiral Kimmel betiween 29 November
and ¥ December 19)1.

The messages sent by the Chief of Naval Operations to Admiral
Kimmel during this period dealt primarily with the destruction of
codes by the Japanese and with the advisability of destruction of
United States codes at Guam. The messages are discussed subse-
quently in this report.

(18) Admiral Kimmels failure to transmit information to subordi-
nate commanders.

[t appears from the testimony secured by Admiral Hart in his in-
vestigation that Admiral Newton left Pearl Harbor on 5 December
1941 with a powerful force consisting of the Lexington, Chicago, Port-
land, and five destroyers, to deliver a squadron of planes to Midway.
He testified that on that mission he gave no special orders regarding
the arming of planes or regarding preparation for war, other than
the ordinary routine. He said that he never saw, nor was he ever in-
formed of the contents of the October 16th dispatch concerning the
resignation of the Japanese cabinet, of the November 24th dispatch
advising of the possibility of a surprise aggressive movement by the
Japanese in any divection, including attack on the Philippines or
Guam, or the November 27th war warning. He said that except for
what he read in the newspapers, he did not learn anything during the
period November 26th to December 5th which indicated the inereased
danger of hostilities with Japan.

Admiral Bellinger, who was commander of Task Force Nine, con-
sisting of the patrol planes of the Pacific Fleet, testified in this investi-
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gation that he never saw nor did he learn the contents of the October
16th, November 24th, or November 27th dispatches from the Chief of
Naval Operations.

[88] C. The Interception of Japanese Telephone and Cable
Messages.

It appears that in Washington, D, C., the Navy was receiving
information obtained from intercepted Japanese telephone and cable
messages. For example, on 30 November 1941, the Navy decrypted and
translated a t{rans-Pacific radio telephone conversation in code be-
tween Kurusu in Washington and Yamamoto in Tokyo (Document
20, Exhibit 63, Naval Court). And, on 10 October 1941, the Navy
decrypted and translated a cable message from Honolulu to Wash-
ington, in which a code was established for reporting the location of
vessels in Pear] Harbor, which message had been photographed in
the eable office in Washington and thus obtained by the Navy (Docu-
ment 3, Exhibit 13).

For many months prior to the attack, the Office of Naval Intelli-
gence at Honolulu had been tapping the telephone wires of the Jap-
anese Consul and of the Japanese Vice Consul. For a period of time
also the home telephones of these officials had been tapped. The taps
on the lines of the Consulate were removed on 2 December 1941 by
direction of Captain Mayfield, who was then the District Intelligence
Officer. The evidence indicates that he took this action because he
was fearful that the existence of such telephone taps would be dis-
covered hy the Japanese Consul. His fear arose from the fact that an
FBI tap on the lines of a Japanese official of the NYK had been de-
tected by a telephone company employee who had advised the Distriet
Intelligence Office of this. A representative of the District Intelli-
gence Office subsequently had informed the local FBT office. Tt was
learned that the FBT office had ecomplained to the telephone company
concerning the disclosure of its tap. In light of this situation, Captain
Mayfield directed that the Navy taps be removed.

Lt appears that no important military information was intercepted
by means of the Navy Intelligence taps on the lines of the Japanese
Consulate General. IExhibits 3SA and 38B of this investigation con-
sist of photostatie copies of the notes made of the telephone conversa-
tion over the Japanese Consul General’s line and the Japanese Vice
Consul’s line during the period 1 October 1941 to 2 December 1941.

Subsequent to 2 December 1941, the Federal Bureau of Investiga-
tion apparently continued its telephone taps and in this fashion on or
about 5 December 1941 learned the contents of a teleplione conversation
between a man named Mort in Hawai and a person in Japan. The
fact of this conversation was brought to the attention of the District
Intelligence Officer, and on 6 December 1941, a transeript of the con-
versation was furnished to him and arrangements were made for a
representative of the District Intelligence Oflice to listen to the record-
ing of the telephone conversation: this, however, was not done until
after the attack. A transcript of the telephone conversation, with
marginal notes made by the District Intelligence representative after
the attack, is Exhibit 39 of this investigation. It may be noted that it
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appears from prior investigations that this conversation was brought
to the attention of General Short [89] on the evening of 6
December 1941, and apparently nothing could be made out of it and
no action was taken concerning it. There is no evidence indicatin}q
that this telephone conversation was brought to Admiral Jimmel’s
attention prior to the attack.

In the eonversation, there was mention of the flights of airplanes
daily, the number of sailors present, the attitude of local Japanese,
the local construetion projects, the size of the local population, the
precantionary measurves taken at night time, the use of searchlights
at night. the emphasis in Honoluln newspapers on the southern ad-
vance of Japan into French Indo-China, the visit of Kurusu, the
local elimate, the visit of Litvinoff, the Russian Ambassador, the
recent return of a Japanese from Honolulu to Japan, and the number
of Japanese in the United States Army. The person in Japan in-
quired for information about the United States Fleet. Mori stated
that he knew nothing about the Fleet, and that sinee they tried to
avoid talking about sueh matters they did not know much about the
Fleet. He said he didn’t know whether all of the Fleet had gone,
but that the Fleet present scemed small, and it seemed that the Fleet
had left. The person in Japan then inquired whether that was so
and what kind of flowers were in bloom in Hawaii. Mori stated that
the flowers in bloom were the fewest out of the whole vear, however
that the hibiscus and the poinsettia were in bloom. He later stated
that the Japanese chrysanthemums were in full bloom.

There is some reason to believe that the statements concerning
flowers in the Mori telephone conversation were the use of code words
indicating the absence of presence of ships in Pearl Harbor. In this
connection, the Operation Order for the Japanese task force which
attacked Pearl Harbor (Exhibit 3) provided for the use of a radio
broadeast eode in which the statement “the cherry blossoms are in all
their glory” would signify that there were “No warships in Pearl
Harbor.”  This lends support to the theory advaneed by representa-
tives ot the Distriet Intelligence Gflice in their testimony to the effect
that the primary purpose of the Mori telephone conversation over the
trans-Pacific radio was to provide information to Japanese Fleet
units whieh would be listening in on that frequency.

The espionage reports submitted by the Japanese Consul at Hono-
lulu have been previously discussed. It will be reealled that in those
caded messages eonsiderable information was given of the movement
of ships and location of ships in Pearl Harbor and of defense prepa-
rations at Oahu. Certain messages sent during the first week of
their glory” would signify that there were “No warships in Pearl
Harbor. The Japanese Consulate General at Honolulu transmitted
its messages via commercial companies using the various communi-
cations companies alternately. Dnring the month of November, the
MeKay Radio Company handled the messages primarily, and during
the month of December, 1941, RCA was transmitting the messages.

[90] Prior to December, 1941, efforts had been made by the
Distriet Intelligence Oflicer to get aceess to the files of the communieca-
tions companies and thus to secure copies of the Japanese Consul Gen-
eral’s messages. These efforts were without success, in view of the
legal prohibitions against the disclosure of such messages. During a
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visit by Mr. Sarnoff, President of RCA, the District Intelligence
Oflicer requested him to cooperate with the Navy by making such mes-
sages available, and pointed out the importance to the country of giv-
ing the Navy access to such messages.

On 5 December 1941, RCA Communications, at Honolulu, turned
over to Captain Mayfield, the District Intelligence Ofticer, copies of
some messages which had been sent by the Japanese Consul via RCA
on the third and fourth of December. These messages, with the ex-
ception of a few unimportant plamn language messages. were in code,
Captain Mayfield turned them over to the FOURTEENTH Naval Dis-
triet. Communication Intelligence Unit, headed by Lieutenant Com-
mander Rochefort, for decryption and translation. That organiza-
tion had not been working ou Japanese diplomatic traflic. Efforts
were immediately made to decrypt and to translate those messages.
The messages so received by Captain Mayfield and turned over to the
FOURTEENTH Naval District Communication Intelligence Unit
for deeryption and translation were not identified in any record made
at the time. Lieutenant Woodward, who did the decryption of them,
has identified, to the best of his recollection, the messages received on
December 5th as those set forth in Exhibit 56 and at pages T-11 of
Exhibit 56A of this investigation.

Various Japanese codes were used in the messages, including the
“LA” code, which was the simplest and evidently the least important.
The messages in that code, and the plain language messages, were
decoded and read prior to the attack. The “I.A” code messages so read
are pages 1-5 of Exhibit 56. They contained no important military
information. One, for example, reported the departure of a trans-
port and another related to the cost of sending famihies home to Japan.

The testimony of Lientenant Woodward, who deerypted the niessage,
of Colonel Lasswell and Captain Finnegan, who translated various of
the messages, of Captain Rochefort, who was in charge of the unit,
and of Admiral Mayfield, who was District Intelligence Officer, in-
dicate that no information of military importance was obtained prior
to the attack from any of the Japanese Consulate’s messages. * It has
been testified that various of the other messages received on 5 De-
cember 1941 were in a Japanese code known as the “PA” or “PA-
K2” system and that efforts to decrypt these were not successtul until
after the attack. These messages, as identified by Lieutenant Wood-
ward, will be found at pages 6-23 of Exhibit 56 (supplied by the Radio
Intelligence Unit) and at pages 7T-12 of Exhibit 56A (supplied by the
District Intelligence Office). They were as follows:

(1) December 5rd to Tokyo—Advising that a freighter in military
service departed on the second and that a named ship arrvived on the
third (p. 10, Exhibit 56A).

(2) December 3rd to Tokyo—Advising that the WYOMING and
two seaplane tenders left port. The balance of the message was not
recovered (p. 8, Exhibit 56A).

[27] . (3) December 3rd to Tokyvo—In connection witl: the
handling of expenses for steamer passage to Japan.

(4) December 3rd to Tokyo—Advising of a change in method of
communicating by signals, so that each of the numbers one to eight
had a certain meaning as to departures and dates of departure of
ships, which numbers were to be communicated by lights in beach
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houses, by the use of a sailboat, by certain want ads to be broadcast
over a loeal radio station, and by bonfires at certain points if the
previous signals could not be made (p. 12, Exhibit 56).

(5) December 3rd to Tokyoe and elsewhere—Regarding money taken
in for sale of tickets (p. 16. Exhibit 56). :

(6) December 3rd to Tokyo—Advising that the WYOMING and
two seaplane tenders departed the third (p. 22, Exhibit 56).

(7) December 3rd to Tokyo and San Francisco—Advising that a
transport had sailed for the Mainland and that a ship had arrived
from San Francisco (p. 20, Exhibit 56).

A photostatic copy of the December, 1941, bill of RCA Communica-
tions at Honolulu, covering the Japanese Consul General's messages
in November and December, 1941, was received from the District
Intelligence Office at Honolulu (Exhibit 55). This indicates that
there were four radiograms sent on November 2nd, two on November
13th, four on December 1st, and two on December 2nd.  The testimony
concerning these is to the eflect that they were not received or read
prior to the attack, that they were received later and were thought to
be in more complex codes, probably machine codes, as there were
no indicators by which they could be identified.

It further appears from Exhibit 55 that there were various other
radiograms charged to the Japanese Consul General for December
4th and 5th, and three for December Gth. The testimony concerning
these indicates that none was obtained prior to the attack.

The two messages listed on the RC.\ bill for December 4th, accord-
ing to Lieutenant Woodward, were among a group of messages re-
ceived on the night of December Tth (p. 4-5, Exhibit 56A). It was
later learned that one advised Tokyo that an English gunboat arrived
on the third and departed and that the sailors had come ashore and
had received mail at the British Consulate; the other advised that a
light cruiser had departed hastily on the fourth (Exhibit 57).

The five radiograms listed on the RCA bill for December 5th were
received after the attack and were actually two messages to Tokyo,
the second having been sent also to San Franecisco, Seattle, and Wash-
ington, D. C. The first message reported the arrival on the morning
of the 5th of three battleships, which had been at sea for eight days,
also that the LEXINGTON and five cruisers had left the same day,
and that eight battleships, three cruisers, and sixteen destroyers were
in port. The second message has not been translated. Tt relates to
funds of the Consulate General (Exhibit 57).

[92] The three radiograms charged for December 6th were
actuallty two messages in “PA-K2” code (Exhibit 57). The first, which
was translated after the attack, was sent to Tokyo and to Washington
at 6:01 p. m. on 6 December 1941. It set forth the ships observed at
anchor on the sixth and stated :

. . .9 battleships, 3 light cruisers, 3 submarine tenders, 17 destroyers, and
in addition there were 4 light cruisers, 2 destroyers Iying at doeks (the heavy
cruisers and airplane earriers have all left).

2. It appears that no air reconnaissance is being conduected by the fleet air
arn.

The other message of December 6th, which was filed at 12: 58 p. ni.
that day, was, after decryption, translated by Joseph Finnegan, now
a Captain, U. S. N., who reported for duty in the radio intelligence
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unit on the 9th or 10th of December, 1941. He translated that mes-
sage (Exhibit 57) as follows:

From: KITA

i by F. M. TOKYO 6 DEc. 41.

Referring to last paragraph of your No. 123.

1. The Army ordered several hundred balloons for training at Camp Davis,
N. (. on the American mainland. They considered (at that time) the prac-
ticability of their employment in the defense of Hawaii and Panama. Invesfi-
gation of the vicinity of Pearl Harbor reveals no locations selected for their
use or any preparations for constructing nioorings. No evidence of training or
personnel preparations were seen. It is concluded that their installation weuld
be difficult. Even if they were actually provided they would interfere with
operations at nearby Hickam Field, EWA Field and Ford Island. The whole
matter seems to have been dropped.

2. Am continuing in detail the investigation of the nonuse of nets for torpedo
defense of hattleships and will report further.

Captain Finnegan admitted in his testimony that the last sentence
of the first paragraph of his translation was an incorrect translation.
As appears from an Army translation of that message (Exhibit 5T},
that sentence, correctly translated, was as follows:

I imagine that in all probability there is considerable opportunity left to take
advantage for a surprise attack against these places.

As previously noted, among the messages turned over to the Dis-
trict Intelligence Officer and to ComFOURTEEN Communication In-
telligence Unit for decryption and translation on 5 December 1941,
was the [95] message from Honolulu to Tokyo dated 3 Decem-
ber 1941, which established a system of signals to be used from Oahu
by means of lights at beach houses, the use of a sailboat, by wants ads on
a radio station, and bonfires. This message was in the possession of
the Radio Communications Intelligence Unit from 5 December to 10
December 1941, at which time it was successfully decrypted and trans-
lated. The Japanese Consul General’s signal message of December
3rd was not only in the possession of the Navy at Pearl Harbor prior
to the attack, but was also in the possession of the Navy Department
at Washington prior to the attack. A copy of that message as con-
tained in the Op-20-G files at the Navy Department, indicates that it
was translated on 11 December 1941, and that it had been intercepted
by any Army radio intercept station at Fort Hunt, Va. (Document
929, Exhibit 13). In fact, however, that message was deerypted and
translated in rough form prior to 1 p. m., 6 December 1941, by Mrs.
Edgers. a translator assigned to the Op-20-G Unit, Navy Department.
She testified that she believed that it was shown that afternoon to
Kramed and that he examined it in rough form. Kramer did not re-
call this but did recall going over the message thoroughly on December
8th. Evidently further work on this message was deferred on De-
cember Gth because of the pressure of work on the thirteen parts of the
Japanese fourteen-part reply which were being decrypted that after-
noon and evening.

1t should he noted that a message from Tokyo to Honolulu dated 2
December 1941, was intercepted by the Army radio intercept unit at
Fort Shafter, Hawaii (Document 24, Exhibit 13). This message
stated that in view of the present situation the presence of warships,
airplane carriers and cruisers was of utmost importance, that there
should be daily reports, that there should be reports whether or not
there were observation balloons above Pearl Harbor, or an indications
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that they would be set up, and whether or not the warships were pro-
vided with anti-mine nets, The message apparently was forwarded
from Fort Shafter by mail to the Army. The Army translation of the
message bears a note that the message was received on December 23rd
and translated on 30 December 1941, by the Army. It has been testified
by Brigadier General Powell, Signal Officer, Hawaiian Department,
that no deeryption was done at Fort Shafter, but that all intercepted
trafic was forwarded to Washington for decryption and translation.
Finally, it appears that the two highly significant messages sent b
the Japanese Consul General during the afternoon of December 6th
were both intercepted by the Army 1ntercept station at San Francisco
and forwarded to the Army in Washington by teletype (Docs. 14, 15,
Exhibit 13). Both of these were in the Japanese code known as the
“PA-K2” code and are indicated to have been translated by the
Army on Monday, December 8, 1940, According to Captain Safford, the
longer message, stating that there was “considerable opportunity left
to take advantage for a surprise attack” against Pearl Harbor, and
that the battleships did not have torpedo nets, could have been de-
crypted in about an hour and a half; and the shorter message, which
stated in part that no air reconnaissance was being conducted by the
Fleet air arm, could have been decrypted in less than an hour.

[94] D. The “Winds Code” and the Alleged “Winds Message.”

In the latter half of November, 1941, the Japanese Government by
messages to Washington and elsewhere established two codes to be
used for communication between Tokyo and elsewhere. The first has
been referred to as the “winds code.” TIn that code certain Japanese
words were to be added in the middle and at the end of the daily Jap-
anese language short-wave news broadcasts and could also be used m
Morse code messages, which words would apparently be weather re-
ports. Thus, the Japanese words “HIGASHI NO KAZEAME”
which meant “East wind rain,” would actually mean that Japan-
United States relations were in danger. Words were also supplied
for Japan-Russian relations and for Japan-British relations. The
existence of this code was brought to the attention of the Navy De-
partment late in November through the interception and decryption of
Japanese messages establishing the code, and also through informa-
tion to the same effect received from other sources such as the United
States Naval Attache at Batavia. It appeared that the use of the
code words would indicate a breaking off of diplomatic relations or
possibly war between the countries designated.

The Japanese also established, late in November, 1941, a code sys-
tem which has been referrved to as the “hidden word code.” This code
was not discussed in previous investigations. The establishment of
the code was first learned through the interception and decryption in
Washington, D. C. of several Japanese diplomatic communications
which had been sent from Tokyvo on and after 2 December 1941 (Doc-
uments 6, 8, 12, 17 and 20, Exlabit 18). This code was intended to be
used, when telegraphic communications might be severed, as a means
of informing Japanese diplomats of the situation concerning the coun-
try in which they were located. Thus the word “KODAMA?” meant
Japan, the word “KOYANATI” meant England, the word “MIN-
AMI” meant United States, and the word “HATTORI” meant that
relations between Japan and another country,. to be identified by a
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code word, were not in accordance with expectations. It may be
noted that the meaning of the last word, as set forth in the Navy
translation of the “hidden word code,” differs from the meaning which
the War Department cryptanalyst testified should have been given to
the word. According to his testimony, the word should have been
translated as meaning that relations were on the verge of crisis or that
hostilities might comnence.

Prior investigations conducted by the Army Pearl Harbor Board
and the Naval Pearl Havbor Court of Inquiry resulted in findings
that prior to 7T December 1941 there had been a “winds code message”
by the Japanese in which the code words relating to the United States
were used, and that this message had been intercepted by the Navy
Department prior to the attack and communicated to the Army, but
that no copy of it could be found in the Army or Navy files. It ap-
pears that these findings were based primarily on the testimony of
Captain Safford and of Captain Kramer of the Navy Department.

It should be noted that a Japanese message using the “winds code”
words relating to the United States, if received on 3 or 4 December,
or at any other time prior to 7 December 1941, would have conveyed

no information of importance which the Navy and War Departments
did not already possess. Such a message would have indicated either a
break in diplomatic relations or possibly war with the United States.
That both the Navy Department and the War Department, and
Admirat Kimmel as well, were already aware that a break in diplo-
matic relations or war with the United States was imminent, is clearly
established by the [95] November 27th “war warning” to Ad-
miral Ilimmel, and by the repetition on November 28th by the Navy
of the Army’s warning dispatch to General Short.

In view, however, of the findings by the Naval Court of Inquiry
and the Army Pearl Harbor Board that a “winds message” relating
to the United States was received about 3 December 1941, and that no
copy of it could be found, further investigation on this point was
deemed necessary.

gl) Prior investigations.

a) T'he Naval Court of Inquiry:

In the “Addendum?” to its findings, the Naval Pearl Harbor Court
of Inquiry stated concerning the “Winds Code” as follows:

From 26 November to 7 December, 1941, there was much diplomatic dispatch
traffic intercepted between Tokyo and the Japanese Ambassador in Washington
which had a bearing on the critical situation existing and which was not trans-
mitted to the Commander-in-Chief, Pacific. A message dated 19 November,
1941, Tokyo to Washington, translated on 28 November, 1941, and referred to as
“The Winds Code" was as follows :

“Regarding the broadeast of a special message in an emergency.

“In case of emergency (danger of cutting off our diplomatic relations), and
the cutting off of international communications, the following warning will be
added in the middle of the daily Japanese language short wave news broadcast.

“(1) In case of a Japan-U, 8. relations in danger: HIGASHI NO KAZEAME:*

“(2) Japan-U. 8. 8. L. relations: KOTANOKAZE KUMORI.?

“(3) Japan-British relations: NISHI NO KAZE HARIE.S3

“This signal will be given in the maddle and at the end as a weather forecast
and each sentence will be repeated twice, When this is heard please destroy
all code papers, ete. This is as yet to be a completely secret arraugement.

“Forward as urgent intelligence.”

1 Bast wind rain.

2 North wind cloudy.
3 West wind clear, o
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[96] The Conunander-in-Chief, Asiatic Fleet, on 28 November, 1941, sent to
the Chief of Naval Operations, information to Commander-in-Chief, Pacific
Fleet ; Commandant 16th Naval District; awd Commnandant 14th Naval Distriet,
substantially the same information as outlined above, On § December, 1941,
the United States Naval Attache, Batavia, seut to the Chief of Naval Operations
substantially the same information. These messages stated that at some future
date information would be seut by Japan indicating a breaking off of diplomatic
relations or possibly war between countries designated,

All officers of the Communication and Intelligence Divisions in the Navy
Department, considering the expected informuation most important, were on
the lookout for this notification of Japanese intentions. On 4 December an
intercepted Japanese broadeast employing this code was received in the Navy
Department. Although this notification was subject to two interpretations,
either a breaking off of diplomatic relations between Japan and the United
States, or war, this information was not transmitted to the Commander-in-Chief,
Pacific Fleet, or to other Commanders afloat.

It was known in the Navy Department that the Commanders-in-Chief, Pacific
and Asiatic Fleets, were monitoring Japanese broadeasts for this code, and ap-
parently there was a mistaken impression in the Navy Department that the
execnte message had also been intercepted at Pearl Harbor, when in truth
this message Was never intercepted at Pearl IIarbor. No attempt was made
by the Navy Department to ascertain whether this information had been ob-

tained by the Commander-in-Chief. Pucific, and by other Comumnanders afloat.

Admiral Stark stated that he knew nothing about it, although Admiral Turne
stited that he himself was familiar with it and presumed that Admiral Kimmel
had it. This message cannot now be located in the Navy Departnent.

(b) The Army Pearl Harbor Board:

The “Top Secret™ and separate portion of the Annv Pearl Harbor
Board’s report referred to the ¢“Winds Message.” The report stated
that a winds execute message reading “War with the United States,
war with Britain, mcludmtr the Netherlands East Indies, except peace
with Russia™ had been received in the Navy Department on 3 December
1941 ; that the Navy admitted that that message was received prior to
December 6th: and, that the War Department files contained no copy
of the message. The report referred in this connection to testimony
by Captain Safford, who stated that such message had been received
by Commander Kramer, who had been ~ [97] — notified hy Broth-
erhood of its receipt, and that it had been seen by Safford at 8: 00 a. m.
on December 4th.  Safford stated that no copy of the message could be
tound in the Navy Department files.

The Army report further stated thut on December 5th, Admiral
Noyes mllv(l Colonel Sadtler, at 9:30 a. m., snying: “Sadtler, the mes-

sage is in.”  Apparently based on Sudtlu 5 tvbhmon) the report also
stated that Sadtler did not know whether this meant war with the
United States, but believed it meant war with either the United States,
Russia or Great Britain: that he discussed it with his superiors and
was instructed to confer with Admiral Noyes; and that he telephoned
Admiral Noyes, who said that he was too busy and would have to confer
with Sadtler later. Sadtler then saw various officers in the War De-
partment, all of whom did not think that any further information
should be sent to Hawaii.

It also appeared that the Army Board had received testimony on
this matter from Colonel Bratton, who said that Sadtler, acting on
behalf of Colonel Bratton, had "lll‘lnﬂ'ed for the FCC to nionitor Jap-
anese broadeasts. Apparent.ly Bratton testified that no information
reached him before December Tth which indieating a break in relations
with the United States and that he did not think that any such infor-
mation had reached anyone else. He referred to an FCC intercept
which was not the message tor which they had been looking.
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(2) The basis of the previous findings that there was a Winds Ewe-
cute message prior to the attack.

The basis for the Army Pearl Harbor Board finding that a “winds
message” relating to the United States had been received appears, to
the extent known by the Navy, in the above summary of the top secret
portion of the Army Board’s report. That indicates that primarily
the basis for the finding was the testimony of Captain Safford. In
addition to Safford’s testimony, there was apparently testimony by
Sadtler of a conversation with Admiral Noyes in which he referred to
a “winds message” but not to the contents of that message.

Captain Safford testified before Admiral Hart and before the Naval
Pear] Harbor Court of Inquiry. His testimony was the primary basis
for the Naval Court of Inquiry’s findings that a “winds message” relat-
ing to the United States had been received. In addition to his testi-
mony, the Naval Court of Inquiry had testimony from Captain
Kramer bearing on this subject which tended to support the finding.

In his testimony before Admiral Hart, Captain Safford said:

On the 4th of December, 1941, Commander McCollum drafted a long warning
message to the Commanders in Chief of the Asiatic and Pacific Fleets, summariz-
ing significant events up fo that date, quoting the “Winds Message”, and ending
with the positive warning that war was imminent. Admiral Wilkinson approved
this message and discussed it with Admiral Noyes in my [98] presence.
I was given the message to read after Admiral Noyes read it, and saw it at about
three p. m., Washington time, on December 4, 1941, Admiral Wilkinson asked,
“What do you think of the message?”’ Admiral Noyes replied, “I think if is an
insult to the intelligence of the Commander in Chief.” Admiral Wilkinson stated,
“T do not agree with you. Admiral Kimmel is a very busy man, with a lot of
things on his mind, and he may not see the pieture as clearly as you and I do.
I think it only fair to the Commander in Chief that he be given this warning
and I intend to send it if I can get it released by the front office,” Admiral Wil-
kinson then left and I left a few minutes later. At the time of the Japanese
attack on Pearl Harbor, I thought that this message of warning had been sent,
and did not realize until two years later, when I studied the Roberts report very
carefully, that MeCollum's message had not heen sent. In order to clarify the
above statement and my answer to a previous question, it is necessary to explain
what is meant by the “Winds Message”. The “Winds Message” was a name
given by Army and Navy personnel performing radio intelligence duties to iden-
tify a plain-language Japanese news broadeast in which a fictitious weather re-
port gave warning of the intentions of the Japaunese Govermment with respect to
war against the United States, Britain (including the N, E. 1.), and Russia. We
received a tip-off from the British in Singapore in late November, 1841, which
was immediately forwarded to the Navy Department by the Commander in Chief,
U. 8. Asiatie Fleet, with an information copy to the Commander in Chief, Pacifie
Fleet. We also received a tip-off from the Dutch in Java through the American
Consul General and through the Senior Military Observer. The Duteh tip-off
was handled in roufine fashion by the coding rooms of the State Department,
War Department, and Navy Department. The Director of Naval Intelligence
requested that speeial effort be made to monitor Radio Tokyo to eateh the “Winds
Message” when it should be sent, and this was done. From November 28 until
the attack on Pearl Harbor, Tokyo broadeast schedules were monitored by about
12 intercept stations, as follows: N. E. L. at Java; British at Singapore; U. S.
Army at Hawail and San Franciseo; U. 8. Navy at Corrigedor, Hawaii, Bremer-
ton, and four or five stations along the Aflantic seaboard. All Navy intercept
stations in the continental United States were directed to forward all Tokyo
plain-language broadeasts by teleiype, and Bainbridge Island ran up bills of
sixty dollars per day for this material alone, The “Winds Message' was actually
broadeast during the evening of December 3, 1941 (Washington Time), which
wias December 4 hy Greenwich time and Tokyo time. The combination of fre-
quency, time of day, and radio propagation was such that the “Winds Message”
was heard only on the East Coast of the United States, and even then by only
one or two of the Navy stations that were listening for it. "The other nations
and other Navy C. 1. units, not hearing the “Winds Message” themselves and
not receiving any word from the Navy Department, naturally presumed [99]
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that the “Winds Message"” had not yet been sent, and that the Japanese Govern-
ment was still deferring the initiation of hostilities. When the Japanese at-
tacked Pearl Harbor, the British at Singapore, the Dutch at Java, and the Ameri-
cans at Manila were just as surprised and astonished as the Pacific Fleet and
Army posts in Hawaii. It is apparent that the War Department, like the Navy
Department, failed fo send out information that the “Winds Message” had been
sent by Tokyo. The “Winds Message” was received in the Navy Department
during the evening of December 3, 1941, while Lieutenant (jg) Francis M.
Brotherhood, U. 8. N, R., was on wateh, There was sume question in Brother-
hood's mind as to what this message really meant because it came in a different
form from what had been anticipated. Brotherhood called in Lieutenant Com-
mander Kramer, who came down that evening and identified the message as the
“Winds Message” we had been looking for. The significant part of the “Winds
Message” read: “HIGASHI NO KAZEAME., NISHI NO KAZE HARE. The
negative form of KITA NO KAZE KUMORI”. The literal translation of these
phrases is: “EAST WIND RAIN. WEST WIND CLEAR. NEINHER NORTH
WIND NOR CLOUDY.” The meaning of this message from the previously men-
tioned tip-off was: “War with the United States. War with Britain, including
the N. E. L, ete. Peace with Russia.” I first saw the “Winds Message” about
8:00 a. m. on Thursday, December 4, 1941. Lientenant A. A, Murray, U, 8. N. R,,
came into my office with a big smile on his face and piece of paper in his hand
and said, “Here it is!" as he handed me the “Winds Message.” As I remember,
it was the original yellow teletype sheet with the significant “Winds" under-
scored and the meaning in Kramer's handwriting at the bottom. Smooth copies
of the translation were immediately prepared and distributed to Naval Intelli-
gence and to 8. L. 8. in the War Department. As the direct result of the “Winds
Message," 1 prepared a total of five messages, which were released between 1200
and 1600 that date, ordering the destruction of eryptographic systems and seeret
and confidential papers by certain activities on the Asiatic Station. As a direet
result of the “Winds Message,” MeCollum drafted the long warning message,
previously referred to, which was disapproved by higher authority, but which
the Navy Department C. I. Unit believed had heen sent. Both Naval Intelligence
and the Navy Department C. I. Unit regarded the “Winds Message” as defu_xitqu
committing the Japanese Government to war with the United Stafes and Britain,
wherens the information of earlier dates had heen merely statements of intent.
We believed that the Japanese would attack by Saturday (December 6), or by
Sunday (December T) at the latest. The following officers recall having seen
and having read the “Winds Message” : Captain I.. F. S8afford, U. 8. N., Lieutenant
Commander F. M. Brotherhood, U. 8. N. R,, Lientenant Commander A. A. Mur-
ray, U. 8. N, R, and Lieutenant (ig) I". L. Freeman, U. 8. N. The following of-
ficers knew by hearsay that the “Winds Message” had been intercepted but did
not actually see it themselves: Commander L. W. Parke, U. 8. N.; Lieutenant
Commander ;. W. Linn, U. 8. N. R.: Ensign Wilmer Fox, U. 8. N.; Major F. B.
Rowlett, Signal Corps Reserve. * * *

[100] The “Winds Message" was last seen by myself about December 14,
1941, when the papers which had heen distributed in early December were as-
sembled by Kramer, checked by myself, and then turned over to the Director of
Naval Communications for use as evidence before the Roberts Commission, ac-
cording to my understanding at the time.

Before the Naval Court of Inquiry, Captain Safford repeated in
substance his prior testimony and stated that Lieutenant Murray or
possibly Kramer brought him the message ; that he couldn’t determine
from what Navy intercept station the message had come; that he had
a vague recollection of a second “Winds Message™”, but had been unable
to find any trace of it until he testified before Admiral Hart; that
since that time he learned that the FCC had intercepted a “Winds
Message” at Portland, but that he did not recognize that message.
He did not recall any of the FCC intercepts contained in Exhibit 65
of the Naval Court of Inquiry. none of which indicated a break with
the United States, He stated further that despite repeated search
since November, 1943, no copy of the “Winds Message” could be found
in the files; that Lieutenant Commander Brotherhood had told him
that he knew the disposition of them, but did not care to tell Safford.
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Also Safford said that he knew what had happened to the Army
copies of that message through very “second hand and devious
sources.” He also repeated his prior testimony to the effect that about
the middle of the first week in December, 1944, Commander McCollum
had drafted a long dispatch which included information about the
“Winds Message,” and which dispatch had not been sent out.

Commander Kramer in his testimony before the Naval Court, said
that on December 3rd or 4th he had been shown a “Winds Message”
by the watch officer and took it immediately to Captain Saftord, who
took it to Admiral Noyes. This was a plain-language message and.
as shown to him, contained the phrase translated as “East Wind Rain”
which meant strained relations or a break with the United States.
The message had been on teletype paper and indicated that it had
come through an USN intercept station.

Among the witnesses before the Naval Court of Inquiry who testified
that so far as they knew there had never been a “Winds Message”
relating to the United States were Admiral Stark, General Marshall,
and Admiral Noyes, Neither Admiral Wilkinson nor Commander
McCollum, who were allezed by Safford to have had knowledge of
the “Winds Message,” was a witness before the Naval Court of In-
quiry. as both were at the time actively engaged in combat operations.

(8) Evidence Obtained in this Investigation Concerning “Winds
Message.”

(a) Zestimony of Captain Safford:

Captain Safford testified that in the Fall of 1943 it appeared that
there was going to be a trial or court martial of Admiral Kimmel.
He realized that he wonld be one of the important witnesses and
that his memory was vague. Accordingly, he began looking around
to get [101] information in order to prepare a written state-
ment which he could use in his testimony. He noticed that in the
Roberts report there was no reference to the “Winds Message” or
to the dispatch which McCollum had drafted. Safford then ﬁ)egan
talking to everyone who had been around at the time to see what
they could remember, and to see if they could give him leads so that
it would be a matter of fact and not a matter of memory. He talked
the thing over with various of the Army people.

Safford testified that he had written to Brotherhood and that
Brotherhood had written back saying that he didn’t care to tell
Safford about the disposition of the copies of the “IWVinds Message,”
but when Brotherhood returned to the United States, Safford asked
him about it and found ont that there had been a misunderstanding.
Brotherhood had been referring to the false “Winds Message” (Docu-
ment 2 of Exhibit 65 of the Naval Court), which apparently related
to Russia, but which was a genuine weather broadeast.

Safford stated that he had information “third hand™ concerning
the Army’s copies of the “Winds Message,” and that he thought it
might be confirmed in the testimony of Colonel Sadtler before the
Army investigation. He stated that his information from the Army
came through W. F. Friedman, a cryptanalyst in the War Depart-
ment, and that the information was that the copies of the “Winds
Message” had been destroyed in the War Department by then Colonel
Bissell on the direct ovders of General Marshall. Safford also stated
that Colonel Bratton of the War Department had had some question
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about the message and had asked Admiral Noyes by telephone for
a copy of the original of the “Winds Message,” but that Admiral
Noyes had refused to comply on the grounds that the Navy transla-
tion was correct. This, he said, should appear in Colonel Bratton’s
testimony before the Army investigation. He also stated that a Cap-
tain Shukraft of the Army knew that the *Winds Message” had been
received.

Safford testified that he had talked with Kramer shortly before his
testimony during this investigation, and that contrary to his earlier
impression, Kramer told him that the “Winds Message” and various
other intercepts relating to Japan had not been turned over to the
Roberts Commission, but about 9 December 1941 had been collected
and shown to Under Secretary Forrestal, during the absence of
Secretary Knox. He also said that Kramer told him that he did not
recall the “Winds Message” specifically. Safford also stated that the
reference in MeCollum’s message to the “Winds Message” was very
short and was the last item in MeCollum’s draft dispatch.

Safford testified that it now appears more likely that the “Winds
Message” was received early in the morning of December 4th, Wash-
ington time, rather than the night before, because the watch officers
who were on duty recollected only the false “Winds Message,” and
not the “true ‘Winds Message.”” The vagaries of high frequency
radio, he said, resulted in the message being intercepted only on the
East Coast of the United States, and that such conditions were not
unusual. He pointed out that they had to call on Corrigedor to cover
the Tokyo-Berlin cireunits because the combined efforts of intercept
stations on the East Coast, [107] West Coast, Hawaii and Eng-
land could not provide better than about fifty percent coverage, Al-
though he had no knowledge as to which Naval station allegedly in-
tercepted the message, his first guess was the station at Cheltenham,
Maryland, and his second guess was Winter ITarbor, Maine. He
stated that the logs of those stations and of the Navy Department
had been destroyed during one of the numerous moves and no record
had been kept.

Referring to the message telephoned by the FCC to Lieutenant
Commander Brotherhood at 9:05 p. m. on December 4th (IExhibit
65, Naval Court), he said that this was the “false” message which ap-
peared on the surface to use the “winds” code words relating to Rus-
sia, but which was a genuine weather broadcast. This message, he
said, Brotherhood telephoned to Admiral Noyes and later Kramer
took one look at it and said it was not what was wanted and threw
it into the waste basket. He said that that message was received twelve
hours or more after what he referred to as the “true winds message.”

Safford identified Document 4, Exhibit 65, as a true “winds®” mes-
sage relating to England. which was intercepted on 7 December 1941
after the attack on Pearl Harbor.

Safford testified that he had been advised that the Duteh had been
monitoring for a “winds” execute message, hut that prior to the at-
tack they had intercepted no such méssage.

éb) Captain Kramer’s Testimony :

aptain Kramer said that he had testified previously concerning
the “winds” message but wanted to go over that previous testimony
in the light of thinking it over since that time. He said that he had



REPORT OF HEWITT INQUIRY 463

had no recollection of a “winds” message at the time it was first men-
tioned to him, the spring of 1944, but after receiving from Saflord
some of the details of the circumstances surrounding it, he did recall
a message some days before 7 December 1941, about the middle of the
week, and did recall being shown such a message by the watch ofticer
and walking with him to Captain Safford’s office and being present
while he turned it over to Captain Safford. Captain Kramer thought
that that message had been a “winds” message, but did not recall the
wording of it, He said it might have been one using the code words
referring to the United States, as he previously testified, but he was
less positive of that now that he had been at the time of his previous
testimony. The reason for this revision of his view was that on think-
ing it over, he had a rather sharp recollection that in the latter part
of the week preceding the attack there was still no specific mention
of the United States in any of the Japanese traffic. For that reason
he was under the impression when he testified during this investiga-
tion that the message referred to England and possibly to the Dutch
rather than to the United States, although it may have referred to
the United States, too. He just didn’t recall.

Captain Kramer testified that on the morning of December Tth, a
Japanese “hidden word” code message was received and was hur-
riedly translated by him as he was about to leave the Navy Depart-
ment to deliver other messages. The message as translated by
Kramer was, “Relations between Great Britain and Japan are not in
accordance with expectations” (léxhibit 20): In his | 203 |
haste, Kramer overlooked the word “MINAMI” which was contained
in the Japanese Message and which referred to the United States.
He testified that after he returned to the Navy Department and
shortly before 1 p. m. on December Tth, he discovered his mistake
and made a penciled correction on the file copy of the translation.
He testified further that he believed that he made several telephone
calls about fifteen minutes before the attack and advised the officer
in charge of the Far Eastern Section of ONI and an officer of G-2
of the War Department. The coples of the translation in the Navy
Department’s files do not disclose any correction of the translation
(Exhibit 20). *Kramer testified concerning this that a number of
copies of the translation were made at the time, and that undoubtedly
his correction was made on another copy which has since been
discarded. :

Captain Kramer also stated that he had been under the impression
until he testified before this investigation that the “hidden word
message” of 7 December 1941 had been a “Winds Message,” but now
recognized it as a “hidden word message.” e stated that he thought
that the “hidden word message”. which he identified as having been
received on 7 December. was among the group of messages shown
to Mr. Forrestal about 9 December 1941, when he hastily reviewed
a folder of that traffic for Mr. Forrestal. This was done, he said,
because of the fact that previously Mr. Forvestal had not seen such
material.

(¢) Lieutenant Commander Brotherhood's Testimony:

Lit. Comdr. Brotherhood testificd that he was one of the four watch
officers who were on watch in Captain Safford’s section during the
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first week of December, 1941, He said that he had never received
an intercept or message wherein the “Winds Code” words relating to
the United States were used. He said that about December 4th, he
received a telephone message from the FCC in which the words ap-
parently relating to Russia were used; that he called Admiral Noyes,
who commented that the wond was blowing from a “funny” direction,
and that he, Brotherhood, did not think at the time that it was an
actual “Winds Message.” Brotherhood stated that shortly before
he testified in this investigation, he had had a conversation with
Safford who stated that Brotherhood had ealled him about Decem-
ber 4th or 5th and had told him that such a message had arrived.
Brotherhood said he did not recall the telephone conversation and
that he believed, therefore, that he had called Captain Safford at
that time.

(d) Lieutenant Commander Linn's Testimony:

Linn testified that a 24-homr watch was maintained in Captain
Safford’s section; that he was senior oflicer of that watch, and was
one of the four officers who stood that wateh during the first week in
December, 1941. Any intercept which had come into that section,
he said, would have had to come through one of the four watch officers.
He was familiar with the “Winds Code” and he never saw any intercept
[704] prior to 7 December 1941 in which the “winds” code words
relating to the United States were used.

(e) Lieutenant Commander Pering’s T'estimony:

Pering testified that he was one of the four watch ofticers standing
watch during the first week of December, 1941, in Captain Safford’s
section. He knew of the existence of the “winds” code and he never
saw any intercept using the code words relating to the United States.

(L) Lieutenant Commander Murray’s Testimony:

Murray testified that he was one of the four watch ofticers standing
a twenty-four hour wateh in Captain Safford’s section during the
first week in December, 1941. He testified that no “winds” code exe-
cuite relating to the United States ever came to his attention during
that week. He said that after the attack, Linn had told him that a
“winds” message had come in on 7 December 1941. ’

(g) Lieutenant Freeman's Testimony:

Freeman testified that he was in a section which disseminated to
ONT intelligence received from the field radio intelligence units; that
Lis unit worked very closely with Captain Safford’s unit, and that
every effort was made to monitor for a “winds” message.” Freeman
was one of the oflicers mmentioned by Captain Safford, in his testimony
before Admiral Hart, as having personal knowledge of the receipt of
a “winds” message relating to the United States. He testified that he
never knew of any intercept of a “winds” message relating to the
United States,

(h) Captain MeCollum’s testimony:

Captain MeCollum testified that he had been familiar with the
“winds™ code; that he had no knowledge of any message transmitted
which contained the words relating to the United States; that the
message which contained the words apparently relating to Russia
had been received during the first week of December, 1941, but that
in his opinion that was a bona fide weather report. He said further
that during the first week of December, 1941, he drafted a dispatch
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summarizing the situation which he wanted to have sent out; that he
remembered no reference to any “winds” message in that dispatch;
and, that the dispatch was based on a memorandum of his dated 1
December 1941 which did not refer to a “winds” message (Ixhibit 10).
He did not know whether or not his draft dispatch had been sent out.
Tt had been snbmitted to Admiral Wilkinson.

(1) Admiral Wilkinson’s T'estimony :

Admiral Wilkinson testified that his only recollection of the
“winds”? code was that some time after the attack, some one, possibly
Commander MeCollum, had mentioned to him that a message using a
“winds” code had been received. Possibly, he said, it was the message
received on the Tth using the words relating to England. He did not
recall anything about the long dispatch which MeCollum had drafted
and which [105] Captain Safford had testified Admiral Wilk-
inson had endeavored to have sent out.

i) Captain Mason’s and Commander Fabian’s Testimony:

amptain Mason, who was Fleet Intelligence Officer, Asiatic Fleet,
and Commander Fabian, who was in the Radio Intelligence Unit at
Corregidor, both testified that intensive efforts had been made there
to monitor for any Japanese broadeasts using the “winds” code, and
that nothing was received wherein the words relating to the United
States were used. In this connection, it should be noted that it was
the view of the Navy Department that the unit at Corregidor, because
of its geographical location, was in a much better position to intercept
Japanese radio broadcasts than were the units at Pearl Harbor or
Washington (see Exhibit 8).

They also testified that close liaison was maintained with British
Intelligence services in the Philippines, that the British had been
monitoring for a “winds” message also, and that had such a message
been received by the British, they most certainly would have been
advised of its receipt, but that they received no information from
the British as to the receipt of a “winds” message prior to the attack.

(k) Captain Layton’s Testimony :

Captain Layton, Pacific Fleet Intelligence Officer, testified that
he had been familiar with the “winds” code; that efforts were made
to monitor for the use of that code; and all available Japanese lan-
auage officers were placed on continuous watch on several cireuits and
were to cover all known news broadeasts emanating from Japan:
that he checked up each day with Commander Rochefort and that
no “winds” intercept was received prior to 7 December 1941, nor did
they receive any dispatch from any source stating that such an inter-
cept had been heard.

(1y Captain Safford recalled:

Captain Safford was recalled and testified that he never had a
conversation with Colonel Sadler concerning the existence of a
“winds” message. He stated that he could not recall distinetly whether
or not he received a call from Brotherhood about December 4th in
which Brotherhood advised of the receipt of a message apparently
using the Russian “winds” code words. He had had a vague idea
that there was another “winds” message, and, he said, the FCC inter-
cept seemed to fill the bill. He said further, however, that until
1944 he did not recall having seen, or knowing of the FCC intercept
in which the words relating to Russia were used. i
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(m) Mr. Friedman’s Testimony:

Mr. Friedman, a eryptanalyst of the War Department, stated that
prior to 7 December 1941 he had no information as to whether or
not a “winds” message had been intercepted. He said that he had
had several conversations with Captain Safford concerning the sub-
ject, the first one about a year and a half ago, and none later than
six months prior to his [106] testimony in this investigation.
He said that Safford had indieated in the course of the early con-
versations that there had been a “winds” message, but that no copies
could be found in the Navy’s files, and that his theory was that it
had been intercepted by a Navy East Coast station. Mr, Friedman
also testified that about a vear and a half ago he had a conversation
with Colonel Sadler. who had indieated that a “winds” message had
come in on the 4th or 5th of December: that he had been notified
either directly or by somebody in the Navy, possibly Admiral Noyes,
that the message was in; that there had been some question about
the exact Japanese words which had been used, and that Sadler had
not seen the message himself, and Mr. Friedman thought that Colonel
Sadler also told him that they had tried to get a verifieation from
Admiral Noyes but had not been successful. whereupon the G-2
authorities simply passed the matter over since there was apparently
nothing to substantiate the existence of the message. Mr. Friedman
said that he had asked Sadler whether he had ever seen a copy of
that message, and Colonel Sadler said that he had not. but that he
had been told by somebody that the copies had been ordered or
directed to be destroyed by General Marshall. Myr. Friedman tes-
tified that he regarded this as highly inconceivable, but that in con-
versation with Captain Safford lie probably just passed that out as
one of those crazy things that get started, and that he had no idea
that Saftord would repeat that statement. Mr. Friedman had no
knowledge, directly or indirectly, concerning the existence of a “winds”
message relating to the United States, apart from his conversations
with Captain Safford and Colonel Sadler.

(n) Captain Rochefort’s Testimony :

Captain Rochefort, who was in charge of the Radio Intelligence
Unit at Pearl Harbor, testified that they monitored for any “winds”
code message, covering all known broadcasts from Tokyo on a twenty-
four hour basis, and that results were nil. He testified further that
he had made an exhaustive search into all available Navy records
and could find no trace of any “winds” message prior to 7 December
1941.

[107] E. Information Concerning the Organization of the Jap-
anese Navy.

(1) ONI Report of 29 July 1941.

On July 29th. the Office of Naval Intelligence issued a revised re-
port, which had been prepared by Commander McCollum, dealing
with the organization of the Japanese Navy, This stated that, as
a result of information which had been received, it was possible to
give a_much more complete picture of the organization ot the Jap-
anese Navy. It stated that the Japanese naval forces afloat were
organized into two main commands—the Combined Fleet and the
Japanese Naval Forces in China. The Combined Fleet included :

(a) First Fleet, or Battle Force,
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(b) Second Fleet, or Scouting Force.

(¢) Third Fleet, or Blockade and Shipping Control Force.

(d) Fourth Fleet, or Mandated Islands Defensive Force.

(e) Submarine Force (also called the Sixth Fleet).

The Combined Fleet and Fivst Fleet, under the command of Admiral
Yamamota, eonsisted of various BatDivs, a CruDiv, three CarDivs
and two destroyer squadrons. BatDiyv 3 (KONGO, HIYEIL, KIRI-
SHIMA. HARUNA) was included. The carrier divisions were Car-
Div 3 (ZUIKAKU, SHOKAKU) ; CarDiv 5 (RYUJO, HOSHO) ;
and CarDiv 7 (CHITOSE, CHIYODA, MIZUILO).

The Second Flet, under the command of Vice Admiral Koga, in-
cluded various cruiser divisions, two carrier divisions and two de-
stroyer squadrons. CruDiv § (CHIKUMA and TONE) was in-
cluded. The carrier divisions were: (CarDiv 1 (AKAGI and
KAGA), and CarDiv 2 (SORYU and HIRYU).

The ?'/iird Fieet included CarDiv 6 (NOTORO and KAMIKAWA
MARU) and various minelayer and minesweeper divisions, a base
force and sub-chaser squadrons.

The camposition of the Fourth Fleet or Mandates Fleet, and of the
Submarine Fleet and of the Japanese Naval Forees in China was also
given. (Exhibit 81)

69} Puacific Fleet Intelligence Bulletin Number 45-}1.

n 27 November 1941 (when the “war warning” was received), the
Commander in Chief, Pacific Fleet, distributed Pacific Ileet Intel-
ligence Bulletin Number 45—41 (Exhibit 21). This bulletin dealt
with the organization of the Japanese Navy and with Japanese Forces
and installations in the Mandated Islands. It was a revision of the
ONT bulletin above summarized and replaced that bulletin on the
subject of the Japanese Ifleet.  This stated :

The principal change consists of a further increase In the number of fleet com-
mands. This has arisen from the regrouping of aireraft carriers and seaplane
tenders into separate forces, and from the creation of special task forces in
connection with the southward advance into Indo-China. The regrouping has

resulted in & notable [108] specialization within the various commands,
as shown helow ;

Major Fleet Commnands

1. First Fleet (Battle Force) ._..__________ 3 Batdivs, 1 Crudiv, 2 Des-
. roms.

2, Second Fleet (Scouting Force) .______ ——- 4 Crudivs, 2 Desrons, etc.

8. Third Fleet (Blockade & ‘Iransport Small Craft.
Force)

4. Fourth Fleet (Mandate Defense Force).. 1 Desron, 1 Subron, and

many small units.

T S e e e SR ).

6. Sixth Fleet (Submarine Fleet) —___._____ 6 Subrons.

7. Carrier Fleet (Aireraft Carriers) _______ 5 Cardivs.

8. Combined Air Force (Seaplane tenders, 4 Airrons, & shore based
ete.) planes.

I1. Japanese Naval Forces in China (Staff Head- 1 PG and 3 DD's.
quarters).

1. First China Exped. Fleet (Central China) Gunboats.

2. Second China Exped. Fleet (South China) 1 CA, 1 CL and small craft,

3. Third China Exped. Fleet (North China) - Terpedo Boats, ete.

4, Southern Exped. Fleet (Saigon)________ 1 CL, transports and mine
eraft.

The Japanese Navy now includes more vessels in active service thun ever be-
fore. More merchant ships have been taken over by the Navy, and the line be-
tween merchant ship and naval auxiliary grows fainter all the time. The base
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forces and guard divisions in the Mandated Islands have also greatly inecreased
the strength of the Navy, which is on full-svar-time footing.

The Combined Fleet and First Fleet as listed in this bulletin in-
cluded three BatDivs, among which was BatDiv 3 (HIYEI, KON-
GO, KIRISHIMA and HARUNA—as to the latter it was stated that
it had been inactive during 1941 and was probably undergoing major
repairs). Also included was a cruiser division and two destroyer
squadrons.

The Second Fleet included four CruDive and two destroyer squad-
rons. One of the CruDiv was CruDiv 8 (TONE, CHIKUMA ).

The composition of the 7'hird, Fourth and Sizth (Submarine)
Fleets was given in some detail in this bulletin. As to a Fifth Fleet,
it stated “The composition of a new Fifth Fleet is still unknown. The
flagship has been reported at Maizurw.”

[109] The composition of the Carrier Fleet, with the KAGA as
flagship, and consisting of ten carriers and sixteen destroyers, was
listed as follows:

CarDiv 1: AKAGIL KAGA (F) and a destroyer division.

CarDiv 2: SORYU (F) and HIRYU and a destroyer division.

CarDiv 3: RYUJO (F) and HOSHO and a destroyer division.

CarDiv 4: ZUIKAKU and SHOKAKU and a destroyer division.

CarDiv—: KORYU and KASUGA (MARU).

As will appear subsequently, the forces which attacked Pear] Har-
bor on 7 December 1941 included six carriers, the KAGA and AKAGI
(CarDiv 1), the SORYU and HIRYU (CarDiv 2), and the ZUIKA-
KU and SHAKAKU. The latter two carriers had been identified as
CarDiv 4 in the Pacific Fleet Intelligence Bulletin, as CarDiv 3 (an-
nexed to the First I'leet) in the earlier ONI bulletin, and as CarDiv 5,
in Exhibit 3, which sets forth the composition of the attacking force.

Also included in the attacking force were the HIYEI and KIR-
ISHIMA (two of the battleships of BatDiv 3) which had been listed
in the intelligence bulleting as assigned to the Combined Fleet and
First Fleet, and the TONE and CHIKUMA (CruDiv 8) which had
been listed in the Intelligence bulleting as assigned to the Second
Fleet.

[110] F. Information Concerning the Location and Movements
of Japanese Naval Forces

The evidence indicates that there were no formal arrangements
whereby the Navy communicated to the Avmy estimates of the loca-
tion and movements of Japanese naval forces. Officers of the Far
Eastern Section of Military Intelligence at Washington had access to
charts maintained in the Far Eastern Division of the Office of Naval
Intelligence showing such information, and had access to radio in-
telligence information available in the Navy Department, and the
situation was discussed with them. At Pearl Harbor, an intelligence
officer of the Hawaiian Air Foree received some general information
concerning Japanese movements, from the Fleet Intelligence Officer.

(1) Information available at the time of the “War Warning.”

The procedure for handling radio intelligence information con-
cerning Japanese movements was set forth in a dispatch of 24 Novem-
ber 1941 from OpNav to CincAF, information ComSIXTEEN.
CincPac, ALUSNA Chungking, ASTALUSNA Shanghai, and
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ALUSNA Tokyo (Exhibit 83). This dispatch stated that Japanese
naval movements as reported by the individual information addresses
were often conflicting because of their necessarily fragmentary nature
and that since ComSIXTEEN intercepts were considered most re-
liable, it was suggested that other reports be carefully evalnated and
sent to ComSIXTEEN for action and to OpNav for information and,
that after combining all incoming reports, ComSIXTEEN was to
direct dispatehes to OpNav, info CineP’ac, based on all information
received and indicating the ComSINTEEN evaluation.

The Japanese naval situation as estimated by ComFOURTEEN on
96 November 1941, was set forth in a dispatch of that date to OpNav,
information CinePae, CincAF, and ComSIXTEEN. This dispatch
stated that for the past month the Commander of the Second Fleet
had been organizing a task force consisting of Second Fleet and other
units and, after discussing various other units, stated: “There is be-
lieved to be strong concentration of submarines and air groups in the
Marshalls which comprise Airon 24, at least one carrier division

_unit, plus probably one-third of the submarine fleet. Evaluate above
to indicate strong force may be preparing to operate in southeastern
Asia while component parts may operate from Palao and Marshalls.”

On the same day. ComSINXTEEN sent a dispatch to CincPac,
OpNav, ComFOURTEEN and CincAF, disenssing in considerable de-
tail the estimate of ComSIXTEEN concerning the location and prob-
able movements of Japanese Fleet units (Exhibit 8). This stated
that traffic analysis for the past few days had indicated that the
Commander-In-Chief of the Second Fleet was directing some units
of the First, Second, Third and Fourth Fleets in a loose-knit task
force organization that apparently would be divided into two sec-
tions, One section expected to operate in the South China area, was
referred to in the dispatch as the “first section.” The “first section™
was estimated to consist of CruDiv 7, AirRon 6, Defense Division 1,
Desron 3, and Subron 6. The “second section” consisted of units
expected to [177] operate in the Mandates. The “second see-
tion” was believed to include Crudiv 5, Cardiv 3, RYUJO aud one
MARU. It was indicated that BatDiv 3 might be included in the
“second section,” but that this could not be clarified yet. The dispatch
further stated: “Cannot confirm supposition that carriers and sub-
marines in foree are in the Mandates X Our best indications ave that
all known First and Second Fleet carriers still in Sesebo-Iure area.”
The evaluation was considered to be reliable.

During this time, the Office of Naval Intelligence was issuing fort-
nightly summaries of current nationl situations. The summary for
1 December 1941 (Exhibit 9) was distributed by air mail. The state-
ments therein as to the Japanese naval situation, which portion was
prepared by the Far Eastern Section of ONT, were based upon infor-
mation which had been received at least three or four days prior to
the date of the document. This stated:

Deployment of naval forces to the southward has indicated clearly that exten-
sive preparations are underway for hostilities. At the same time troop trans-
ports and freighters are pouring continually down from Japan and northern
China coast ports headed south, apparently for French Indo-China and Formosan
ports. Dresent movements to the south appear to he carvied out by sinall individ-
ual units, but the organization of an extensive task foree, now definitely indicated,
will probably take sharper form in the next few days, To date this task foree,
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under the command of the Commander in Chief Second Fleet, appears to be
subdivided into two major task groups, one gradually concentrating off the South-
east Asiatic coast, the other in the Mandates. Bach constitutes a strong striking
force of heavy and light cruisers, units of the Combined Air Feree, destroyer and
submarine squadrons. Although one division of battleships also may be assigned,
the major capital ship strength remains in home waters, as well as the greatest
portion of the earviers.

The equipment being earried south is a vast assortment, including landing
boats in considerable numbers. Activities in the Mandates, under naval confrol,
consists not only of large reinforcements of personnel, aireraft, munitions but
also of construetion material with yard workmen, engineers, ete.

(2) Admiral Kimmel’s sources of information after the “war
warning.”

The ComFOURTEEN communication intelligence unit continued
the practice, which had been followed for some time past, of preparing
daily communications intelligence summartes for submission to Ad-
iniral Kimmel via Lt. Comdr. Layton, the Fleet Intelligence Officer.
Photostatic copies of the communication intelligence summaries from
14 QOctober to 14 December 1941, [212] constitute Exhibit 22
of this investigation. Licutenant Commander Layton, who presented
these summaries to Admiral Kimmel, also prepared daily intelligence
reports which were distributed to various members of CinePac’s staft.
The intelligence memoranda were not given to the Admiral or Chief
of Stafl because they saw the basic material upon which the reports
were based. The intelligence reports by Layton for the period 6
October to 2 December 1941, constitute Exhibit 26. None was pre-
pared after December 2nd, according to Layton.

The daily communication intelligence summaries together with the
dispatehes received by Admiral Kimmel from other organizations
during the period 27 November to 7 December 1941, constituted the
only sources of information which he had during that period concern-
ing the location and movements of Japanese naval forces.

(8) Information received by Admiral Kimmel after the “war
warning.”

The eritical period commenced on 27 November 1941, when the
Japanese force, which was to attack Pearl Harbor, secretly left Tan-
kan Bay, Etorofu Island and, in radio silence, proceeded undetected
toward Pearl Harbor. The Japanese force, which included three of
Japan’s Carrier Divisions, CarDiv 1, AKAGI, KAGA; CarDiv 2,
HIRYU, SORYU; CarDiv 5, SHOKAKU, ZUIKAKU; BatDiv 3,
first section, HIYEI, KIRISHIMA ; CruDiv 8, CHIKUMA ; and
other lighter vessels. cruised for ten days to a point 200 miles north
of Oahu, where the planes were launched for the attack on Pearl
Harbor.

It will be recalled that the November 24th dispatch from CNO in
part had stated that the diplomatic situation and statements of the
Japanese Government and movements of their naval and military
forces indicated that a surprise aggressive movement in any direc-
tion, including attack on the Philippines or Guam, was a possibility.
The “war warning” of the 27th had stated that an aggressive move
by Japan was expected within the next few days and that the number
and equipment of Japanese troops and the organization of naval
task forces indicated an amphibious expedition against either the
Philippines, Thai, or Xra Peninsula, or possibly Borneo.
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The information which Admiral Kimmel subsequently received
as to the location and movements of Japanese naval forces was as
follows:

28 November 1941:

The Naval Attache at Shanghai reported in his dispateh 270855
the sightings by the master of a foreign vessel, which had left
Hong Kong en route to Shanghai, of many transports proceed-
ing south singly or in small groups.

[1137 The November 27th ComFOURTEEN radio intelligence
summary delivered on November 28th, stated that in general traffic
volume was a little below normal, due to poor signals on certain fre-
quencies and that the Tokyo-Takao civcuit was unreadable on mid-
watch. Some tactical traffic was heard, intercepted from carriers.
Bako, Sama and Saigon were active as originators. The main Tokyo
originator was the intelligence activity which sent five dispatches to
the major commanders. The direction finder activity was very high.
As to the Combined Fleet, it was said that there was still no evidence
of any further movement trom the ICure-Sasebo area. The Chief of
Staff of the Combined Fleet originated several messages of general
address; he had been farily inactive as an orviginator. The Com-
mander i Chief, Second Fleet, originated many messages to the Third
Fleet and other units. As to the Third Fleet, it was stated that there
was nothing to indicate any movement. As to the Fourth Fleet Com-
mander, it was said that he frequently addressed dispatches to the
defense forces in the Mandates, and also that there was no further
information on the presence of Carrier Division Five in the Mandates.
The Commander Submarine IForce, it was stated, was still in the Chi-
chijina avea. Concerning air forces in general, it was indicated that
an air unit in the Takao area addressed a dispateh to the KORYU
and SHOKAKU and that “Carriers are still located in home waters.”
This summary was initialed by Admiral Iimmel.

It appears, therefore, that as of this time the ComFOURTEEN,
ComSIXTEEN, and Washington radio intelligence units were of the
opinion that the major portion of the Japanese carriers were in “home
waters;” that ConFOURTEEN was of the opinion that a carrier
unit was in the Marshalls, and that ComSIXTEEN expected CarDiv
3 to operate in the Mandates. The evidence disclosed that the term
“home waters” was understood difterently by the Far Eastern Section
of OWI, which prepared the 1 December 1941 ONT estimate, and by
the Fleet Intelligence Officer, Pacific Fleet. Captain McCollum testi-
fied that the term meant the normal cruising grounds of the Japanese
Fleet, roughly west of the 180 meridian of longitude and north of the
southern end of Formosa, and included the Kurile Islands but not the
Aleutians. Captain Layton, the Fleet Intelligence Officer, testified
that “home waters” meant to him, and was understood by Admiral
Kimmel to mean, the drill grounds of the Inland Sea and approaches
to Kyushu, the coastal offshore area, the Isel Bay Area; in general the
waters surrounding Honshu, Shikoku and Kyushu, but not including
:}OL‘thern Japan and the Kuriles, to a point about 60 miles east of

apan.
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28 November 1941
On November 28th, the Chief of Naval Operations sent a copy
of a dispatch to CinePac for information which was received on
November 29th (Exhibit 19, Naval Court), which repeated a dis-
pateh which had been sent by the Army to Commander, Western
Defense Command, as follows:

[11}] Negotiations with Japan appear to be terminated to all practical pur-
poses with only the barest possibility that the Japanese Government might come
back and offer to continne X Japanese future action unpredictable but hostile
action possible at any moment X If hbstilities cannot repeat not be avoided the
United States desives that Japan conunit the first overt act X This policy should
not repeat not be construed as restricting you te a course of action that might
jeopardize your defense X Prior to hostile Japanese action you are dirvected to
undertake such reconnaissance and other measures as you deem necessary but
these measures should be carried out so as not repeat not to alarm eivil population
or disclose intent X Report measures taken X A separate message is being
sent to G-2 Ninth Corps area re subversive activities in the Uuited States X
Should hostilities occur you will earry out the tasks assigned in Rainbow Five
so far as they pertain to Japan X Limit dissemination of this highly secret
information to minimum essential officers

The Navy dispateh continued that WPL-52 was not ap-
plicable to the Pacific area and would not be placed in effect n
that area, except as then in force in Southeast Pacific Sub Avea,
Panama Coastal Frontier. It stated turther:

Undertake no offensive action until Japan has committed an overt act X Be
prepaved to carry out tasks assigned in WPL 46 so far as they apply to Japan
in case hostilities oceur

On the 28th of November, ComFOURTEEN addressed to OpNav,
information CincAF, and stated :

Following received by British consul from usually reliable souree X Japanese
will attack Krakow Isthmus fron sea on one December without ultimatum or
declaration in order get between Bangkok and Singapore X Attackers will pro-
ceed divect from Hainan and Formosa X Main landing to be made at Song-
khola X (Singora)

ComSIXTEEN in a dispatch of the 28th addressed to CineAF,
OpNav, CincPac, ConFOURTEEN, stated that an unidentified ship
believed to be a light erniser had apparently relieved the KASHIT as
flagship, Southern Expeditionary Fleet; that this ship was now in the
Camranh Bay-Saigon area.

OpNav, indispateh 281633, addressed CincAF, info CincPac,
ComSIXTEEN, ComFOURTEEN, and supplied information from
State Department, from Saigon, dated November 26th, which stated
that five days previonsly [115] Orange troops and supply
vessels began to put in at Satgon. taking up all available quay space;
that 20,000 troops had landed and that 10,000 had arrived from the
north by rail during the same period; that the total troops in South
Indo-China totaled 70,000. It observed that there was an estimate
of some 128,000, but considered that too high. It reported that many
trucks had landed and were moving troops and supplies to the interior.
It observed that this movement is of large proportions and indicates
hostilities against Thailand may begin soon. It also forwarded
information from Hanol, also from the State Department, dated
November 26th, that said supplies and military equipment, particu-
larty railway, rolling stock, gasoline, landing at Haiphong even
recently augmented and are being tl'allsshippeﬁ gouth. Among re-
cently landed artillery arve anti-tank guns; that the Japanese had
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recently purchased a considerable number of native boats along the
coast of Tongking Province. It was reported they desired to pur-
chase 500. These boats were being sent south. Further reports
from Hanoi, dated November 2ith, said that the American Consul
had received relizble information that the Governor General had
ascertained from an agent that around 1 December, without either
declaration of war or ultimatum, Nippon Navy will attack Kra
Isthmus. Simultaneously the Army would advance on Thailand;
that great increased troop landings and movements were noted south ;
that during last few days about 4,000 men have landed. On Novem-
ber 25th and 26th, 1,600 would go south by speecial train; that in
Tonglking there were approximately 25,000 Jap troops and at Gillam
there were approximately ninety airplanes. Dated November 26th,
Hanoi, was the report that on early November 25t the Haiphong
mayor had advised all interested persons that the Japanese intended
to sequester all freicht en route to China, that the Japanese had
demanded keys to all warehouses by noon November 25th.

The ComFOURTEEN radio intelligence summary of the 28th,
delivered the 29th, stated generally that traffic volume was normal,
communticaticns to and from South China and between the Mandantes
and the Empire were very heavy. No tactical traffic was seen, The
suspected radio intelligence net was very active and was becoming
more so. Much traffic was directed to the Tokyo direction finder
command from various stations and this command also originated
messages of high precedence to the major fleet commanders. It was
said that “This activity is interpreted to indicate that the radio in-
telligence net is operating at full strength upon U. S. naval com-
munications and IS GETTING RESULTS.” As to the Combined
Fleet, it was stated that there was no indication of movement of any
of its units. As to the Third Fleet, there was little activity from
its units save for the Commander in Chief. The bulk of the Fourth
Fleet was said to be still at Truk. The Commander in Chief of the
South China Fleet originated more traflic than usual and addressed
his fleet collectively for information to the Commander in Chief,
Second. and Commander in Chief, Third Fleets. There was little
indication of submarine activity. This summary was initialed by
Admiral Kimmel,

[116] The ComSIXTEEN communication intelligence unit sent
a dispateh on the 29th noting various recent developments from radio
intelligence. such as various encrypted addresses noted in the
preceding two days traflic, that various additional units now appeared
to be associated with the “first section” (South China area), referred
to in ComSIXTEEN’s November 26th dispatch, that the Hiyei (which
in fact was en route to Pearl Harbor) and Kongo appeared to be
associated definitely with the “frst section,” but no movement from the
Takao area had been noted, and, that the Cine Combined Fleet was
to leave the Kure zone that day, the Sasebo zone on December 1st, and
enter the Bako zone on the 2nd.

30 November 1941 :

On 30 November 1941, OpNav sent a dispatch to CincAF for
action and to CincPac for information (Exhibit 76, Naval Court),
which advised in part:

Indications that Japan about to attack points on Kra by overseas expedi-
tion . . . desire you cover by air the line Manila Camranh Bay on three days
commencing upon receipt of this dispatch X . . .
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A second similar dispatch was also sent on the same day (Ex-
hibit 77, Naval Court) requesting a daily report from CincAF,
even if there were no contacts and the information were all nega-
tive. ;

The communication intelligence summary of the 29th delivered this
day stated generally that traffic yolume was above normal, and that
{he traffic to South China was still very high. A good share of the
traffic was made np of messages of an intelligence nature. Tokyo
intelligence sent eleven messages during the day to major commanders
both ashore and afloat, while the radio intelligence activity at Tokyo
sent four long messages to the major commanders. In addition to the
stations normally reporting to Tokyo radio Yokosuka (near Tokyo)
sent in reports. This station had not previously been seen to submit
reports. The ddvection finder net controlled directly by Tokyo was
up during the night with much activity. The Navy Minister origi-
nated his usual AlNav. and the naval general staff addresed Com-
manders, Second Fleet. Third Fleet, Combined Air Force, and the
South China Unit. A unit which had been addressed as the 103rd air
group originated one dispatch whose address was composed entirely
of enciphered calls and it was apparent that he had no navy call list.
One address was “Eleventh Air Fleet.”” Since this had appeared
before. it was evidence that the use of IKantai was intentional in
making positively known the existence of an air fleet. Its composition
was unknown, The dispatches indicated that various units were under
the immediate command of the Commander in Chief, Second Fleet,
including Cardiv 3, and the Third Fleet.

Associated with the Third Fleet. were two battleships but their
assignment was not yet definite. Various messages were sent by the
Commander in Chief, Third Fleet, and he held extensive communi-
cation with [117] the Commander in Chief, Second Kleet,
and Bako. The Cine Fourth Fleet was relatively inactive. He was
still in the Truk area. There was some traffic for Commander Sub-
marine Foree, who was at Chichyima the previous day, and also some
traffic from the Commander in Chief, China Fleet.

I December 1941 :

A copy of a dispatch by CNO to CincAF, 301709, was received by
CincPac, referring to the previous dispatch which had directed an
air search on the line Manila to Camranh Bay, directing that a report
be made daily even if the information were all negative (Exhibit
77, Naval Court).

A dispatch from OpNav, dated 1 December 1941, was also received
referring to a Thailand-Japanese intrigue aimed at forcing the
British to attack Thai as a counter-move to a Japanese landing in
1Kntita Bharn, whereupon Thai would declare war and ask Japanese
help.
~ A dispatch of 1 December from ComSIXTEEN advised of radio
intelligence information indicating that various units under Cine
Third Fleet were in the Takao area and that Cine Second Fleet had
shlfted from Iure to Sasebo apparently en route to South. China
waters.

_ The communication intelligence summary for November 30th, de-
livered on December 1st, stated generally that traffic volume was less
than for the past few days, that the traffic consisted largely of dis-
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patches bearing old dates. No veason could be given for the re-
transmission of these messages unless the high volume of traffic for
the past few days had prevented the vepetition of dispatches. The
number of dispatehes oviginated on the 30th was very small. The
only tactical circuit heard was cne with the carvier AKAGI and
several MARUs. As to the Combined Fleet and First Fleet, it was
stated the Chiefs of Staff of those Fleets were in Kure. In the same
message, the Chief of Staff, Second Fleet, was not listed in any loca-
tion. Other traftic indications were that he was at sea. The Com-
mander in Chief, Second Fleet, sent one dispateh to his usual ad-
dressees of the Third Fleet and Combined Air Forces, but also in-
cluded the KONGO and HIYEI, which it was said placed them as
members of his task force. (T'he HIYEI was actually en route to
Pearl Harbor.) As to the Third Fleet, it was said, “No information
obtained as to the location of the Commander in Chief, Third Fleet,
which gives the strong impression that he is underway.” The Foorth
Fleet was believed to be still in the Truk avea. It was said that the
continued association of Jaluit and Comunander Submarine Force,
plus his known progress from the Empire to Chichijime to Saipan
made his destination obviously the Marshalls; also that since one of
his large units arrived in the Marshalls some time ago, that unit
could not agree with ComSINXTEEN that there was not a submarine
concentration in that area. *“Every evidence points to a concentra-
tion, not only the small Fourth Fleet submarines there, but also a
good proportion of the Fleet submarines of the Submarine Force.”
It was also said that “the presence of a unit of plane guard destroy-
ers indicates the presence of at least one carrier in the Mandates, al-
though this has not been confirmed.” This communication summary
was initialed by Admiral Kimmel and Admiral McMorris, the War
Plans Officer.

[118] A dispatch was received from ComSIXTEEN, addressed
to OpNav, information CincAF, CincPac, and ComFOURTEEN, to
the effect that a reassignment of all Japanese naval calls had oceurred
at midnight.

2 December 1941 :

On 2 December 1941, ComSIXTEEN reported that Cine Second
and Cinc Third Fleets were in the Takao avea, and, that broadeasts
to fleet units were being sent to Takao or Bako in addition to Tokyo.
Also reported was the fact that the Japanese Ambassador at Bangkok
had requested permission to destroy codes.

CincAT also reported that a patrol plane had spotted nine sub-
marines on a southerly conrse in the South China Sea between Cam-
ranh Bay and the Philippines. " Also that three submarines were
sighted 070 from Saigon, 180 miles, heading south, and that twenty-
one transports, with air patrol overhead, were at Camranh Bay.

A report from the Assistant Naval Attache, Shanghai, advised of
thedarrival of 14,000 troops sailing from there the week ending the
22nd,

The communication intelligence summary for the previous day
stated generally that all service radio calls of forces atloat changed
promptly at 0000 1 December. Previously service calls had heen
changed after a period of six months or move. Calls were last changed
on 1 November 1941, The fact that service calls lasted only one month
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indicated an additional progressive step in preparing for active op-
erations on a large scale. For a period of two to three days prior to
the change of calls, the buik of the radio traffic consisted of dispatches
from one to four or five days old. It appeared that the Japanese Navy
was adopting more and more security provisions. A study of traffic
prior to 0000 1 December indicated that an effort was made to deliver
all dispatches using old calls so that promptly with the change of calls
there would be a minimum of undelivered dispatches and consequent
confusion and compromise. Either that, or the large number of old
messages may have been used to pad the total volume and make it ap-
pear as if nothing unusual were pending. It should be noted that
the sentence in the above sumimary reading “The fact that service calls
lasted only one month indicates an additional progressive step in
prepfaring for active operations on a large scale’” was underscored in
red pencil commencing with the words “service calls.””  Captain Lay-
ton testified that to the best of his recollection this was underlined by
Admiral Kimmel at the time.

The summary further stated as to the First Fleet “nothing to in-
dicate that this fleet as a fleet is operating outside of Empire waters,”
As to the Second Fleet, it was stated “This fleet is believed proceeding
from the Kure-Sasebo avea in the direction of South China and Indo-
China ;” Takao did not appear to play an important role in the traffic;
consequently, the assumption was made that this fleet was passing
up Takao. As to the Third Fleet, it was stated there was “nothing
to report except that the [719] sanie associations of Second,
Third Fleets and Combined Air Force with South China and Indo-
China Forces continued. As to Fourth Fleet, “No change in the Fourth
Fleet or Mandates area.” As to Fifth Fleet, “Nothing to report.”
As to submarines, it was stated a large number of the Submarine
Force was believed to be in the area eastward of Yokosuka-Chichijima
and Saipan. As to Combined Air Force, it was stated “No change.”
As to carriers, it was said “No change.” This summary was initialed
by Adwiral Kimmel.

In accordance with the request of Admiral Kimmel, Layton, the
Fleet Intelligence Officer, prepared a memorandum for the Admiral
dealing with the location of the Japanese Fleet. This memorandum
was prepared, according to Layton, on the evening of 1 December,
and was submitted by him to Admiral Kimmel on 2 December 1941.
The original memorandum is Exhibit 23. The memorandum bears
certain notations in red pencil which, Layton testified, were inserted
by him on December 2nd prior to submission of the memorandum to
Admiral Kimmel, and which reflected the later information received
after preparation of the memorandum on the night of December 1st-
ond. It also bears certain lead pencil notations which Layton identi-
fied as the handwriting of Admiral Kimmel. This memorandum, ac-
cording to Layton, summarized his best estimate of the location of
the Japanese Fleet, based on all information available to him and to
Admiral Kimmel up to and including 1 December 1941.

Layton’s estimate stated that from the best available information,
units of the Orange (Japanese) were “thought” to be located as listed
in the memorandum. In the Kure-Sasebo area he listed the Com-
mander in Chief of the Combined Fleet and Commander in Chief,
First Fleet, with six battleships, “(?)”, and other units. He listed
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the Commander in Chief, Third Fleet, at Nagara initially and then
corrected it in red to indicate that it was at Takao. Also in the Kure-
Sasebo area he located Cruiser Division 8.

In the Shanghai area, Layton’s estimate located the Commander
in Chief, China Fleet, the Shanghai base force, and an air group.

In the Bako-Takao area, Layton listed Third Fleet submarine
squadrons and various destroyers and the Commander of the Com-
bined Air Force with numerous air groups and the KASUGA MARU
(thought to be a converted carrier with 36 planes). He estimated
that the Commander in Chief, Second Fleet, had been_en route to
Takao (this he corrected in red pencil to indicate that he was at
Takao) with a cruiser division, destroyers, and with “Cardiv 4—
two CV and four DD; Cardiv 3—two CV and 3 DD; Batdiv 3 lass
HARUNA—3 BB (maybe 2 BB)” and, he added in red pencil, cer-
tain eruisers and Destroyer Division 2. )

In the Hainon-Canton area, Layton located the Commander in
Chief of the South China Fleet and various cruisers and destroyers
and transports. In the French Indo-China area, he located the
Commander in Chief of an Expeditionary Fleet with various ships
including 21 transports and some base forces among others. In the
Mandates area, he located at Palao an air group [120] and
base force; at Truk, the Commander in Chief of the Fourth Fleet with
cruisers and destroyers, and a base force and an air group. At Saipan,
le located the Commander in Chief of the Submarine Force with pos-
sibly submarines and various air groups and a base force. In the
Marshalls area, he located various air groups and the carrier
“KORYU? plus plane guards”, and several submarine squadrons and
base force. ) )

Layton’s memorandum did not make any reference to the location
of Carrier Divisions 1 and 2 of the Japanese Fleet (which in fact were
en route to attack Pearl Harbor). According to Layton, on 2 Decem-
ber 1941, during his conference with Admiral Kimmel, the Admiral
noticed and commented on the absence of information concerning
Japanese Carrier Divisions 1 and 2. In his testimony, he described
the conversation on this point as follows:

Mr, SoxNeTT. Will you state the substance of what he said and what you sald,
as best you recall it?

Captain LayToN. As best I recall it, Admiral Kimmel said, “What! You don't
know where Carrier Division 1 and Carrier Division 2 are?’ and I replied, “No,
sir, I do not. I think they are in home waters, but I do not know where they are.
The rest of these units, I feel pretty confident of their location.” Then Adwmiral
Kimmel looked at me, as sometimes he would, with somewhat a stern countenance
and yet partially with a twinkle in his eye and said, “IJo you mean to say that
they could be rounding Diamond Head and you wouldn't know it?” or words to
that effect. My reply was that, “1 hope they wonld be sighted before now,” or
words to that effeet, . .,

Mr. SoxxeETT. Your testimony, Captain, was not quite elear to me, arising out
of your desecription of Admiral Kimmel's twinkle in his eye when he spoke.
What I am trying to get at is this: Was the discussion about the absence of
information econcerning Cardivs 1 and 2 a serious or jocular one?

Capiain LayToN., His question was absolutely serious, but when he said,
“Where are Cardivs 1 and 2% and I said, “I do not know precisely, but if I
must estimate, I would say that they are probably in the Kure area since we
haven't heard from them in a long time and they may be refitting as they finished
operations only a month and a half ago,” and it was then when he, with a twinkle
in his eye, said, “Do you mean to say they could be rounding Diamond Head?"
or words to that effect. In other words, he was impressing me on my complete
ignorance as to their exact location.

T97T16—46—Ex, 167T—31
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Mr., SoN~ETT. He was conscious, therefore, of your lack of information about
those carriers?

[£27] Captain Layrox, This incident has been impressed on my mind.
I do not say that I quote him exactly, but I do know that he made such a stale-
ment to me in the way to point out to me that I should know where they are but
hadn’t so indieated their loeation.

3 Deceinber 1941 :

It will be recalled that on December 3rd dispatches were sent by
CNO to CincPac and others advising that Japanese diplomatic and
consular posts at Ilong Kong, Singapore, Batavia, Manila, Washing-
ton, and London, had been ordered to destroy the “purple™ machine
and most of the codes and eiphers. :

Layton testified that at the time Admiral Kimmel asked him what
the “purple machine™” was: that he did not know and made inquiry;
that he advised Admiral Kimmel that it was the Japanese diplomatic
electrical coding machine; that he did not then know whether or not
the Japanese consul at Hawail had such a machine; and, that he sub-
sequently learned that the Japanese consul there did not have such
a machine.

The commuuication intelligence summary delivered on the 3vd.
covering the 2nd, stated generally that the most prominent factor in
the traffic was the apparent confusion in the routing of traftic for cer-
tain major parts of the Japanese Fleet. There was instances where
the same dispateh was repeated several times after it hiad appeared
on the Tolkyo broadeast and also where Takao radio received the same
dispatch that it had previously sent. It was stated that ComSIX-
TEEN had reported Second and Third Fleets in Takao avea, and that
Takao radio was broadeasting traffic to these fleets. The broadeast, it
was said, was not uncovered at ConFOURTEEN and contrary to the
location report, there was one indication that these two fleets were not
close to Takao. In several instances, Takao radio forwarded traffic to
Tokyo for these fleets. It was said that “Summing up all reports
and indications, it is believed that the large fleet made up of Second,
Third and Fivst Fleet units, has left Empire waters, but is either not
close enough to Takao for good communications or is proceeding on
a course not close to Takno.” It was further stated, “The change of
calls on December 1st has prevented this office from making definite
statement as of this date of the units now in the southern area. To
further complicate the situation, Shanghai radio handled a consider-
able amount of traflic which obviously was originated by and destined
for units in the Takao area.” Also it was pointed out generally that
“There was a very high percentage of high precedence traffic origin-
ated both by major forces afloat and Tokyo.” As to the First Fleet,
it was stated that despite the lack of positive identifications, the
First Fleet appeared relatively quiet and that “from inconelusive
evidence, it appears as if there may have been a split in the original
or normal combined fleet staff and that these may be two supreme
commanders with staffs. As an example, traffic routing indicates one
combined fleet call associated with the Second and Third Fleets, and
apparently in company, while another combined fleet call appears not
associated with the Second and Third Fleets.” As to the Second Fleet,
it was stated “No units have stood out prominently in [122]
the last two or three days. This is probably due to lack of new identi-
fications, but contributes somewhat to the belief that a large part of
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the Second Ifleet is underway in company.” As to the Third Fleet,
it said theve was nothing to report. As to the Mandates, it was said
that the association of submarine force and Fourth Fleet continued.

Concerning carriers, this summary stated, “Almost a complete
blank of information on the carriers today. Lack of identifications
has somewhat promoted this lack of information. However, since
over 200 service ealls have been partially identified sinee the change
on the first of December and not one carrier call has been recovered,
it 1s evidence that carrier traffic is at a low ebb.” This summary was
initialed by Admiral Kimmel.

4 December 1941 :

On 4 December 1941, OpNav sent a dispatch (Exhibit 21, Naval
Court) to NavStaGuam for action. and to CincAF, CincPac, Com-
FOURTEEN and ComSIXTEEN for information stating:

Guam destroy all secret and confidential publications and other classified
matter except that essential for current purposes and special intelligence retain-
ing minimum cryptographic chanels necessary for essential eommunications with
CinCAF CincPAC ComFOURTEEN ComSIXTEEN and Opnav X be prepared
to destroy instantly in event of emergency all classified matter you retain X
Report erypto channels retained.

ComSINTEEN advised. in a dispatch received on December 4th,
that seven transports had been sighted off Saigon on 15 November
1941, and on the 20th a seaplane carrier northeast of Amoy.

The Assistant Naval Attache, Shanghai, advised, in a dispatch
received 4 December, that several large liners had been carrying sup-
plies and personnel to the Carolines, that 3,000 laborers had landed
at Jaluit and that certain islands were being specially developed.

The Naval Attache, Tokyo, advised in a dispatch received this day
that a transport loaded with aireraft and another with naval person-
uel had left Yokahama on 27 November 1941.

The previous day’s communication intelligence summary stated
under the heading “General,” that traffic volume was normal with re-
ceiving conditions good. The present state of call recovery did not
permit much detailed information to be obtained. The extensive use
of alternate calls by the major commands slowed up identification of
even these units. Very few units had been positively identified so
far. The Chief of the Naval General Staff originated three long
dispatches to the Commanders in Chief, Combined, Second, and Third
Fleets. Tokyo intelligence originated nine [723] dispatches
to the same addresses. It was stated that the presence of the Com-
mander in Chief, Second Fleet, in Taiwan waters was not revealed
by radio traffic. It was stated that it was the impression that both
the Second and Third Fleets were underway, but that this was not
verified by radio intelligence means. Tt was also stated that there were
some Fourth Fleet units in the Marshall Islands but their identity was
not known. It was stated also that there was “no information on
submarines or carriers.” This summary was initialed by Admiral
Kimmel.

5 December 1941 :

There were no dispatches of an intelligence nature received by
CinePac. The previous day’s communication intelligence summary
stated that in general traffic volume was normal with fair receiving
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conditions. Takao radio instituted a fleet broadcast system using
the prefix UTU in heading so that there were two flect broadeasts now
in operation. So far only a few messages had been placed on the
Takao broadcast. There were a large number of urgent messages,
most of these from Tokyo tn the major commanders. Tokyo intel-
ligence originated messages to the Chiefs of Staff, China Fleet, Com-
bined Fleet, Third Fleet, South China Fleet, French Tndo-China
TForce, and same. In all, this activity sent twelve messages to the
major commanders. As to the Combined Fleet, it was stated “The
outstanding item of today's traflic is the lack of messages from the
Commander in Chief, Second Fleet, and Commander in Chief, Third
Fleet. These previously very talkative commanders are now very
quiet. While the fleet calls are not yet well identified, the lack of
traffic from these commands cannot be ascribed to that. These two
commands are still prominent as addressees. It is now believed that
the Commander in Chief, Second Fleet. is in the vicinity of Takao
and that the apparently conflicting evidence is due to traffic destined
for the Tokyo UTU broadeast, which CineSecond Fleet is still copy-
ing.” As to the Fourth Fleet, it was stated that the Commander n
Chief sent a message to various nnits aund that no further check could
be made on the presence of Fourth Fleet units in the Marshalls
and that Jaluit appeared many times in the day’s traffic, being as-
sociated with Commander Submarine Force. Tokyo radio and an
oil tanker. As to South China, it was stated that Bako continued
as an active originator addressing many messages to Sama and Saigon.
Except for traflic between South China commanders. all units in that
aren were quiet. This summary was initialed by Admiral Kimmel.

6 December 1941 :

Several dispatches dated 6 December 1941 were found in the
CincPac files, but it does not appear whether or not they were re-
ceived prior to the attack. One was an OpNav dispatch authorizing
CincPac to direct the destruction of secret and confidential doen-
ments at our outlying islands “in view of the international situation
and the exposed position of our outlying Pacific islands.” (Exhibit
99, Naval Court.) Other dispatches dated the 6th, from the Naval
Observer at Wellington, advised of Japanese destruction of codes;
from the Assistant Naval Attache, Shanghai, advised of the departure
south of Japanese troops and increase of Japanese gendarmerie force
in Shanghai; and, from CincAF, advised of a (224] 25-ship
convoy. a 10-ship convoy, and 3 ships, off Saigon, French Indo-China,
all of which appeaved to be headed in a westerly direction, also 30
ships and a cruiser were sighted in Camranh Bay.

The radio intelligence summary for 5 December, which was de-
livered on the Gth, was the last summary delivered to Admiral Kim-
mel before the attack. It stated in general that traffic volume
was heavy. All circuits were overloaded with Tokyo broadeasts going
over full 24 hours. Tokyo Mandates circuit in duplex operation,
There were several new intercept schedules heard. It was noted that
some traffic being broadeast was several days old which indicated the
uncertainty of delivery existing in the radio organization. There
were many messages of high precedence which appeared to be caused
by the jammed condition of all cireuits. A plain language message
was sent by the captain of the OKAWA from Tokyo to Takao, prob-
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ably for further relay, addressed to the Chief of the Political Affairs
Bureau saying, “In reference to the Far Eastern crisis what you said
is considered important at this end, but proceed with what you are
doing, specific orders will be issued soon.”

As to the Combined Fleet, it was stated that neither the Second nor
Third Fleet Commanders had originated any trafic. They were
still frequently addressed but were receiving their traflic over broad-
casts. It was stated that “They are undoubtedly in the Takao area
or farther south since the Takao broadeasts handles nearly all their
traffic. No traffic from the Conunander Carriers or Submarine Force
has been seen either.”

There was no traffic from the Third Fleet, but some traflic
for that fleet. There was also some traffic to the Fourth Fleet ad-
dressed at Jaluit, strengthening the impression that the Commander
in Chief, Fourth Fleet, was in the Marshalls. As to South China,
there was much traffic addressed to the Commander in Chief, Second
Fleet, by Sama. Bako continued as an active originator with many
dispatches to the Second and Third Fleets. The Commander Com-
bined Air Force appeared to be busy with the movement of air corps,
several of which were maving probably to Indo-China,

[125] 99, Naval Intelligence was effectively organized to acquire
information from coded diplomatic messages between the Japanese
Government and its representatives. Through the interception of
Japanese diplomatic messages and their deeryption and translation in
Washington. D. C., prior to the attack, knowledge was obtained of the
Japanese Government’s actual views concerning the diplomatic situa-
tion. of the Japanese Government’s intention to wage war, and of the
fact that hostilities were impending and imminent.

30. The information acquired in Washingten through the intercep-
tion of Japanese diplomatic messages was adequately and promptly
disseminated at Washington by Naval and Military Intelligence to
the Chief of Naval Operations. to the Army Chief of Staff, to the State
Department, and to the President.

31, The Commander-in-Chief, Pacific Fleet, had to rely upon the
Chief of Naval Operations for information as to the status of the
diplomatic negotiations with the Japanese, and had requested to be
kept fully informed on this subject.

32, The Japanese diplomatic messages acquired by Naval Intelli-
gence at. Washington were not transmitted to the Commander-in-
Chief, Pacific Fleet, as such. Reasons advanced for this course of
action were that the Japanese might intercept the naval messages and
learn of the Navy’s success in decrypting Japanese codes; that the
volume of intercepted messages was so great that the transmission of
them, particularly during the eritical period, would have overtaxed
the Navy’s communications facilities; and, that it was the duty of the
Chief of Naval Operations to evaluate such information and to advise
CincPac of the important facts learned.

33. Various of the warning messages sent by the Chief of Naval
Operations to the Commander-in-Chief, Pacific Fleet, were based on
the information obtained from intercepted Japanese messages.

34. The warnings sent to the Commander-in-Chief, Pacific Fleet,
during November (particularly the “war wurning” of the 27th) and
early December, 1941, indicated in unmistakable language that the
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diplomatic negotiations had ceased. that war with Japan was inuninent,
and that Japanese attacks might oceur at any moment.

35. The Chief of Naval Operations did not advise the Commander-
in-Chief, Pacific Fleet, of certain intercepted Japanese messages indi-
cating intevest in the location of ships in Pearl Harbor. These were
more specific than other intercepted messages indicating Japanese
interest in the movements of ships to or from other ports.

[726] 36. The Commander-in-Chief, Pacific Fleet, was not fully
advised of certain other information obtained from intercepted Japa-
nese messages after the November 27th “war warning.” which made
further evident the termination in fact of the diplomatic negotiations
and the Japanese intention to wage war.

37. On the morning of 7 December 1941, there was brought to the
attention of the Chief of Naval Operations an intercepted message
in which the Japanese Government instructed its representatives to
present to the State Department at 1 p. m. the Japanese Government’s
final reply terminating the diplomatic negotiations. Mention was
made of the fact that 1 p. m. Washington time was about dawn at
Honolulu and about the middle of the night in the Far East. No one
stated that this indicated an air attack at Pearl Harbor.

38. This so-ealled 1 p. . delivery message,” which consisted of one
sentence, had been intercepted at a naval radio intercept station at
Buinbri(’lge Island in the State of Washington and forwarded to the
Navy Department by teletype. It was decrypted and available in the
Navy Department at about 0700 en December Tth. It was sent to the
Army for translation because there was no Japanese translator on
duty in the Navy Departinent at that time. The translation, which
could have beeu done by a qualified translator in a fewy minutes, was not
received from the Army until after 0900.

39. Although he was in possession of this highly significant infor-
mation several hours before the attack, and there were available means
whereby the information could have been transmitted to Admiral
Kimmel immediately, including a “serambler” telephone maintained
by the Army, Admiral Stavk initially was not disposed to, and did not,
send any message to Admiral Kimmel. Instead he relied on the trans-
mission of a message by the War Department to General Short, which
was to be furnished also to Admiral Kirnmel,

40. Admiral Stark has previously testified that he did not con-
sider it necessary to telephone to Adniral Kimmel on the morning
of 7 December and that he had not telephoned at any time previous
to the attack, but that one regret which he had was that Le had not
telephoned a message that morning to Admiral Kimmel or paralleled
the Army message on the naval radio system.

41. The message sent by General Marshall on 7 December 1941,
which was received after the attack, advised that the Japanese were
presenting an ultimatum at 1 p. nw., that they were under orders to
destroy their code machine, that it was not known just what signifi-
eance the hour set might have but that the addressees were to be on the
alert accordingly, and that the naval authorities were to beinformed.

42, The warnings which were sent to the Commander-in-Chief,
Pacific Fleet, indicated, as to the possible places of Japanese attack,
on November 24th, that “a surprise aggressive movement in an
direction, including attack on the Philippines or Guam, is a possi-
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bility,” and, on November 27th, that “an aggressive movement by
the Japanese is expected F127] within the next few days.
The number and equipment of Japanese troops and organization
of naval task forces indicate an amphibious expedition against either
the Philippines, Thai or Kra Peninsula, or possibly Borneo.”

43. Although the warnings which were sent by the Chief of Naval
Operations to the Commander-in-Chief, Pacific Fleet, drew attention
to probable Japanese objectives to the southward and southeastward
of Japan, and did not specifically mention Pearl Harbor, both the
Chief of Naval Operations and the Commander-in-Chief, Pacific
Fleet, were aware of the possibility of a Japanese attack on Pearl
Harbor. They did not regard such an attack as probable.

44. The Japanese established several codes in November, 1941,
which were to be used in radio transmissions to econvey to their
representatives information concerning the status of relations be-
tween Japan and the United States, and other countries. These were
known as the “winds” code and the “hidden word” code. The “winds”
code was designed to indicate a break in diplomatic relations. or
possibly war, with England or the United States or Russia by the
nse in weather broadeasts of certain Japanese words signifying wind
direction.

45. The interception of a “winds” message relating to the United
States during the first week of December. 1941, would not have
conveyed any information of significance which the Chief of Naval
Operations and the Commander-in-Chief. Pacific Fleet, did not
already have.

46. No message in the “winds” code relating to the United States
was received by any of the wateh officers in the Navy Department
to whom such a message would have come had it been received in
the Navy Department. No such message was intereepted by the radio
intellicence units at Pearl Harbor or in the Philippines, although
intensive efforts were made by those organizations to intercept such
a message. The evidence indicates further that no such message
was intercepted by the British or the Dutch, despite their efforts to
intercept such a message. Neither the Fleet Intelligence Officer of
the Asiatie I'leet nor the Fleet Intelligence Officer of the Pacific Fleet
nor the Intelligence Officer of the Far Eastern Section of the Office
of Naval Intelligence, recalled any such message. The Chief of Naval
Operations. the Director of Naval Communications. and the Director
of Naval Intelligence recalled no such message. Testimony to the
effect that a “winds” code message was received prior to the attack
was given by Captain Safford. in charge of Op-20-G. a communica-
tions security section of the Navy Department. who stated that sueh
a message was received on December 3rd or 4th, that it related to
the United States, and that no copy could be found in the Navy or
Army files. In bis testimony before Admiral Hart, Captain Saflord
named, in addition to himself, thrvee other officers who, he stated,
recalled having seen and read the “winds” message. Each of those
officers testified that he had never seen such a message. The only
other testimony to the effect that a “winds” message was received
was by Captain Kramer, an intelligence officer assigned to Op-20-G,
who said that he recalled that there was a message but conld not
recall whether or not it related to the United States or Eugland or
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Russia. It may be noted that until he testified in this [2128] in-
vestigation, Captain Kramer erroneously thought that a “hidden
word” message intercepted on the morning of December Tth had
been a “winds” message.

47. On the morning of December Tth, the intercepted “hidden word”
code message was translated by Kramer. In his haste, due to the
necessity of delivering other messages, including the “1 p. m. delivery
message,” he overlooked a code word relating to the United States and
translated the message as meaning only that “relations between Japan
and England are not in accordance with expectations.” He testified
that he later discovered the ervor and a few minutes before 1 p. m. on
December Tth, he telephoned the correction to his superior officer in
the Office of Naval Intelligence and to an officer of Army Military In-
telligence.

48. Except for the omission of the United States, the “hidden word”
cocle message was literally translated and did not sufficiently reflect
previous diplomatic interceptions which indicated that the message
was to convey the idea of a erisis involving the countries in question.

49. The sources of intelligence as to the Japanese whieh the Com-
mander-in-Chief, Pacific Fleet, hiad prior to the attack inecluded, in
addition to the Chief of Naval Operations, the District Intelligence
Officer of the FOURTEENTH Naval District, and the Fleet Intelli-
cence Officer of the Pacific Fleet.

50. Under the supervision of the Istrict Intelligence Officer of
the FOURTEENTH Naval District, the telephone lines of the Jap-
anese Consul General and the Japanese Vice Consul at Honolulu were
tapped for some months prior to the attack. These were discontinued
on 2 December 1941 because the District Intelligence Officer feared that
the existence of such taps might be discovered, resulting in undesirable
complications. No information of military or naval significance was
obtained by means of the telephone taps.

51. On 6 December 1941 the local representative of the Federal Bu-
reau of Investigation at Honolulu delivered to the District Intelligence
Officer a transcript of a trans-Pacific radio telephone conversation
between a person in Honolulu named “Mor1” and a person in Japan.
This was examined by the District Intelligence Officer. It was decided
that the conversation should be further studied by a Japanese linguist
of the District Intelligence Office, who was to listen to the recording of
the conversation. This was not done until after the attack. The
transcript furnished on December 6th indicated that the person in
Japan was interested, among other things, in the daily flights of air-
planes from Honolulu and in the number of ships present. During the
conversation, references were made to flowers, which, it now appears,
may have been code words signityine the presence or absence of ships,
and a method of conveying information to the approaching Japanese
ships, which presumably would have been listening in on the conversa-
tion. Prior investigations indicate that the “Mori conversation” was
also brought to the attention of General Short on 6 December 1941.

[729] 52, Under the supervision of the District Intelligence
Ofticer of the FOURTEENTH Naval District, copies of various cable
messages from and to the Japanese Consul General at Honolulu, via
a commerecial communications company, were obtained during the
first week of December, 1941, This was the first time that such mes-
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sages had been obtained. The messages were in code and efforts were
made immediately to decrypt and translate them. Some messages
were decrypted before the attack. These contained no information
of particular significance.

53. No information secured at Oahu prior to the attack by means
of the telephone taps or through the interception of messages of the
Japanese Consul General indicated the likelihood of war or of an
attack on Pearl Harbor.

54. One of the Japanese Consul General’s messages, which was ob-
tained by the District Intelligence Officer and turned over on 5 De-
cember 1941 to the Radio Intelligence Unit for decryption and trans-
lation, was a message dated December 3rd. This niessage was in a
Japanese code known as the “PA-K2.” Tt was descrypted and trans-
lated by the Radio Intelligence Unit at Pear]l Harbor after the attack.
The message was one in which the Japanese Consul General advised
of a change in a method which had been established for communica-
tion by visual signals from Oalu, whereby lights in houses on the
beach, the use of a sailboat, certain want ads to be broadcast over a
local radio station, and bonfires, would convey information as to the
presence or absence of various types of warships of the Pacific Fleet,
Although the Radio Intelligence Unit at Pearl Harbor was unable to
decrypt this message prior to the attack, the message was decrypted
and transtated in rough form on 6 December 1941 by a civilian trans-
lator in Op-20-G of the Navy Department in Washington. That sec-
tion had received the message from an Army radio intercept station at
Fort Hunt, Virginia. Captain Kramer testified he had no specific
recollection of having seen this translation prior to the attack, but
the evidence indicates that the rough translation was shown to him on
the afternoon of December 6th and that due to the pressure of work on
other important Japanese diplomatic messages, no action was taken
on the translation until 8 December 1941.

55. On 2 December 1941, the Japanese Consul General at Honolulu
received a coded message from Tokyao which stated that in view of the
existing situation, the presence of the ships in port was of utmost im-
portance, that daily reports were to be submitted, that the reports
should advise whether or not there were observation balloons at Pearl
Harbor, and whether or not the warships were provided with anti-
torpedo nets. This message was intercepted by an Army radio inter-
cept station at Fort Shafter, Hawaii, and apparently was forwarded
by mail to the War Department for decryption and translation. The
translation supplied by the Army indicates that the message was
translated on 30 December 1941.

56. On the afternoon of 6 December 1941, the Japanese Consul
General at Honolulu sent two messages in the “PA-K2” code which
indicated the likelihood of an air attack. The first reported that
there were no signs of barrage balloon equipment at Pearl Harbor,
that in'all probability there was considerable opportunity left to take
advantage for a surprise attack against Pearl Harbor, Hickam, Ford,
and Ewa, and that the battleships [130] did not have torpedo
nets. The second message reported on the ships at anchor on De-
cember 6th, and stated that it appeared that no air reconnaissance
was being conducted by the Fleet air arm. These messages were not
obtained by Naval Intelligence at Honolulu prior to the attack.
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They were, however, both intercepted by an Army intercept station
at San Francisco and were forwarded by teletype to the Army. The
translations of these messages farnished by the Army indicate that
they were translated on December 8th. They could have been de-
crypted and translated in the Navy Department in about an hour
and a half.

57. There were no formal arrangements whereby the Navy com-
municated fo the Army estimates of the location and movements of
Japanese naval forces. Officers of the Iar Eastern Section of Mili-
tary Intelligence at Washington had access to charts maintained in
the Far Eastern Division of the Office of Naval Intelligence showing
such information, and had access to radio intelligence information
available in the Navy Department, and the situation was discyssed
with them. At Pearl Harbor, an intelligence ofticer of the Hawaiian
Air Force received some general information concerning Japanese
movements from the Fleet Intelligence Officer.

58. The War Department had information which led that De-
partment to believe that Japanese naval forces were in the Marshalls
m November, 1941. This appears from a War Department dispatch
of 26 November 1941 to General Short, information to Admiral
Kimmel, concerning a special photographic reconnaissance to be
flown over Truk and Jaluit, in order to obtain information, among
other things, as to the number and location of naval vessels. The
reconnaissance was not flown because the special Army planes were
not made ready.

59. On 27 November 1941, a Pacific Fleet Intelligence bulletin was
distributed by the Commander-in-Chief, Pacific Fleet, to his com-
mand. This bulletin set forth the available information concerning
the organization of the Japanese Navy. It revised an earlier bulletin
on the same subject and pointed cut that the principal change was a
further ierease in the number of fleet commands. This arose from
the regrouping of aireraft carriers and seaplane tenders into separate
forces. The bulletin stated, among other things, that the Japanese
Carrier Fleet consisted of ten cavriers which were organized into five
divisions, each having two carriers.

60. Current information, derived from traffic analyses, concerning
the location and movements of Japanese naval forces was obtained
by the Commander-in-Chief, Pacific Fleet, from the Fleet Intel-
hgence Officer, who received it primarily from the Radio Intelligence
Unit at Pearl Harbor, Such information also was contained in dis-
patches from the Radio Infelligence Unit in the Philippines and
from the Far Eastern Section of Naval Intelligence in Washington,
D. C.

61. Fortnightly Intelligence bulletins were issued by the Office of
Naval Intelligence and mailed te the Pacific Fleet. among others.
These included summaries of the information concerning Japanese
naval forces which had been received from the Radio Intelligence
Units at Pearl Harbor and at the Philippines.

[iZ27]} 62. On November 26th, ConFOURTEEN sent a dispateh
to OpNav, information to CincePae, CincAF, and ComSINTEEN,
which summarized the information as to Japanese naval movements
obtained by the Radio Intelligence Unit at Pearl Harbor during the
preceding month. The dispateh indicated that the Commander Sec-
ond Fleet had been organizing a task force comprising units of
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varions fleets. This dispatch stated that there was believed to be a
strong concentration of submarines and air groups in the Marshalls,
which included at least one ecarrier division unit (not necessarily a
carrier), plus probably one-third of the submarine fleet. The estimate
was that a strong force night be preparing to operate in southeastern
Asia while component parts might operate from Palao and the
Marshalls. . . ) ,

63. The radio intercepts by the radio intelligence unit located 1n
the Philippines were considered by OpNav to be the most reliable
because of the location of the unit.” On 26 November 1941, the radio
intelligence unit in the Philippines, in a dispatch to CinePac, OpNav
and others, commented on the above dispatch of ComFOURTEEN
and stated that traffic analysis for the past few days had indicated
that the Commander-in-Chief, Second Fleet, was directing various
fleets units in a loose-knit task force that apparently would be divided
into two sections. The first section was expected to operate in the
South China area. The second section was expected to operate in the
Mandates. It was estimated that the second section included “Car
Div 3, RYUJO, and one MARU.” This dispatch also stated that the
ComSIXTEEN unit could not confirm the supposition that carriers
and submarines in force were in the Mandates, and that their best
indications were that all known carriers were still in the Sasebo-IXure
area. It was stated that this evaluation was considered to be reliable.

64 From time to time after November 27th, there were sighting
reports from the Asiatic Fleet and other observers, copies of which
were received by Admiral Kimmel, which confirmed the movement of
important Japanese naval forces to the southward of Japan. These,
however, did not report the movement of carriers.

65. After November 27th, the Radio Intelligcence Unit at Pearl
Harbor continued the practice of preparing daily summaries of the
information received through their traffic analysis of Japanese naval
communications, which were submitted to Layton, the Fleet Intelli-
gence Officer, for transmittal to Admiral Kimmel on the following
morning. Admiral Kimmel received and initialed these summaries
daily on and after 27 November. On December 6th, he initialed the
summary dated December 5th, which was the last one he received
prior to the attack.

66. On November 28th, Admiral Kimmel received a communication
intelligence summary dated November 27th, which stated, among
other things, that there was no further information on the presence of
a carrier division in the Mandates and that “carriers were still located
in home waters.” The next day, he received the November 28th sum-
mary which indieated, among other things, the view that the Japanese
radio intelligence net was [132] operating at full strength
upon U. 8. Naval communications and “IS GETTING RESULTS.”
There was no information set forth in the summary as to carriers. On
the following day, Admiral Kimmel received the summary dated
November 29th, which, among other things, indicated that Carrier
Division 8 was under the immediate command of the Commander-in-
Chief, Second Fleet. On December 1st, Admiral Kimmel received the
previous day’s stmmary which stated as to carriers that the presence
of a unit of plane guard destroyers indicated the presence of at least
one carrier in the Mandates, although this had not been confirmed.
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67. The December 1st summary, which Admiral Kimmel received,
stated that all Japanese service radio calls of forces afloat had changed
promptly at 0000 on 1 December; that previously serviee calls had
been changed after a period of six months or more and that ealls had
been last changed on 1 November 1941, This summary stated, and
was underscored by Admiral Kimmel, that “The fact that service
calls lasted only one month indicates an additional progressive step.
in preparing for operations on a large scale.” It also stated, among
other things, that a large number of submarines were believed to be
east of Yokosuka-Chichijima and Saipan, and as to carriers that there
was “no change.”

68. On 2 December 1941, Admiral Kimmel examined a memoran-
dum which Layton had prepared on December 1st at his request. This
contained Layton’s estimate, on the basis of all available information,
of the location of Japanese naval forces. This estimate placed in the
Bako-Takao area Carrier Division 4 and Carrier Division 3, which
ineluded four carriers, and the “IKASUGA MARU” (believed to have
been a converted carrier). The estimate placed one carrier “KORYU
(%) plus plane guards” in the Marshalls area.

(9. Layton’s written estimate made no mention of Japanese Carrier
Divisions 1 and 2, consisting of four carriers. This omission was de-
liberate. The reason was that Layton considered that the information
as to the location of those carriers was not sufficient to warrant a
reliable estimate of their whereabouts.

70. On 2 December 1941, Admiral Kimmel and Layton had the fol-
lowing econversation :

Captain Layrox. As best 1 recall it, Admiral Kimmel said, “What! Yon
don't know where Carrier Division 1 and Carrier Division 2 are?’ and I re-
plied, “No, sir, I do not. I think they are in home waters, but I do not know
where they are. The rest of these units, I feel pretty confident of their loca-
tion.” Then Admiral Kimmel looked at me, as sometimes he would, with some-
what a stern countenance and yet partially with a twinkte in his eye and said,
“Ido you mean to say that they could be rounding Diamond Head and you wouldn't
know it?" or words to that effect. My reply was that, “I hope they would be
gighted before now,” or words to that effect. * * *#

[133] Captain LayroN, His question was absolutely serious, but when he
said, “Where are Cardivs 1 and 27" and I said, “T do not know precisely, but if
I must estimate, I would say that they are probably in the Kure area since we
haven't heard from tliem in a long time and they may be refitting as they finished
operations only a month and a half ago,” and it was then when he, with a twinkle
in his eye, said, “Do you mean to say they could be rounding Diamond Head?"
or words to that effect. In other words, he was impressing me on my complete
ignorance as to their exact location. * * *

Captain LaytoN. This incident has been impressed on my mind. I do not say
that I quote him exactly, but I do know that he made such a statement to me
in the way to point out to me that I should know where they are but hadn’t so

indicated their location.
71. The December 2nd radio intelligence summary, which was de-
livered to Admiral Kimmel on December 3rd, stated as to carriers:
Almost a complete blank of information on the earriers today. Lack of identi-
fication has somewhat promoted this lack of information. However, since over

200 service calls have been partially identified since the ehange on the first of
December and not one earrier call has been recovered, it is evident that carrier

traffic is at a low ebb. .

79. The radio intelligence summary delivered to Admiral Kimmel
on December 4th stated, in part, “No information on submarines or car-
riers.” The summary delivered on December 5th made no mention
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of carriers. The summary delivered on December 6th stated, in part,
“No traffic from the Commander Carriers or Submarine Force has
been seen either.”

[134] v
RECONNAISSANCE

A. The Responsibility for Long Distance Reconnaissance.

1. The Navy's obligation. Under the Joint Coastal Frontier De-
fense Plan (Exhibit 80), which was in effect prior to the attack, the
Navy was responsible for long distance reconnaissance.

Amnex VII, Section VI, to the Joint Coastal Frontier Defense Plan
made provision for joint air action by the Army and Navy for defense
against hostile raids or air attacks prior to a declaration of war. Un-
der this agreement, it the naval aircraft were insuflicient for long
distance patrol and search operations and Army aireraft were made
available, the Army aircraft were to be used by the Navy. This plan
was implemented by the Naval Base Defense Air Force Plan, under
which Admiral Bellinger would command the Navy and Army patrol
planes. Annex VII, Section VI, to the Joint Coastal Frontier Defense
Plan and the Naval Base Defense Air Force Plan were not operative
prior to the attack. An agreement between the Commanding General
and ComFOURTEEN that threat of a hostile attack was imminent
was a prerequisite to the operation of Annex VII, Section VI. No
such agreement was made prior to the attack.

9. Control of the Pacific Fleet patrol planes. The Pacific Fleet
patrol planes were actually under the control and operating in ac-
cordance with the orders of Admiral Kimmel. Thus, on November
29nd he approved the schedules for the employment of those planes,
which remained in effect up to the time of the attack. His respounsibil-
ity for the operations of the patrol planes, which were under the com-
mand of Commander, Task Force Nine, of the Pacific Fleet, is further
indicated by the fact that he directed search operations by those planes
at Midway and Wake.

Admiral Bellinger, who commanded Task Force Nine, which con-
sisted of Patrol Wings One and T'wo of the Fleet, was under the com-
mand of ComFOURTEEN only when the Naval Base Defense Air
Force Plan was activated for the purpose of drills.

The responsibility for the employment of the fleet patrol planes was,
as Admiral Kimmel testified before the Naval Court, his responsibility
and was accepted by him. He testified further that Admiral Bloch
had asked for the dispatch of patrol planes for a search if he had telt
that it was necessary. In this connection it should be noted that on
October 17, 1941, Admiral Bloch had asked for certain Fleet utility
planes to be used for inshore patrol and that they were not made
available to him (Exhibit 46, Naval Court). It should be noted that
ComFOURTEEN had no planes assigned to him.

Admiral Bellinger testified that he was responsible for the opera-
tion of the Fleet planes in accordance with the orders of Admiral
[135] Kimmel. He said, however, that it was not his responsi-
bility to decide whether or not Jong range reconnaissaunce should be
condueted. Rear Admiral A. C. Davis, who was the Fleet Air Officer
on CinePac’s staff in 1941, testified before Admiral Hart that his
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duties were primarily, if not almost entirely, concerned with technical
training zm(} logistic matters.

3. Conferences after 27 November 1941 concerning reconnaissance.
There 1s no evidence that on or after 27 November 1941 the necessity
or advisability of long distance reconnaissance was specifically dis-
cussed between Admiral Kinmumnel and any member of his Staff or
Task Force Commanders. Admiral McMorris, the War Plans Officer,
testified that he thought the subject was discussed, but that he could
recall no specific conference dealing with this subject. Admiral Bell-
inger testified that there was no such conference in which he partie-
ipated. Admiral Kimmel's testimony before the Naval Court was to
the etfect that on November 27th he decided not to conduct long range
reconnaissance. It is significant that Captain Layton, who was the
Fleet Intelligence Officer, stated that he did not tell Admiral Kimmel
prior to December Tth that aerial reconnaissance from Oshu would
be advisable in view of the available intelligence because he knew that
reconnaissance was being conducted by the Ileet patrol planes. He
said that he was not familiar with the extent of the reconnaissance,
but definitely believed that reconnaissance was being conducted.
Neither the Chief of Staff nor the Assistant Chiet of Statft and Opera-
tions Officer could recall any discussion of the advisability or necessity
for long range reconnaissance from Qahn between November 27th and
December Tth.

B. Reconnaissance Conducted from Oahu.

Although the schedules for the Fleet patrol planes (Exhibit 37)
did not provide for any reconnaissance from Oahu, the Fleet Security
Letter (Exhibit 8, NC) directed that there be a patrol of the Fleet
operating arveas, The Fleet operating areas were thirty miles to the
south of Oahu.

During the period 30 November to T December 1941, certain searches
were flown from Wake and Midway. The extent of these searches
appears in Exhibit 50A of this investigation. One squadron had been
sent to Midway on the 30th of November and searched en route; an-
other squadron had been sent from Midway to Wake on the 1st of
December aud returned to Pearl Harbor prior to the attack, searching
en route (Exhibit 50, 50A).

Prior to 7 December 1941 the last datly long distance reconnaissance
flown from Oahu was in the summer of 1941, According to Admiral
Bloch’s previous testimony, some time during the summer of 1941,
on the basis of some intelligence or information which he could not
recall, he asked Admiral Kimmel to direct reconnaissance on a sector
towards Jaluit and this was done for several days. Admiral Kimmel
recalled that such reconnaissance had been flown for a few days on
the line from Jaluit to Pearl Harbor and stated that they had in mind
that they might catch a submarine on the surface out there and perhaps
any other vessel there. Despite thorough examination of the available
records of Patwing Two, of the CinePac operation files, of the Com-
FOURTEEN files, of the CincPac secret dispatches for 1941 and con-
fidential and restricted dispatches for June, July, and August, 1941, no
vecord of this reconnaissance could be found. None of the witnesses
examined recalled the reconnaissance or the reasons for it.
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[136] C. Proposed drmy Reconnaissance to Jalwit.

In the Army report it was stated that on November 26th the Army
directed General Short to send two B-24’s to Jaluit on a reconnais-
sance mission to look for various things, including ships. However,
the Army report does not state whether this reconnaissance actually
took place.

Before the Roberts’ Committee, General Gerow said that reports
had been received of Japanese concentrations in the Mandated Islands .
and they assumed that every effort was being made to identify any
Japanese movements in that direction. He stated that those two
B-24’s were sent out with an idea of trying to confirm information
that had been received from other sources. If no reconnaissance at all
were done after the Army’s message to General Short which directed
such reconnaissance as he deemed necessary, General Gerow said that
would have been considered a failure to obey orders.

The status of this reconnaissance has been quite definitely confirmed
by Captain Layton’s testimony in this investigation. In the latter
part of November, 1941, Captain Layton stated, either Admiral Kim-
mel directed him to establish contact with the Hawaiian Air Force
pertaining to this reconnaissance or else his opposite number, Colonel

aley, came to him with the information of the pending reconnais-
sance and requested his assistance towards dehineating the appropriate
objectives and to furnish the pilots and crews with intelligence ma-
terial for briefing. He was also requested to assist in the projected
reconnaissance. The reconnaissance unfortunately never material-
ized, he stated, because only one plane arrived and there were delays
due to uncompleted camera installations. He was never informed
that one plane had arrived, but later learned that it was destroyed
in the attack on Hickam Field. The Navy was extreniely anxious
that the reconnaissance be made at the earliest possible date, and
Admiral Kimmel, upon receipt of Captain Layton’s memorandum con-
cerning information he had obtained at the conference, asked him
how soon the reconnaissance might be expected. Captain Layton
relayed Colonel Raley’s answer to the Admiral to the effect that the
delay was due to non-installation or non-completion of installation
of cameras and the time was still not, definitely fixed. A photostatic
copy of a memorandum of November 28th from Captain Layton to
Admiral Kimmel concerning this reconnaissance appears in the record
as Exhibit 28. Furthermore, Captain Layton was questioned as to his
lmowledge of any discussion concerning the possibility of the use
of Navy planes for this reconnaissance. Captain Layton replied that
it was not discussed with him, but he thought that PBY “Catalinas”
could not be used because their appearance over the Marshalls would
have been an overt act, while the Army planes, on the other hand,
would have been flying ostensibly from Wake to Port Darwin en
route to the Philippines. Captain Layton was particularly anxious
that this reconnaissance be carried out to check on his information
as to the presence or absence of air strength and carviers and sub-
marines and naval concentrations in the Marshalls area, including
Truk. This was an ideal opportunity to establish the reliability of
existing intelligence on Japanese naval dispositions and developments
in the Mandated Islands.

Admiral Bellinger recalled nothing concerning the proposed Army
reconnaissance flicht over the Mandated Tslands.
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[137] D. The Direction to Ewecute an Appropriate Defensive De-
ployment.

Among the tasks assigned to the Pacific Fleet by the Basic Navy
War Plan was to protect the territory of the Associated Powers in the
Pacific area by destroying hostile expeditions and by supporting land
and air forces in denying the enemy the use of land positions in that
Liemisphere. It will be recalled that the Pacific Fleet War Plan, which
- was designed to implement the Navy Basic War Plan, provided, among
other things, that in the event of war with the Axis Powers, including
or excluding Japan, the patrol planes of the Pacific Fleet were to con-
duect the maximum reconnaissance possible of the approaches to Oahu.
The Pacific Fleet Plan was not ordered to be executed prior to the
attack.  On the 27th of November, however, in the war warning, whieh
advised that an aggressive move by Japan was expected within a few
days, the Chief of Naval Operations had directed Admiral Kimmel to
“Execute an appropriate defensive deployment preparatory to carry-
ing out the tasks assigned in WPL—6.” .

On the following day, the Chief of Naval Operations. in his dispatch
which repeated the Army dispatch advising that hostilities were
possible at any moment, had directed that Admiral Kimmel was to
“Be prepared to carry out the tasks assigned in WPL-46.”

Admiral Kimmel testified before the Naval Court that as the result
of the “war warning,” he continued the security measures already in
effect (supra, page 64) ; carried out the planned movements of carriers
to Wake and Midway, with reconnaissance en route; carried out re-
connaissance at Midway and Wake; increased security measures in
flect operating areas southward of Oahu; and, on November 28th,
issued an order directing extreme vigilance against submarines in op-
erating areas and depth bombing of all contacts. suspected to be hos-
tile, in certain of the operating arveas (page 5, Exhibit 70). There is
no evidence of any other specific action taken by Admiral Kimmel
after 27 November 1811, 1n order to carry out the direction contained
in the war warning or the direction in the message of November 28th.
It does appear that so far as the Fleet patrol planes at Oahu were con-
cerned, their training continued along the same lines which had been
followed prior to the “war warning.”

The testimony by Admiral McMorris, the War Plans Officer. and
others in this investigation, is to the eflect that the establishment of
long distance air reconnaissance from Oahu would have been an “Ap-
propriate defensive deployment preparatory to carrying out the tasks
assigned in WPL-46.”

It is interesting to note that the memoranda prepared by the War
Plans Officer on November 30th and 5 December 1941, setting forth
the action to be taken if war developed with Japan in twenty-fonr or
forty-eight hours, contained no provision for the establishment of
reconnaissance from Qahu (Exhibit 69A and 69B, Naval Conrt). As
Vice Admiral Smith, Chief of Staff, testified, what they were thiking
about in the Pacific was not the defense of Pearl Harbor. They were
thinking about the IFleet and the readiness of the Fleet.

E. The Reconnaissance that Could Have Been Flown.

A review of past reconnaissance during Admiral Kimmel’s tour
of duty sheds no light on this problem because he testified that he
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had never attempted to cover any large sector by lang range recon-
naissance and that a patrol out to 300 miles was almost useless unless
as a guard against an air raid, although any patrol has some value
as far as surface ships arve concerned. However, his predecessor. Ad-
miral Richardson, had established a distant patrol, “in view of the
fact that constant and repeated warnings were received of the pos-
sible outbreak of the war in the hmmediate future” (p. 1033, Naval
Court). This patrol, he said, was designed to cover [138] i
given sector adequately and was rotated daily. 'The sector which was
primarily covered more adequately and frequently than any other was
from 170° to the westward to about 350°. That to the eastward was
not covered.

Admiral Richardson also testified that this patrol would not have
been adequate to positively detect an approaching combat force hav-
ing as its intention the delivery of an attack early in the morning,
but that it certainly would have made the attack more difticult. These
patrols were discontinued when or shortly before Admiral Kimmel
relieved Admiral Richardson.

Admiral Bellinger’s testimony on the reconnaissance that could
have been flown during the critical period is obviously the most valu-
able on the subject. He stated that after October 28th, while there
were 107 VP assigned to all units of Aireraft Scouting Force, only
eighty-one were available. Of these, fifty-four had just arrived and
were the PBY-5 type, with limited available spare parts. The num-
ber of plane crews did not quite equal the number of planes available.
If one could consider eighty-one planes available, and assuming that
there would have been none lost because of breakdowns requiring
spare parts, it would have been practicable to use omne-third, abouf
twenty-seven planes, for daily patrol. Kach plane could cover a
sector of eight degrees with a radius of 700 miles, totalling approxi-
mately 216 degrees daily. This, however, would have been the ab-
solute maximum because of the lack of suflicient crews and spare parts.
144 degrees could have been covered daily based on the use of eighteen
planes daily of the fifty-four new PBY-5%. Actually, on 7 Decem-
ber 1941 there were in all only sixty-one planes available at Oahu, one
squadron of which had just returned from Midway and Wake and
required overhaul. This left forty-nine planes actually available. one-
third of which would have been able to cover 128 degrees.

Admiral Bellinger testified that if he had received a directive from
Admiral Kimmel during the first week of December, 1941, to conduct
360 degrees reconnaissance with the available Navy planes, it would
have been possible to maintain such reconnaissance for not more than
four or five days. His estimate of the duration of the daily 128-degree
search was that it could have been flown until the failure of planes
and the lack of spare parts reduced the planes to such an extent that
further reconnaissance was impossible. It appears that such recon-
naissance could have been carried on for an indefinite period and
Admiral Bellinger’s “vague” estimate was that it could have been
carried on for several weeks.

Admiral Davis testified before Admiral Hart that: “There were
not enough planes and pilots to establish and maintain a long range,
360 degree search indefinitely, or even for more than a limited time.
There were, however, enough to approximate this by using relatively

79716—46—KEx. 157—32
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short range planes in the least dangerous sectors, and by obtaining
some assistance by available Army aireraft, so that I think it coul
have been undertaken, had it been considered essential, on the basis
that reenforcements could have arrived before personnel and materiel
fatigue set in. Unless reenforcements arrived, it could not have been
maintained.”

[139] F. The Sectors Which Would Have Been Covered.

Had partial reconnaissance been flown from QOahu during the first
week of December, 1941, it appears that the norvthern sectors would
have been covered. Admiral Bellinger testified that he considered
the northern sectors as the most dangerous sectors primarily because
of the prevailing winds which would facilitate carrier-based plane
operations in that sector. He stated that had the normal plan been
carried out after the attack, on December 7th patrol planes would have
searched the northern sector, and that some few plaues did search
that sector. But there had been searches made to the south because of
information received from CincPac to the effect that a radio bearing
indicated that the attacking force was to the south.

[140] FINDINGS

78. Other than radio intelligence and sighting reports from other
sources, the only practicable way by which the Commander-in-Chief,
Pacific Fleet, could have obtained information as to the location or
movements of Japanese naval forces from 27 November to 7 Decem-
ber 1941 was by long distance air reconnaissance.

4. Under the Joint Coastal Frontier Defense Plan, the Navy had
the obligation, through Com 14, to conduct distance reconnaissance,
and under Annex VII, Section VI, to the Joint Coastal Frontier De-
fense Plan, naval forces were to be supplemented by available Army
aireraft if the naval aircraft were insufficient for long distance patrol
and search operations. As previously pointed out. the latter plan was
not in operation because an agreement between the Commanding
General and Com 14 that threat of a hostile attack was imminent was
a prerequisite and no such agreement had been made prior to the
attack. The Naval Base Defense Air Force Plan, which implemented
the agreements for joint Army-Navy air action, similarly was not
operative prior to the attack.

75. No patrol planes were under the command of Admiral Bloch,
The only Navy planes suitable for long distance reconnaissance were
the Pacific Fleet patrol planes.

76. The Pacific Fleet patrol planes were under the control of
Admiral Kimniel, and he had the responsibility for their utilization,
They were operated after 22 November 1941 in accordance with sched-
ules approved by him at that time, which were not revised prior to
the attack. The schedules stressed training operations. They did not
provide for distant reconnaissance from Oahu.

77. Admiral Kimmel testified before the Naval Court of Inquiry
that he decided on November 27th that there should be no distant re-
connaissance.

78. There is no evidence of any specific discussion between Admiral
Kimmel and members of his staff on or after the receipt of the “war
warning,” as to the advisability or practicability of long range recon-
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naissance from Qahu. The War Plans Officer thought that the subject
must have been discussed, but could recall no specific discussion. The
Commander of the Fleet patrol planes, who had not been informed
of any of the significant warning messages, testified that Admiral
Kimmel had no such discussion with him.

79. The joint estimate by Admiral Bellinger, Commander, Fleet
Patrol Planes, and General Martin, Commanding General, Hawaiian
Air Force, which was used as a basis for the joint Army-Navy agree-
nents, was prophetic in its estimate that in the event of attack on
Hawaii, the most likely and dangerous form of attack would be an
air attack to be launched at dawn from carriers about 200 miles from
Oahu. This estimate stated that the action open as a counter-
weasure included daily patrols as far as possible from Oahu, to sectors
through 360 degrees, to reduce the possibilities of surface or air
surprise. It further stated that such [241] patrols could be
effectively maintained with the personnel and materiel available at
the time (March, 1941) for a very short period and that such patrols
were not practicable unless other intelligence indicated that a sur-
face raid was probable within narrow limits of time. According to
Admiral Bellinger, it was realized by the responsible officers of the
Pacific Fleet that another course of action which was always open
was o fly a patrol of less than 360 degrees, with the available air-
craft, covering the more dangerous sectors.

80. A daily search of the Fleet operating areas to the southward
of Oahu was being carried out prior to the attack, in accordance
with the provisions of the Pacific E*‘leet letter on security of the Fleet
at base and in operating areas.

81. No distant reconnaissance was flown from Oahu during the
critical period 27 November to 7 December 1941. The last previous
distant reconnaissance flown from Qahu appears to have been for
several days during the summer of 1941 on a sector toward Jaluit.
This reconnaissance had been directed by Admiral Kimmel at Ad-
miral Bloeh’s request.

82. Late in November, 1941, the Army planned to conduct a recon-
naissance flight from Oahu to Jaluit and Truk, with the Navy assisting
by providing intelligence. The reconnaissance was not flown because
the Army planes were not made ready prior to the attack.

83. The Navy Basic War Plan assigned to the Pacific Fleet the
task of protecting the territory of the Associated Powers in the Pa-
cific area by destroying hostile expeditions and by supporting land
and air forces in denying the enemy the use of land positions in
that hemisphere. Under the provisions of Pacific Fleel Operating
Plan Rainbow Five, when that plan became effective, the Pacific Fleet
patrol planes were to maintain maximum patrol plane search against
enemy forces in the approaches to the Hawaitan area, having due re-
gard for time required for overhaul and repair of planes and for con-
servation of personnel.

84. In the war warning of November 27th, which advised that
negotiations with Japan had ceased and that an aggressive move by
Japan was expected within a few days, the Chief of Naval Operations
directed that Admiral Kimmel “execute an appropriate defensive
deployment preparatory to carrying out the tasks assigned in
WPL-46.”
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85. The dispatch of November 28th repeated an Army dispatch,
which, among other things, advised General Short that Japanese
future action was unpredictable but that hostile action was possible
at any moment. The Navy dispatch directed that Admiral Kimmel
was to undertake no offensive action until Japan had committed an
overt act and that he was to “be prepared to carry out tasks assigned
in WPL-G6 so far as they apply to Japan in case hostilities occur.”

86. The establishment of long distance air reconnaissance from
Oahu would have been an “appropriate defensive deployment prepar-
atory to carrying out the tasks assigned in WPL-46.”

[742] 87. The Fleet patrol planes available at Oahu in the
week preceding the attack were not suflicient to have conducted 360
degree reconnaissance daily for more than a few days.

88. Prior to the attack, requests had been made by the Pacific Fleet
to the Navy Department to increase the number of patrol planes
assigned to the Fleet. Some new replacement planes had been sent to
the Fleet during October and November, 1941.  Additional planes, as
evidenced by the prompt arrival of reenforcements after December
Tth, could have been made available by the Navy Department, but at
the expense of defenses in other areas. The Navy Department pre-
sumably knew that the number of planes available at Oahu were not
sufficient to conduct 360 degree reconnaissance daily for more than a
few days. The evidence in prior investigations indicates that after
November 27th, responsible officers in the Navy Department thought
that reconnaissance was being conducted from Oahun to the extent
practicable with the planes available there.

89. There were suflicient Fleet patrol planes and crews in fact avail-
able at Oahu during the week preceding the attack to have flown,
for at least several weeks, a daily reconnaissance covering 128 degrees
to a distance of about 700 miles.

90. The sectors north of Oahu were generally recognized as being
the most likely sectors from which a Japanese attack would cone, if
the Japanese were to attack Pearl Harbor.

91. If a daily distant reconnaissance had been flown from Qahu
after 27 November 1941, with the available patrol planes, the northern
sectors probably would have been searched.

Tne Arrack ox PearL Harpor

A. Prelude: Japanese Submarines on 7 December 1941,

At 0342, 7 December 1941, the USS CONDOR, a minesweeper,
sighted a submarine periscope off the entrance buoys to Pearl Harbor.
This was in a defensive sea area where American submarines had
been restricted from operating submerged. When sighted, the sub-
marine was proceeding toward the entrance buoys. It was about
100 feet from and on a collision course with the CONDOR, but turned
sharply to port. The CONDOR simultancously turned to starboard.

The CONDOR reported the incident by blinker to the USS WARD
between 0350 and 0358. The WARD was a destrayer of the Inshore
Patrol then engaged in patrol duty off the entrance to the harbor.
The CONDOR then continued on its assigned mission. The message
to the WARD read:

Sighted submerged submarine on westerly course, speed 9 knots.
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After receiving this visual signal, the WARD made a sonar search
for about an hour and a half, without result. It then communicated
by radio with the CONDOR, asking :

What was the approximate distance and course of the submarine that you
sighted?

At 0520 the CONDOR replied :

The course was about what we were steering at the time 020 magnetic and
about 1000 yards from the entrance apparentty heading for the entrance.

In response to further inquiries made by the WARD between 0321
and 0536, the CONDOR advised again that the last time it had sighted
the submarine was about 0350 and that it was appavently headed for
the entrance. On receiving the message gi\'in‘% the submarine’s course
as about 020 magnetic, the captain of the WARD realized that his
search had been in the wrong direction. He then continued searching.
but again withont result.

The CONDOR made no report of the incident, except to the WARD,
The captain considered that the identification at that time was not
positive enough to make a report to other than the Senior Officer
Present Afloat. The Senior Officer Present Afloat, Licutenant Com-
mander Outerbridge, who commanded the WARD, made no report
to higher authority. The captain of the WARD thought that the
CONDOR might have been mistaken in concluding that it had seen
a submarine,

The radio conversation between the WARD and CONDOR was
overheard and transcribed in the log of the Section Base, Bishop’s
Point, Oahu, a radio station then under the jurisdiction of the
Commander, Tnshore Patrol, 14th N. D. (Ex. 18). Since the con-
versation was solely [Z244] between the ships and was not ad-
dressed to the Section Base and no request was made that it be relaved,
the Bishop’s Point Radio Station did not relay or report it to higher
authority. The loudspeaker watch on the same frequency, which was
maintained in the Communications Office, 14th N. D., did not over-
hear or intercept the WARD-CONDOR conversation.

At the entrance to Pearl Harbor there was stationed a gate-vessel
charged with opening and closing the net at the entrance. This
anti-torpedo net was, according to Admiral Bloch’s previous testi-
mony, 45 feet in depth. The deepest part of the channel was 72 feet.
A Japanese submarine subsequently recovered was about 20 feet from
keel to conning tower.

The instructions of the Captain of the Yard were that the net
should be kept closed from sunset to sunrise and opened only on orders
from him, from the Assistant Captain of the Yard. or from the Yard
Duty Officer who could be reached via the signal tower (Exhibit 43).
The log of the gate-vessel indicates that the net was opened and
closed a number of times during the night of December 6-7. At
0458 on the Tth, the gate was opened and the CROSSBILL and the
CONDOR stood in. It was not until 0846 that the gate was closed.
The Commanding Officer of the CONDOR testified that at 0532, when
the CONDOR came in, conditions of visibility were very good and
were “approaching daylight conditions.”

The log of the signal tower for December 07, 1941 records the
closing of the gate at 2250 on 6 December, which was followed by
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an entry at 0600 that the ANTARES was reported off the harbor
(IExhibit 46).

The USS ANTARES, with a 500-ton steel barge in tow, arrived
off Pearl Harbor from Canton and Palmyra at about 0605, when it
exchanged calls with the WARD. At 0630 the ANTARES sighted
a suspicious object. which appeared to be a small submarine, about
1,500 vards on its starboard quarter. The ANTARES notified the
WARD and asked it to investigate. and several minutes later, at
about 0633, observed a Navy patrol plane circle and drop two smoke
pots near the object. (Exhibit 73.)

The WARD complied and at 0640 sighted an unidentified sub-
marine one point off its starboard bow. apparently following the
ANTARES into Pear]l Harbor. General Quarters were sounded and
all engines ordered full ahead, increasing the WARDs speed from
five to twenty-five knots. .\t 0645 she opened fire with guns 1 and 3.
firing one shot from each gun. The attack lasted only one or two
minutes. The first shot, at a range of approximately 100 yvards,
passed directly over the conning tower: the second. from No. 3 gun,
at fifty vards or less, hit the submarine at the waterline junction
of the hull and conning tower. At about this time. the ANTARES,
observing the fire of the WARD, also noted that the Navy patrol
plane appeared to drop bombs or depth charges at the submarine.
The submarine heeled over to the starboard and started to sink. The
WARD ceased firing and then dropped depth charges. A large
amount of oil appeared on the surface. The submarine went down
in 1,200 feet of water. (Exhibit 74.)

[744] At 0651 the WARD sent a radio message to the Comman-
dant, FOURTEENTH Naval District (Exhibit 18) :

We have dropped depth charges upon suhs operating in defensive sea area.

The captain of the WARD, after reflecting that this message might
not be interpreted as showing a surface submarine contact. at 0653
sent the following supplementary message :

We have attacked fired upon and dropped depth c¢harges upon submarine op-
erating in defensive sea area.

This message was received by the Bishop’s Point radio station. re-
layed to the Officer in Charge. Net and Boom Defenses, Inshore Pa-
trol, and delivered by the Communications Watch Officer, FOUR-
TEENTH Naval District, to the ComFOURTEEN Duty Officer.
The Duty Officer notified the ComFOURTEEN Chief of Staff at 0712
and, at the latter’s direction, the Duty Officer of the Commander-in-
Chief, Pacific Fleet, at 0715.

The ComFOURTEEN Chief of Staff informed Admiral Bloch.
Because of numerous previous rveports of submarine contacts. their
reaction was that the WARD had probably been mistaken, but that
if 1t were not a mistake, the WARD and the velief veady duty de-
stroyer MONAGHAN., which was dispatched, could take care of the
situation, while the Commander-in-Chief, Pacific Fleet, to whom
they had referred the information, had the power to take any other
action which might be desired.

The CincPac Staft Duty Officer was given the report at about 0720
by the Assistant Duty Officer. After several attempted phone calls
to ascertain whether Admiral Bloch knew of the report, the Staff Duty
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Officer received a phone message at 0740 from the duty officer of
PatWing 2 that a patrol plane had reported that a submarine had been
sunk in the defensive sea area; simultaneously, another phone call
from FOURTEENTH Naval District advised the CincPac Staff Duty
Officer that Admiral Bloch had been informed of the sinking and had
ordered the ready duty destroyer out to assist the WARD and the
standby destroyer to get up steam. The Staft Duty Officer then phoned
Admiral Kimmel and gave him both messages and the information
as to the action taken by Admiral Bloch. About this time, Captain
Ramsey, of PatWing 2, phoned again and the Staff Duty Officer sug-
gested he make his search planes available in case the Admiral wanted
them,

Admiral Kimmel testified before the Naval Court that between
0730 and 0740 ke received a report that a submarine had been attacked
off Pearl Harbor. He said that he was waiting for an amplification
of this report when the air attack commenced. He also stated that
the ofticer who reported the sinking of the submarine should have
hroadeast in plain language, but that he had reported in code, which
caused delay. Admiral Kimmel also testified that after 27 Novem-
ber 1941, there had been about a halt-dozen of such reports, and hence
amplification of the report was necessary.

146] The evidence indicates that the reports by the WARD
were in plain language but that a request for verification by the
WARD was later sent in code by the ComFOURTEEN Communi-
cation Officer at the direction of the ComFOURTEEN Duty Officer.
The WARD’s reply to that request was also in code and was deci-
phered at about the time when the air attack commenced.

A Japanese midget submarine entered Pearl Harbor and, after
the air attack had commenced, fired both of its torpedoes, one of
which exploded on the beach of Ford Island, passing between the
RALEIGH and the CURTISS, and the other buried itself, it was
believed, in the mud near the berth of the UTAH. This submarine
was sunk by the CURTISS and recovered from the harbor some
weeks after the attack. It had been so thoroughly destroyed that
nothing of intelligence value could be obtained from it. WWhether
or not this was the submarine which had been sighted by the
CONDOR could not be determined. No other submarine was de-
tected in the harbor.

Another Japanese midget submarine was beached off Bellows
Field, Oahu, and captured on the next day, along with its command-
ing officer. Various documents were recovered from this submarine
including a chart of Pearl Harbor, on which was laid out a course
into the harbor, around Pearl Harbor, and out of the harbor (Ex-
hibits 32A, 33A). On this chart (Ex. 33A) were indicated the posi-
tions of various ships in the harbor. The charted positions diftered
substantially from the actual berthing arrangements on December
Tth. This fact led the Army Pearl Harbor Board to conclude that
the submarine had been in the harbor for reconnaissance prior to
December Tth.

The conclusion ot the Army Pearl Harbor Board that the Jap-
anese midget submarines “must have been in the harbor a few days
before the attack and evidently were moving into and out of the
harbor at will” (Report, Army Pearl Harbor Board, page 155) is
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based wholly on the legends appearing on the Japanese maps (Ex-
hibits 32, 32A, 33. 33A) captured in the midget submarine that was
sunk off Bellows Field, and on the testimony of Robert L. Shivers,
FBI Agent in charge at Honolulu on 7 December 1941, which, in
turn, is likewise based solely on the legends appearing on the same
maps (Rep. APHDB, page 155). At the present time, Mr. Shivers
is Collector of the Port at Honolulu, and 1s in a precarious physical
condition due to a serious heart ailment. Mr. Shivers was mter-
viewed in Honolulu during the first week of June, 1945, and he stated,
as also appears in the Army Pearl Harbor Board 1'ell)o1't- (page 155),
{hat his conclusion that Japanese submarines had been in Pearl
Harbor prior to the attack was based on an examination of the maps
in question, and that he had no other information to sustain his con-
clusion. Mr, Shivers likewise had no further information to supply
in respect of the intelligence situation or the intelligence information
that was available in Honolulu prior to 7 December 1941, except to
sav that hie was mystified that the ONI tap of the telephone line of
the Japanese Consulate at Ionolulu was lifted on 2 December 1941,
pursuant to an order issued by Captain (now Rear Admiral) May-
field, the DIO. Since Mr. Shiver’s statements were no different from
those given by him in his testimony of record before the Army
Pearl Harbor Board, and since the basis of his, and the conclusion of
the Army Pearl Harbor Board. are shown to be erroneous by a care-
ful study of the legends on the maps in question, on which those con-
clusions were based, and since his health was so precarious, it was
deemed not necessary to call him as a witness.

[ 247 For the following reasons, it appears that the Japanese
midget snbmarine from which was obtained the chart of Pearl
Harbor was not in the harbor on that day, and probably had not been
there on any prior occasion:

(a) The following facts lead to the conclusion that the recovered
chart was an attack plen vather than an actual track and log of events:

(1) The characters marking certain points on the chart (Exhibits
35 and 33A) were in Chinese ideographs which give no indication of
tense. For mstance, the notation which has been variously translated
as “enemy ship sunk” and “Attack and sink enemy ships” could have
been the future meaning,  Similarly the notation translated as “Fixed
position.” could mean “Position to be fixed,” a natural course of action
before entering the channel.

(2) The times marked on the chart were unquestionably Tokyo
time (-9). This is confirmed by the computation, on the back of the
chart, of the time of dawn and sunrise at Peavl Harbor on December
& (Tokyo time).

(3) Based on (2), times along the track were all in daylight, com-
mencing at the channel entrance at dawn.

(4) The northwesterly portion of the track, to the northward of
Ford Teland, passed throngh an avea which was, and had been,
occupied by a number of ships moored to buoys, and could not have
been followed by a submarine.

(3) The courses and notations were much more neat and meticulous
than any that could have been made during the passage of narrow and
crowded waters by the navigator of a two-man submarine.
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(6) The major Japanese operation plan for the Pearl Harbor attack,
as reconstructed by a captured Japanese yeoman, and confirmed gen-
erally by captured documents, provided that the midget submarines
were to enter the harbor and after the initiation of the air attack were
to attack with torpedoes. The times on the chart were in conformity
with this, since, converted into Honolulu time, there was a waiting
period inside the harbor entrance from 0545 to 0840 and the turning
point south of Ford Island was timed 0900,

(b) The submarine had its full allowance of two torpedoes when
recovered,

(¢) The submarine commander, on interrogation, stated that he
Liad failed in his mission (IExhibit 68).

(d) The intormation on the chart was of a nature that could
more readily be obtained by civilian observers from the area surround-
ing Pearl Harbor than by dangerous submarine reconnaissance. As
has appeared earlier, the Japanese Consul General had been communi-
cating just such intelligence to Tokyo.

(e) Notations on the chart indicate that the submarine commander
received intelligence reports as late as December 5th.

[748] Intelligence information recently received indicates that
the midget submarines were carried by and launched from mother
submarines (Exhibit 69.). They were carried on the main deck abaft
the conning tower and secured to the pressure hull by means of heavy
clamps. The midgets used in the Pearl Havbor attack were 41 feet
in length, had a reported cruising range of 175 to 180 miles at their
most economical speed of 4 to 6 knots, did not have a radio transmitter,
and carried a crew of two men. They were armed with two torpedoes
and apparently carried the same designation number as their mother
subs. The exact number with the Japanese task force is not definitely
known, but there is substantial proof that there were at least five.

The midget submarine beached off Bellows Field from which the
chart was recovered bore the designation of “I-18,” apparently that of
its “mother.” In the recovered chart, at various points along the sides
of the entrance channet from Hammer Point to Hospital Point, are
notations in faint pencil, “IZ16,” “I-20,” “-29 “[-18 “I-24.”
From information received, it is now known that these are the designa-
tions of the submarines which carried the five midgets known to have
been present. The times on the recovered chart indicate a waiting pe-
riod in the narrow harbor entrance area from 0115 to 0410 (0445 to
0840, Hawaiian time). It therefore appears to be a logical assumption
that the five midget submarines were to lie in wait in the narrow en-
trance channel, approximately in the positions indicated, with the ob-
ject of torpedoing ships attempting to sortie, thus blocking the chan-
nel; and that after the initial air attack had been completed, they were
to proceed around Ford Island and complete the destruction. The
midget submarine which was sunk west of Ford Island apparently
followed just such a plan. Confirmation of this assumption is found
in a captured copy of the Japanese Plan for this operation, wherein
the following initial task is assigned to the Sixth Fleet (Submarine
Foree) : “Will observe and attack American Fleet in FIAWATIL avea.
Will make a surprise attack on the channel leading into PEARL HAR-
BOR and attempt to close it. If {he enemy moves out to fight he
will be pursued and attacked.”
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B. Suspicious Submarine Contacts Prior to 7 December 1941.

It was suspected in Washington for some time prior to December
7th that our Fleet based at Pear]l Harbor was being kept under obser-
vation by Japanese submarines, there having been, over a period of
six months, reports by our destroyers of such contacts. The Fleet
also received reports that Japanese submarines were reconnoitering
the approaches to Pearl Harbor. The number of such reports at Pearl
Harbor prior to the attack was placed by one witness at from ten to
fifteen, several of which occurred in the immediate vieinity of the en-
trance to Pearl Harbor. The contacts were on underwater sound con-
tacts, which were not confirmed by sightings.

A search of the files of CinePae has resulied in locating dispatches
that refer to three suspicious contacts during the five weeks preceding
Pearl Harbor:

(1) On3 November 1941, an oil slick avea in Iatitude 20-10, longitude
157-41 was observed by a patrol plane, and erossed by Task Force
One: an air search of a fifteen mile area by the patrol plane, a sound
search of an unspecified area by the UUSS WORDEN and an investi-
eation by [249] the USS DALE produced negative results (Ex-
hibit 48: dispatches 031920, 032035, 032133, 032300, 040042).

(2) On 28 November 1941, after the Commander-in-Chief, Pacific
Fleet, had issued an order requiring extreme vigilance against pos-
sible hostile submarines, restricting submerged submarine operations
to certain areas, and providing that all submarine contaets in other
areas sispected to be hostile were to be depth bombed, the USS
HELENA reported that a radar operator, without knowledge of the
CincPac alert, was positive that a submarine was in a restricted area
(Exhibit 48; dispatch 280835). A search by a task group with three
destrovers, of the western border and the northern half of that area,
pursued from 281050 to 281845, when abandoned by 290900, produced
no contacts (Exhibit 48: dispatches 281050, 281133, 281704, 281845).

(3) During the night of 2 December 1941, the USS GAMBLE
reported a clear metallic echo in latitude 20-30, longitude 158-23,
which was lost in a change of range, that was evaluated to have been
too rapid to indicate the presence of a submarine (Exhibit 48: dis-
patch 022336). An investigation, order to be made by Desron 4
(Exhibit 48; dispateh 030040), apparently was negative,

C. Detection of Aircraft by the Army Radar System.

It appears from the prior investigations that about 0702 on the
morning of 7 December 1941, two Army privates on duty at a mobile
radar unit on the northern part of Oahu discovered an unusually large
response on the radar in a northerly direetion and from about 136
miles. This information they reported, at about 0715, to an Army
officer on duty at the Army Information Center. The Army officer
stated that he had some information to the effect that a flight of Army
B-17s was due in that morning, and he thought that the planes de-
tected by the radar were those Army planes. He did not suspect
enemy planes and made no effort to report to his superior.

The evidence indieates that neither this information nor any other
mformation as to the direction from which the planes approached or
on which they departed was transmitted to the Naval authorities on
the day of the attack.
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D. The Air Attack.

The Japanese air attack on Pearl Havbor, according to most ob-
servers. started at 0755. It began with dive bombing and strafing
of the Naval Air Stition at Ford Tsland, and at the Army’s Hickam
Field. This was followed at Pear! Harbor by attacks on major units
of the Fleet. launched by torpedo planes and dive bombers, and was
accompanied by strafing. Next there occurred two distinet horizontal
hombing nttm-ﬁ’s from high altitudes, the last immediately preceding
a final intensive dive bombing attack. Almost simultaneonsty with
the raid on Pearl Harbor, the Juapanese attacked [ 71450] the
Kaneolie Bay Naval Air Station and Ewa Field at Barber’s Point was
strafed. Approximately 150 planes took part in the attack on Pearl
Harbor. The raid is reported variously to have ended at from 0940
to 1130 and some Japanese planes are known to have been over Oahu
after 1200. ;

The CinePac Staff Duty Oflicer learned of the inception of the air
raid during his second telephone conversation of the morning with
Admiral Kimmel. when he was advising of a report by the WARD,
after its submarine reports, that it had detained a sampan. Ile im-
mediately told the Adimiral of his receipt from the signal tower of this
niessage :

JJapanese are attacking Pearl Harbor X this is no drill.
[151] E. Location of Pacific Fleet Units.

At the time of the attack, the forces of the Pacific Fleet were, ac-
cording to Admiral Kimmel (Exhibit 73), disposed partly in port
and partly at sea as follows:

(1) In Pearl Harbor:

(a) Task Force One, Vice Admiral Pye commanding (less one
battleship, one light eruiser and one destroyer) comprising five bat-
tleships, four ligﬁt cruisers, seventeen destroyers, two light cruisers,
and four mine layers,

(b) Task Force Two (under the command of Vice Admiral Halsey,
who was at sea with units thereof constituting a separate task force—
Task Force Eight) comprising three battleships, eight destroyvers,
one light cruiser, and four mine layers.

(¢) Task Force Three (less detached units under command of Viee
Admiral Brown at sea, and less a separate task force—Task Force
Twelve—which was at sea nnder Rear Admiral Newton’s command)
comprising two heavy cruisers. and four mine layvers which were
under overhaul.

(d) Five submarines and the submarines tender PELIAS of Task
Force Seven.

(e) The TANGIER. HULBERT, CURTIS, and THORNTON,
and Patrol Squadrons VP 11, 12, 14, 22, 23, and 2+ (a total of about
sixty planes) of Task Force Nine.

() Marine Air Squadrons VMSB 232 and VMJ 252 (a total of
twenty planes) at Ewa, Oahu.

(g) Two destroyer tenders and the Base Force, consisting of the
ARGONNE, plus auxiliaries and repair vessels, and planes of Base
Force Aireratt Squadrons VJ-1, VJ-2, and VJ-3, as follows: 19
J2F, 9 JRS, 2 PBY-1, 1 J2V, '
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(2) At sea:

(a) Task Force Eight (Vice Admiral Halsey commanding) con-
sisting of one aireraft carrier (ENTERPRISE), three heavy cruisers
and nine destroyers, located 200 miles west of Pearl Harbor, standing
to ecastward, was returning to Pearl Harbor after Janding a Marine
Air Squadron at Wake Island.

(b) Task Force Three (Vice Admiral Brown commanding), less
units in port, consisting of one heavy cruiser and one mine laying
squadron, less two of its divisions, was exercising with landing boats
at Johnston Island.

[252] (¢) Task Force Twelve (Rear Admiral Newton command-
ing), ordinarily a component of Task Force Three, consisting of one
aireraft carrier (LEXINGTON), three heavy cruisers. and five de-
stroyers, located about 425 miles southeast of Midway, was proceed-
ing on a westerly course to land a Marine Air Squadron on Midway
Island.

(d) One heavy cruiser and one mine laying division, ordinarily a
part of Task Force Three, were engaged in “normal operations” at
sea southwest of Oahu.

(e) Four submarines of Task Force Seven, somewhere at sea en
route to Pearl Harbor.

(3) At other places:

(a) At Midway Island, two submarines of Task Force Seven and
Patrol Squadron VP-21 (consisting of twelve planes) of Task Force
Twelve.

(b) At Wake Island, two submarines of Task Force Seven and a
Marine Air Squadron.

(¢) At Johnston Island (in addition to Task Force Three, under-
going exercise), two Base Force PBY-1 planes.

(d) At Mare Island, five submarines of Task Force Seven.

(e) At San Diego. four submarines of Task Force Seven.

To sum up: At Pearl Harbor. there were eight battleships, two
heavy cruisers, four light cruisers. two old light cruisers, one old
cruiser mine layer, eight destroyers, five submarines, twelve mine
layers, two destroyer tenders, one submarine tender, four aircraft
tenders, various auxiliary and repair ships, and 111 aireraft of various
types, of which nine were under overhaul. At sea, there were two
aireraft carriers, eight heavy cruisers, fourteen destroyers, four sub-
marines. and one mine layer squadron less one division. At other
places, there were thirteen submarines, fourteen Navy Patrol planes
and one Marine Air Squadron.

Except as to Task Forces Eight and Twelve, which were on special
missions to reenforce Wake and Midway Islands, the dispositions of
Pacific Fleet Units as noted above were in accordance with a previously
worked out fleet employment schedule. £
[153] F. Condition of Readiness.

(1) The ships in port:

The testimony in previous investigations showed some confusion as
to the condition of readiness which was in effect on ships of the Pacific
Fleet in Pearl Harbor at the time of the attack. It appears, however,
that whether or not Condition ITL, as preseribed in the Pacific Fleet
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Letter on security of the Fleet, was in effect, the condition aboard the
battleships was in excess of that condition. Each of the battleships
had two 5-inch anti-aiveraft guns ready and two machine guns
manned. While the Flect letter on security fixed responsibility on
the senior officer present in each air defense sector for fire control in
Lis sector, no particular damage control organization was preseribec
in that letter or functioning on the ships in Pearl Harbor at the time
of the attack. The evidence in prior investigations indicates that the
anti-aiveraft batteries of the ships were quickly manned 2nd, consider-
ing the circumstances, were effectively used against the Japanese at-
tackers.

(2) The aireraft of the Pacific Fleet:

The condition of readiness in force as to the Fleet aircraft was
Baker 5 (50 per cent of the assigned aircraft to be ready on four hours
notice) with machine guns and ammunition in all planes not under-
going maintenance work. Three squadrons (one at Midway, one at
Pearl Harbor, and one at Kaneohe) were in condition Afirm 5 (100
per cent assigned aireraft to be ready on four hours notice). This
was augmented on December 7th by gpecific duty assignments which
required six planes from Patrol Squadron FOURTEEN and from
Patrol Squadron TWENTY-FOUR (at Kaneohe) and from Patrol
Squadron TWELVE (at Pearl Harbor) to be ready for flight on 30
minutes notice. On the morning of December Tth, three patrol planes
of a squadron based at Kaneohe were in the air on morning security
patrol armed with depth charges, three were ready for flight on 30
minutes notice, and four on four hours notice; and four planes of a
squadron at Pearl Harbor were in the air conducting tacties with sub-
marines and one plane was ready for flicht on 30 minutes notice.

G. Reaction to the Attack.

The hostile character of the attacking planes was not recognized un-
til the bombs fell, but there followed an immediate and general real-
ization of that fact, and a prompt application of such defensive meas-
ures as were then capable of being carried out. General Quarters was
sounded in all units ashore and afloat and, as has been pointed out
above, anti-aireraft batteries were manned and, considering the dam-
aged condition of the ships, employed to the fullest possible effect.
There was, however, an unfortunate lapse of time before damage con-
trol measures on the ships in Pearl Harbor could be carried forward,
resulting in the suffering of much damage that might otherwise have
been prevented or minimized. The damages so quickly suffered in-
cluded a partial breakdown of the communication system, preventing
an accurate interchange of necessary information, including radio di-
rection bearings of the attacking force. The futility of the attempted
counter-measures in locating and attacking the Japanese striking
force was due, in [754] large part, to a flood of wild and con-
flicting reports as to the location and strength, and probable intentions,
of units of the Japanese force.

The evidence obtained in the previous investigations demonstrates
clearly that the officers and men of the Pacific Fleet met the attack,
individually and jointly, with great heroism.
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165 H. Composition and Movements of the Attacking Force.
P

The chiief source of information concerning the Japanese force which
attacked Pearl Harbor is a Japanese prisoner of war who was captured
on Saipan during the Marianas Campaign. The POW was a chief
yeoman in the Japanese Navy, attached to the staff of the Commander
in Chief, Combined Fleet, Admiral Yamamoto. The reconstruction
by the POW of the events preceding and leading up to Pearl Harbor
has been substantiated andl veriﬁef by other information, including
that contained in a copy of Japanese Combined Fleet Operation Order
No. 1. recovered from the Japanese cruiser NACHI that was sunk in
Manila Bay. The prisoner’s reconstruction of the orders to the strik-
ing force is contained in Exhibit 3.

The movements of the striking force were provided for in the Japa-
nese Secret Operation Order No. 1, dated 1 November 1941, which
stated that war would be declared on the United States on X-Day,
expected to be in the early or middle part of December, and that on or
about X—16 Day the carrier task force would depart its base and pro-
ceed by way of Tankan Bay (Hotokappu Bay), Etorofu Island and
the Kuriles for Pearl Harbor, where it would deliver a surprise attack.
Japanese Combined Fleet Secret Operation Order No. 3, dated 10
November 1941, fixed as X-Day, 8 December 1941, E. L. T. (Exhibit

The Japanese striking force actually left Saiki Anchorage near the
Bongo Channel some time between November 20 and November 22,
1941, East Longitude Time, and proceeded to Tankan Bay, Etorofu
I[sland. At the latter place it assembled and fueled, and departed on
or about 28 November 1941, E. L. T., and headed eastward under
lLeavy front. The force proceeded in an easterly direction heading
on course about 085°, to a point in longiture about 170° W3 then
turned sontheast on course about 135 degrees, and proceeded to a point
northwest to due north of, and approximately 200 miles from, the 18-
land of Oahu. where it arrived early in the morning of 8 December
1941, E. L. T. From that position the Pearl Harbor attack was
launched. Following the attack, the striking force retired initially to
the northwest, on a heading of about 300°, to a point about longitude
170° E, thence to the southwest. irregularly on varying headings to a
point near 140° E. and thence northwest to Kyushu (Exhibit 3, page
16).

The striking force consisted of three of Japan’s five carrier divi-
sions, the KAGA and AKAGI (CarDiv 1); HIRYU and SORYU
(CarDiv 2) ; SHOKAKU and ZUIKAKU (sometimes referred to as
CarDiv 3, sometimes as CarDiv 4 and sometimes as CarDiv 5) ; the
HIYEI and KIRISHIMA (two of the battleships of BatDiv 3) ; the
TONE and CHIKUMA (CruDiv 8), and of various destroyers and
submarines.

Cooperating with the foregoing striking force was a large part of
the Japanese Sixth (Submarine) Fleet. That fleet left the Japanese
Inland Sea about 18 November 1941, E, L. T. At the time of the
attack, many Japanese submarines were concentrated at the mouth
of Pearl Harbor for the purpose of making torpedo attacks on any
United States ships that attempted to escape from the air attack in
the harbor. As previously pointed out, the evidence indicates that
only one midget submarine succeeded in entering the harbor.
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[156] 1. The Casualties and Damage.

The facts as to the casualties and damage appear fully in the record
of the Naval Pearl Harbor Court of Tnquiry :

(1) An examination of reports in the Bureau of Personnel showed
that there were 3.963 casualties as a result of the Japanese Pearl
Harbor attack, of which 896 were wounded and 3,067 were either killed,
dead of wounds, or are missing and declaved dead.

(2) The damage to fleet units in Pearl Harbor was extensive. The
Battleships ARIZONA, CALIFORNIA, OKLAHOMA, and WEST
VIRGINIA were sunk and the NEVADA beuched to prevent its sink-
ing. The anxiliary vessels UTAH and OGLALA were also sunk. All
other battleships in the harbor; PENNSYLVANIA, MARYLAND,
and TENNESSEE, the Cruisers HELENA, HONOLULU, and
RALEIGH. the destroyers SHAW, CASSIN, and DOWNES., and the
auxiliaries CURTIS and VESTAL, were seriously damaged.

(3) The damage to airplanes was as follows:

Number { Number | Number
Type present on hand usable
Dec. 7 after raid | after raid

Patrol ooooes i R 69 45 11
Pightera.— - .- - e 24 15 0
Scout bombers... .. 0 29 14
Torpedo bombers . ______ 2 2 0
Battleship and cruiser plane - 92 82 11
Uilioyand teanenort planes oo o i i ievae e 54 48 16

B e e 301 I 221 52

[Z67 FINDINGS

92. On the morning of 7 December 1941, shortly before the air attack
on Pearl Harbor, there were reports of suspected and actual hostile
submarine activity. The second advised of a surface and depth charge
attack on a submarine. Only the latter report reached responsible
officers. Due to reports on previous days of sound contacts with
submarines, confirmation was sought. ‘The action initiated by Com-
FOURTEEN, in dispatching the ready duty destroyer, was in accord
with the provisions of the Fleet security letter.

93. Confirmation of the report of the sinking of a submarine was
not received by Admiral Kimmel or by Admiral Bloch prior to the
air attack. _

94, There is no evidence warranting the conelusion that a Japanese
submarine entered Pearl Harbor prior to December 7th. The one
midget submarine known to have been in Pearl Harbor on the morning
of December Tth was sunk after making an ineffectual attack.

95. Evidence of the approach of a large flight of planes from the
northward, obtained by Army enlisted men operating a radar installa-
tion for instruction purposes, was not communicated either to the
Navy or to responsible Army commanders.

96. The Commander-in-Chiet, Pacific Fleet, and ComFOURTEEN
had no previous warning of the air attack, which was initiated by the
enemy at 0755. The attack was skillfully executed, und . resulted in
sertous losses of life and damage.
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97. The battleships each had two 5" anti-aircraft guns ready and
two machine guns manned, which was in excess of the requirements
of Condition III as preseribed in the Fleet Security Letter. As to
Fleet aircraft based at Oahu, seven were in the air (3 on morning
security patrol armed with depth charges and 4 engaged in tactics with
submarines) ; ten were on 30 minutes notice; and the balance of forty-
four on four hours notice.

98. Asa result of adherence to Fleet schedules which had been issued
in September, 1941, the Pacific Fleet battleships, with one excejtioit,
were all in port and were either sunk or damaged. Due to the for-
tunate coincidence which resulted in the aireraft carriers being at sea,
they were uninjured.

99. Tt has been learned, since 7 December 1941, that the Japandse
task force which attacked Pearl Harbor left Saiki Anchorage, near
the Bongo Cilannel, sometime between 20 and 22 November 1941,
East Longitude Time, and proceeded to Tankan Bay, Etorofu Island,
in the Kuriles. The force then assembled and fueled. It departed
on or about 28 November 1941, East Longitude Time, and proceeced
in an easterly direction to about 170° West Longitude, then southeast
to a point about 200 miles from Oahu.

100. The Japanese striking force included three Carrier Divisions,
among which were Carrier Divisions 1 and 2. Five days before the
attaclk, the Fleet Intelligence Officer had advised Admiral Kimmel
that he could not reliably estimate the location of Carrier Divisions
1 and 2.

{158] 101. The Japanese carriers launched their planes from a
position 200 miles due north of Oahu.
[159] VI

A. Fixprxecs

1. The basic assumption of the Rainbow Five War Plan was that
the United States and her Allies would be at war with the Axis Powers,
either including or excluding Japan.

2. The Navy Basic War Plan (Rainbow Iive) assigned various
offensive tasks to the Pacific Fleet, including the capture of positions
in the Marshalls and raids on enemy sea communications and posi-
tions, and various defensive tasks, including the task of protecting
the territory of the Associated Powers in the Pacific area and pre-
venting the extension of enemy military power into the Kastern Hemi-
sphere by destroying hostile expeditions.

3. The Pacific Fleet Operating Plan (Rainbow Five) assigned to
the Fleet various initial tasks, including the maintenance of fleet
security at the bases, at anchorages, and at sea, the protection of the
communieations and territory of the Associated Powers by patrolling
with light forces and patrol planes, the establishment of defensive
submarine patrols at Wake and Midway, and guarding against sur-
prise attack by Japan.

4, The Pacific Fleet Operating Plan (Rainbow Five) and annexes
included among the initial tasks to be performed by the patrol planes
the maintenance of the maximum patrol plane search practicable in
the approaches to the Hawaiian area.
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5. The Pacific Fleet Operating Plan was to be put into effect on
W-day, which, it was stated, might or might not coincide with the day
that hostilities opened with Japan. W-day was not fixed prior to
the attack.

6. The Joint Coastal Frontier Defense Plan, Hawaiian Theater, was
based on the Joint Army and Navy Basic War Plans. [t constituted
the basis of subsidiary peace and war projects, joint operating plans,
and mobilization plans. The method of coordination under the plan
was to be by mutual cooperation until and unless unity of command
were invoked.

7. Under the Joint Coastal Frontier Defense Plan the Army’s task
was to hold Oahu against attacks by sea, land and air forces, and
against hostile sympathizers, and to support the naval forces. The

avy’s task was to patrol the coastal zone (which included Oahu
and such adjacent land and sea areas as were required wor the defense
of Oahu), and to patrol and protect shipping therein, and to support
the Army forces.

8. One of the specific tasks assigned to the Navy in the Joint Coastal
Frontier Defense Plan was that the Commandant, FOURTEENTH
Naval District, should provide for distant reconnaissance.

9. The Joint Coastal Frontier Defense Plan was placed in effect
on 11 April 1941 by the Commanding General, Hawaiian Department,
and by the Commandant, FOURTEENTH Naval District.

[160] 10. Annex VII, Section VI, to the Joint Coastal Frontier
Defense Plan was an agreement between the Commandant, FOUR-
TEENTH Naval District, and the Commanding General, Hawaiian
Department, as to joint defensive measures for the security of the
Fleet and for the Pearl Harbor Naval Base against hostile raids or air
attacks delivered prior to a declaration of war.

11. Annex VII, Section VI, to the Joint Coastal Frontier Defense
Plan provided, among other things, for joint air operations and pro-
vided that when naval forces were insufficient for long distance patrol
and search operations and Army aircraft were made available, the
latter would be under the tactical control of the naval commander
directing search operations.

12. Annex VII, Section VI, to the Joint Coastal Frontier Defense
Plan also provided that the Army was to expedite the installation of
its aircraft warning service, and that prior to the completion of that
service, the Navy, through the use of radar and other appropriate
means, would endeavor to give such warning of hostile attacks as
might be practicable.

13. Annex VII, Section VI, of the Joint Coastal Frontier Defense
Plan provided that when the Commanding General and ComFOUR-
TEEN agreed that the threat of a hostile raid or attack was sufficiently
imminent to warrant such action, each commander would take steps
to make available to the other the air forces at his disposal, in order
that joint operations might be conducted in accordance with the plan.

14. The Commanding General and ComFOURTEEN did not effect
any agreement prior to the attack that the threat of a hostile raid or
attack was sufficiently imminent to warrant placing Annex VII, Sec-
tion VI, in operation.

15. The Naval Base Defense Force Operation Plan provided,
among other things, for a Base Defense Air FForce in conjunction with

79716—46—Fx, 157——33
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the Army. One of the assumptions was that it was possible that a
declaration of war might be preceded by a surprise air attack on ships
in Pearl Harbor, that it was probable that there might be a surprise
submarine attack on ships in the base area, and that a combination
of both forms of attack was possible.

16. The joint estimate by Admiral Bellinger and General Martin
stated, among other things, that the most likely and dangerous form
of attack on Qahu would be an air attack that would most likely be
launched from carriers which would probably approach inside of
three hundred miles. The estimate also stated that any single sub-
marine attack might indicate the presence of considerable undis-
covered surface forces, probably composed of fast ships accompanied
by a carrier. This Estimate came to the attention of Admiral Kimmel
and Admiral Bloch.

17. The Naval Base Defense Air Force Flan was prepared by Ad-
miral Bellinger and approved by Admiral Bloch. This plan, which
was designated Annex “Baker” to the Naval Base Defense Force
Operation Plan, made specific provision for joint air operations by the
Army and Navy. The plan was effective upon receipt. 1t was to be-
come operative without signal in the event of a surprise attack, or
might be made operative by dispatch. In the meantime, conditions
of readiness for aircraft were to be as directed by the Commanding
General, Hawaiian Department, for Army units, and by (161
ComFOURTEEN, as Naval Base Defense Officer, for Navy units.

18. The Pacific Fleet letter on security of the Fleet at base and in
operating areas, which was reissued by Admiral Kimmel in revised
form on 14 October 1941, provided that the Fleet’s security was predi-
cated on several assumptions, one of which was that a declaration of
war might be preceded by a surprise attack on ships in Pearl Harbor,
a surprise submarine attack on ships in the operating areas, or a com-
bination of the two. This letter also stated that a single submarine
attack might indicate the presence of a considerable surface force
probably composed of fast ships accompanied by a carrier.

19. The Pacific Fleet security letter prescribed security measures,
including provisions for defense against air attack. It provided,
among other things, that ComFOURTEEN, as Naval Base Defense
Officer, should exercise with the Army joint supervisory control over
the defense against air attack and that he should take other action,
including supervisory control over naval short-based aircraft, and
arrange through the Commander of Patrol Wing Two for coordina-
tion of the joint air effort by the Army and the Navy.

20. Under the Facific Fleet security letter, the security measures
were to nclude intermitten patrols to consist of a destroyer offshore
patrol, and an air patrol. The air patrol was to consist of daily search
of fleet operating areas as directed by Aircraft Seouting Force, one
covering the entry or sortie of a fleet or task force, and one during the
entry or departure of a heavy ship at other times. )

91. The only local defense plans in effect and operative prior to the
attack of 7 December 1941 were the Joint Coastal Frontier Defense
Plan, under which the Navy was obliged to provide distant reconnais-
sance, and the Pacific Fleet security letter, under which the only air-
craft patrol from Oahu was a daily search of fleet operating areas,
a search during entry or sortie of a fleet or task force, and during the
entry or departure of a heavy ship at other times.
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92, The Pacific Fleet Operating Plan (Rainbow Five), approved
by the Chief of Naval Operations, in estimating probable enemy (Jap-
anese) action, visualized that one of the enemy defensive efforts would
be “destruction of ¢hreatening naval forces”; that initial action would
include “possible raids or stronger attacks on Wake, Midway, and
other outlying United States positions”; and that the initial Japanese
deployment would include “raiding and observation forces widely
distributed in the Pacific, and that submarines in the Howaiian
area . ..” [Italics supplied.] The possibility of an attack on
Hawaii was, therefore, included but in no way emphasized.

23. Admiral Kimmel was of the opinion, thronghout his tenure of
command of the Pacific Fleet, that a surprise air attack on Pearl Har-
bor was a possibility. Neither he nor the key members of his staff
appear to have considered it as a sevious probability.

24, The method of command established in the local plans was that
of “mutual cooperation.” The relations between the responsible com-
manders were cordial. However, there was not in existence, prior to
the attack, any permanent operating setup which could insure the con-
stant and timely exchange of information, decisions, and intended
courses of action so escential to the efficient conduct of joint operations,
particularly in an emergency. .\ recent proposal looking ta the estab-
lishment of a Joint Command Center had been the subject of adverse
recommendations by the responsible local commanders, both Army
and Navy.

[7162] 95. In accordance with “Joint Action,” unity of command
for the defense of Oahu could have been placed in effect by local agree-
ment between the Commanding General of the Hawaiian Department
and the Commandant of the FOURTEENTH Naval District. The
latter, however, would naturally not make such an agreement without
the approval of his immediate superior, the Commander-in-Chief,
Pacific Fleet. The question of nnity of command for outlying islands
was discussed between Admiral Kimmel and General Short in connec-
tion with a proposal for reenforcement of Wake and Midway by Army
planes. General Short’s position was that if Army forces were in-
volved, the command must be his. Admiral Kimmel maintained that
the command of naval bases must remain with the Navy. The islands
were reenforced with Marine planes.

26. Japanese espionage at Fear] Harbor was effective and, particu-
larly during the critical period 27 November to 7 December 1941, re-
sulted in the frequent transmission to Japan of information of great
importance concerning the Pacific Fleet, the movements and locations
of ships, and defense preparations.

97. Certain reports sent by the Japanese Consul General via a com-
mercial communications company at Honolulu in the week preceding
the attack indicated the likelihood of an air attack on Pearl Harbhor.

98. Tt will appear subsequently that varions coded messages seut by
the Japanese Consul General at Honolulu, which did not indicate the
likeliliood of an air attack on Pearl Harbor, were intercepted by Army
and Navy radio intercept stations and were decoded in Washington.
D. C. prior to the attack: that others which were obtained at Honolulu
by Naval Intelligence prior to the attack were, with the exception of a
few unimportant messages, in a code which could not be decrypted
there before December 7Tth: and, that three messages intercepted by

79716—46—Ex. 157——34
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Army radio intercept stations at Hawaii and at San Francisco, which
indicated the likelihood of an air attack, were forwarded to the War
Department for decryption but were either not received there prior to
the attack or were not decrypted prior to the attack. If the United
States intelligence services had been able to obtain and to decode
and translate promptly all of the espionage reports sent by the Jap-
anese Consul General during the period 27 November to 7 December
19«111, the information so obtained would have been of inestimable
value. %

29. Naval Intelligence was effectively organized to acquire informa-
tion from coded diplomatic messages between the Japanese Govern-
ment and its representatives. Through the interception of Japanese
diplomatic messages and their decryption and translation in Wash-
ington, D. C., prior to the attack, knowledge was obtained of the Jap-
anese Government’s actual views concerning the diplomatic situation,
of the Japanese Government’s intention to wage war, and of the fact
that hostilities were impending and imminent.

30. The information acquived m Wushington through the intercep-
tion of Japanese diplomatic messages was adequately and promptly
disseminated at Washington by Naval and Military Intelhigence to
the Chief of Naval Operations, to the Army Chief of Stadl, to the State
Department, and to the President.

[163] 31. The Commander-in-Chief, Pacific Fleet, had to rely
upon the Chief of Naval Operations for information as to the status
of the diplomatic negotiations with the Japanese, and had requested
to be kept fully informed on this subject.

82. The Japanese diplomatic messages acquired by Naval Intelli-
gence at Washington were not transmitted to the Commander-in-
Chief, Pacific Fleet, as such. Reasons advanced for this course of
action were that the Japanese might intercept the naval messages
and learn of the Navy’s success in decrypting Japanese codes; that
the volume of intercepted messages was so great that the transmis-
sion of them, particularly during the critical period, would have
overtaxed the Navy’s communications facilities; and, that it was the
duty of the Chief of Naval Operations to evaluate such information
and to advise CincPac of the important facts learned.

33. Various of the warning messages sent by the Chief of Naval
Operations to the Commander-in-Chief, Pacific Fleet, were based on
the information obtained from intercepted Japanese messages.

34. The warnings sent to the Commander-in-Chief, Pacific Fleet,
during November (particularly the “war warning” of the 27th)
and early December, 1941, indicated in unmistakable language that
the diplomatic negotiations had ceased, that war with Japan was
imminent, and that Japanese attacks might occur at any moment.

35. The Chief of Naval Operations did not advise the Commander-
in-Chief, Pacific Fleet, of certain intercepted Japanese messages indi-
cating interest in the location of ships in Pearl Harbor. These were
more specific than other intercepted messages indicating Japanese
interest in the movements of ships to or from other ports.

36. The Commander-in-Chief, Pacific Fleet, was not fully advised
of certain other information obtained from intercepted Japanese
messages after the November 27th “war warning,” which made fur-
ther evidence the termination in fact of the diplomatic negotiations
and the Japanese intention to wage war.
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37. On the morning of 7 December 1941, there was brought to the
attention of the Chief of Naval Operations an intercepted message
in which the Japanese Government instructed its representatives to
present to the State Department at 1 p. m. the Japanese Govern-
ment’s final reply terminating the diplomatic negotiations. Mention
was made of the fact that 1 p. m. Washington time was about dawn
at Honolulu and about the middle of the night in the Far East. No
one stated that this indicated an air attack at Pearl Harbor.

38. This so-called “1 p. m. delivery message,” which consisted of
one sentence, had been intercepted at a naval radio intercept station
at Bainbridge Island in the State of Washington and forwarded to
the Navy Department by teletype. It was decrypted and available
in the Navy Department at about 0700 on December 7th. It was
sent to the Avmy for translation because there was no Japanese trans-
lator on duty in the Navy Department at that time. The fransla-
tion, which could have been done by a qualified translator in a few
minutes, was not received from the Army until after 0900.

[264] 39. Although he was in possession of this highly signifi-
cant information several hours before the attack, and there were
available means whereby the information could have been transmitted
to Admiral Kimmel immediately, including a “serambler” telephone
maintained by the Army, Admral Stark initially was not disposed
to, and did not, send any message to Admiral Iimmel. Instead he
relied on the transmission of a message by the War Department to
General Short, which was to be furnished also to Admiral Kimmel.

40. Admiral Stark has previously testified that he did not consider
it necessary to telephone to Admiral IKimmel on the morning of
7 December and that he had not telephoned at any time previous to
the attack, but that one regret which he had was that he had not
telephoned a message that morning to Admiral Kimmel or paralleled
the Army message on the naval racdio system.

41. The message sent by General Marshall on 7 December 1941,
which was received after the attack, advised that the Japanese were
presenting an ultimatum at 1 p. m., that they were under orders to
destroy their code machine, that it was not known just what signifi-
cance the hour set might have but that the addressees were to be on
the alert accordingly, and that the naval authorities were to be in-
formed.

42, The warnings which were sent to the Commander-in-Chief,
Pacific Fleet, indicated, as to the possible places of Japanese attack,
on November 24th, that “a surprise aggressive movement in any direc-
tion, including attack on the Philippines or Guam, is a possibility,”
and, on November 27th, that “an aggressive movement by the Jap-
anese is expected within the next few days. The number and equip-
ment of Japanese troops and organization of naval task forces indicate
an amphibious expedition against either the Philippines, Thai or
Kra Peninsula, or possibly Borneo.”

43. Although the warnings which were sent by the Chief of Naval
Operations to the Commander-in-Chief, Pacific Fleet, drew attention
to probuble Japanese objectives to the southward and southeastward
of Japan, and did not speeifically mention Pearl Harbor, both the
Chief of Naval Operations and the Commander-in-Chief, Pacific
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Fleet, were aware of the possibility of a Japanese attack on Pearl
Harbor. They did not regard such an attack as probable.

44. The Japanese established several codes in November, 1941, which
were to be used in radio transmissions to convey to their representa-
tives information concerning the status of relations between Japan
and the United States, and other countries. These were known as the
“winds” code and the “hidden word” code. The “winds” code was
designed to indicate a break in diplomatic relations, or possibly war,
with England or the United States or Russia by the use in weather
broadecasts of certain Japanese words signifying wind directions.

45. The interception of a “winds” message relating to the United
States during the first week of December, 1941, would not have con-
veyed any information of significance which the Chief of Naval Op-
erations and the Commander-in-Chief, Pacific I'leet, did not already
have.

[765]  46. No message in the “winds” code relating to the United
States was received by any ot the watch officers in the Navy Depart-
ment to whom such a message would have come had it been received
in the Navy Department. No such message was intercepted by the
radio intellizence units at Pearl Harbor or in the Philippines, although
intensive efforts were made by those organizations to intercept such
a message. The evidence indicates further that no such message was
intercepted by the British or the Dutch, despite their efforts to inter-
cept such a message. Neither the Fleet Intelligence Ofticer of the
Asiatic Fleet nor the Fleet Intelligence Officer of the Pacific Fleet
nor the Intelligence Oflicer of the Far Eastern Section of the Office
of Naval Intelligence, recalled any such message. The Chief of
Naval Operations, the Director of Naval Connnunications, and the
Director of Naval Intelligence recalled no such message. Testimony
to the effect that a “winds” code message was received prior to the
attack was given by Captain Safford, in charge of Op-20-G, a com-
munications security section at the Navy Department, who stated
that such a message was received on December 3rd or 4th, that it
related to the United States, and that no copy could be found in
the Navy or Army files. In his testimony before Admiral Hart,
Captain Safford named, in addition to himself, three other officers
who, he stated. recalled having seen and read the “winds” message.
Each of those officers testified that he had never seen such a message.
The only other testimony to the effect that a “winds” message was
received was by Captain Kramer, an intelligence officer assigned to
OP-20-G, who said that he recalled that there was a message but
that he could not recall whether or not it related to the United States
or England or Russia. It may be noted that until he testified in this
investigation, Captain Kramer erroneously thought that a “hidden
word” message intercepted on the morning of December Tth had been
a “winds” message.

47. On the morning of December Tth, the intercepted “hidden word”
code message was translated by Kramer. In his haste. due to the
necessity of delivering other messages, including the “1 p. m. de-
livery message,” he overlooked a code word relating to the United
States and translated the message as meaning only that “relations
between Japan and England are not in accordance with expecta-
tions.”  He testified that he later discovered the error and a few
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minutes before 1 p. m. on December Tth, he telephoned the correction
to his superior officer in the Office of Naval Intelligence and to an
officer of Army Military Intelligence.

48. Except for the omission of the United States, the “hidden word”
code message was literally translated and did not sufficiently reflect
previous diplomatic interceptions which indicated that the message
was to convey the idea of a crisis involving the countries in question.

49, The sources of intelligence as to the Japanese which the Com-
mander-in-Chief, Pacific Fleet, had prior to the attack included, in
addition to the Chief of Naval Operations, the District Intelligence
Officer of the FOURTEENTH Naval District, and the Fleet Intelli-
gence Officer of the Pacific Fleet. .. )

[166] 50. Under the supervision of the District Intel!lgence
Officer of the FOURTEENTH Naval Distriet, the telephone lines of
the Japanese Consul General and the Japanese Vice Consul at
Honolulu were tapped for some months prior to the attack. These
were discontinued on 2 December 1941 because the District Intelligence
Officer feared that the existence of such taps might be discovered, re-
sulting in undesirable complications. No information of military or
naval significance was obtained by means of the telephone taps.

51. On 6 December 1941 the local representatives of the Federal
Bureau of Investigation at Honolulu delivered to the District Intelli-
gence Officer a transcript of a trans-Pacific radio telephone conversa-
tion between a person in Honolulu named “Mori” and a person in
Japan. This was examined by the District Intelligence Officer. It
was decided that the conversation should be further studied by a
Japanese linquist of the District Intelligence Office, who was to listen
to the recording of the conversation. This was not done until after
the attack. The transeript furnished on December 6th indicated that
the person in Japan was interested, among other things, in the daily
flights of airplanes from Honolulu and in the number of ships present.
During the conversation. references were made to flowers, which, it
now appears, may have been code words signifying the presence or
absence of ships. and a method of conveying information to the
approaching Japanese ships, which presumably would have been lis-
tening in on the conversation. Prior investigations indicate that the
“Mori conversation” was also brought to the attention of General
Short on 6 December 1941,

52. Under the supervision of the District Intelligence Officer of
the FOURTEENTH Naval District. copies of various cable messages
from and to the Japanese Consul General at Honolulu, via a com-
mercial communications company, were obtained during the first week
of December. 1941. This was the first time that such messages bad
been obtained. The messages were in code and efforts were made
immediately to decrypt and translate them. Some messages were
decrypted before the attack. These contained no information of
particular significance.

53. No information secured at ‘Oahu prior to the attack by means
of the telephone taps or through the interception of messages of the
Japanese Consul General indicated the likelihood of war or of an
attack on Pearl Harbor.

54. One of the Japanese Consul General’s messages, which was
obtained by the District Intelligence Officer and turned over on 5
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December 1941 to the Radio Intelligence Unit for decryption and
translation, was a message dated December 3rd. This message was in
Japanese code known as the “PA-K2.” It was decrypted and trans-
lated by the Radio Intelligence Unit at Pearl Harbor after the attack.
The message was one in which the Japanese Consul General advised of
a change in a method which had been established for communication by
visual signals from. Oahu, whereby lights in houses on the beach, the
use of a sailboat, certain want ads to be broadeast over a local radio sta-
tion, and bonfires, would convey information as to the presence or
absence of various types of warships of the Pacific Fleet. Although
the Radio Intelligence Unit at Pear]l Harbor was unable to deerypt
this message prior to the attack, the message was deerypted and trans-
lated in rough form on 6 December 1941 by a civilian translator in
Op-20-G of the Navy Department in Washington. That section had
received the message from an Army radio intercept station at Fort
Hunt, Virginia, Captain Kramer testified he had no specific recollec-
tion of having seen this translation prior to the [167} attack,
but the evidence indicates that the rough translation was shown to
him on the afternoon of December 6ih and that due to the pressure of
work on other important Japanese diplomatic messages, no action was
taken on the translation until 8 December 1941.

55. On 2 December 1941, the Japanese Consul General at Honoluln
received a coded message from Tokyo which stated that in view of the
existing situation, the presence of ships in port was of utmost impor-
tance, that daily reports were to be submitted, that the reports should
acdvise whether or not there were observation balloons at Pearl Harbor,
and whether or not the warships were provided with anti-torpedo
nets. T'his message was intercepted by an Army radio intercept sta-
tion at Fort Shafter, Hawaii, and apparently was forwarded by mail
to the War Department for decryption and translation. The trans-
lation supplied by the Army indicates that the message was trans-
lated on 30 December 1941.

56. On the afternoon of 6 December 1941, the Japanese Consul Gen-
eral at Honolulu sent two messages in the “PA-K2" code which indi-
cated the likelihood of an air attack. The first reported that there
were no signs of barrage batloon equipment at Pearl Harbor, that in
all probability there was considerable opportunity left to take advan-
tage for a surprise attack against Pearl Harbor, Hickam, Ford, and
Ewa, and that the battleships did not have torpedo nets. The second
message reported on the ships at anchor on December 6th, and stated
that it appeared that no air reconnaissance was being conducted by
the Kleet air arin. These messages were not obtained by Naval Intelli-
gence at Honolulu prior to the attack. They were, however, both
mtercepted by an Army intercept station at San Francisco and were
forwarded by teletype to the Army. The translations of these mes-
sages furnished by the Army indicate that they were translated on
December 8th.  They could have been decrypted and translated in the
Navy Department in about an hour and a half.

57. There were no formal arrangements whereby the Navy com-
municated to the Aymy estimates of the location and movements of
Japanese naval forces. Officers of the Far Eastern Section of Mili-
tary Intelligence at Washington had access to charts maintained in
the Far Eastern Division of the Office of Naval Intelligence showing
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such information, and had access to radio intelligence information
available in the Navy Department, and the situation was discussed
with them. At Peari{Har' or, an intelligence officer of the Hawaiian
Air Force received some general information concerning Japanese
movements from the IFleet Intelligence Officer.

58. The War Department had information which led that Depart-
ment to believe that Japanese naval forces were in the Marshalls in
November, 1941. This appears from a War Department dispatch of
96 November 1941 to General Short, information to Admiral Kimmel,
concerning a special photograplic reconnaissance to be flown over
Truk and Jaluit, in order to obtain information, among other things,
as to the number and location of naval vessels. The reconnaissance
was not flown because the special Army planes were not made ready.

59. On 27 November 1941, a Pacific I'leet Intelligence Bulletin was
distributed by the Commander-in-Chief, Pacific Fleet, to his command.
[168] This bulletin set forth the available information concerning
the composition of the Japanese Navy. It revised an earlier bulletin
on the same subject and pointed out that the principal change was a
further increase in the number of fleet commands. This arose from
the regrouping of aireraft carriers and seaplane tenders into separate
forces. The bulletin stated, among other things, that the Japanese
Carrier Fleet consisted of ten carriers which were organized into five
divisicns, each having two carriers. .

60. Current information, derived from traffic analyses, concerning
the location and movements of Japanese naval forces was obtained
by the Commander-in-Chief, Pacific Fleet, from the Fleet Intelli-
gence Officer, who received it primarily from the Radio Intelligence
Unit at Pearl Harbor. Such mformation also was contained in dis-
patches from the Radio Intelligence Unit in the Philippines and from
the Far Eastern Section of Naval Intelligence in Washington, D. C.

61. Fortnightly Intelligence bulletins were issued by the Office of
Naval Intelligence and mailed to the Pacific Fleet, among others.
These included summaries of the information concerning Japanese
naval forces which had been received from the Radio Intelligence
Units at Pearl Harbor and at the Philippines,

62. On November 26th, ComFOURTEEN sent a dispatch to OpNav,
information to CincPac, CincAF, and ComSIXTEEN, which sum-
marized the mmformation as to Japanese naval movements obtained by
the Radio Intelligence Unit at Pearl Harbor during the preceding
month. The dispatch indicated that the Commander Second Ileet had
been organizing a task force comprising units of various fleets. This
dispatch stated that there was believed to be a strong concentration of
submarines and air groups in the Marshalls, which included at least
one carrier division unit (not necessarily a carrier), plus probably
one-third of the submarine fleet. The estimate was that a strong
force might be preparing to operate in southeastern Asia while com-
ponent parts might operate from Paleo and the Marshalls.

63. The radio iutercepts by the radio intelligence unit located in
the Philippines were considered by OpNav to be the most reliable be-
cause of the location of the unit. On 26 November 1941, the radio
intelligence unit in the Philippines, in a dispatch to CincPac, OpNav
and others. commented on the above dispatch of ComFOURTEEN
and stated that traffic analysis for the past few days had indicated that
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the Commander-in-Chief, Second Fleet, was directing the various fleet
units in a loose-knit task force that apparently would be divided into
two sections. The first section was expected to operate in the South
China area. The second section was expected to operate in the Man-
dates. It was estimated that the second section included “CarDiv 3,
RYUJO, and one MARU.” This dispatch also stated that the Com-
SIXTEEN unit could not confirm the supposition that carriers and
submarines in force were in the Mandates, and that their best indica-
tions were that all known carriers were still in the Sasebo-IKure area.
It was stated that this evaluation was considered to be reliable.

64. From time to time after November 27th, there were sighting
reports from the Asiatic I'leet and other observers, copies of which
were received by Admiral Kimmel, which confirmed the movement
of important Japanese naval forces to the southward of Japan. These,
Lhowever, did not report the movement of earviers. :

[ 169] 65. After November 27th, the Radio Intelligence Unit
at Pearl Harbor continued the practice of preparing daily summaries
of the information received through their traflic analysis of Jap-
anese naval communications, which were submitted to Layton, the
Fleet Intelligence Officer, for transmittal to Admiral Kimmel on the
following morning. Admiral Kimmel received and initialed these
summaries daily on and after 27 November. On December 6th, he
initialed the summary dated December 5th, which was the last one he
received prior to the attack.

66. On November 28th, Admiral Kimmel received a communiea-
tion intelligence summary dated November 27th, which stated, among
other things, that there was no further information on the presence
of a carvier division in the Mandates and that “carriers were still
located in home waters.” The next day, he received the November
28th summary which indicated, among other things, the view that
the Japanese radio intelligence net was operating at full strength
upon U. S. Naval communications and “IS GETTING RESULTS.”
There was no information set forth in the summary as to carriers.
On the following day, Admiral Kimmel received the summary dated
November 29th, which, among other things, indicated that Carrier
Division 3 was under the immediate command of the Commander-in-
Chief, Second Fleet. On Decewber 1st, Admiral Kimmel received
the previous day’s summary which stated as to carriers that the
presence of a unit of plane guard destroyers indicated the presence
of at least one carrier in the Mandates, although this had not been
confirmed.

67. The December 1st summary, which Admiral Kimmel received,
stated that all Japanese service radio calls of forces afloat had
changed promptly at 0000 on 1 December; that previonsly service
calls had been changed after a period of six months or more and
that calls had been last changed on 1 November 1941. This summary
stated, and was underscored by Admiral Kimmel, that “The fact that
service calls lasted only one month indicates an additional progressive
step in preparing for operations on a large scale” It also stated,
among other things, that a large number of submarines were believed
to be east of Yokosuka-Chichijima and Saipan, and as to carriers that
there was “no change.”

68. On 2 December 1941, Admiral Kimmel examined a memoran-
dum which Layton had prepared on December ist at his request.
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This contained Layton’s estimate. on the basis of all available infor-
mation, of the location of Japanese naval forces. This estimate
placed in the Bako-Takao area Carrier Division 4 and Carrier Divi-
sion 3. which included four carriers, and the “KASUGA MARU”
(believed to have been a converted carrier). The estimate placed one
carrier “KORYU (%) plus plane gnards” in the Marshalls area.

.69. Layton’s written estimate made no mention of Japanese Car-
rier Divisions 1 and 2, consisting of four earriers. This omission
was deliberate. The reason was that Layton considered that the in-
formation as to the location of ihose carrviers was not sufficient to
warrant a reliable estimate of their whereabouts.

70. On 2 December 1941, Admiral Kimmel and Layton had the
following conversation:

[2170] Captain Laviox. As best I recall it, Admiral Kimmel said, “YWhat!
You don't know where Carrier Division 1 and Carrier Division 2 are?” and I
replied, “No, sir, I do not. I think they are in home waters, but I do not know
where they are. The rest of these units, I feel pretty confident of their loca-
tion.” Then Admiral Kimmel looked at me. as sometimes he would, with some-
what a stern countenance and vet partially with a twinkle in his eye and said,
“Do you mean to say that tliey could be rounding Diamond Head and you wouldn't
know it?” or words to that effect. My reply was that, “I hope they would be
sighted hefore now,” or words to that effect.” . . .

Captain LavToxn., His gquestion was absolutely serious, but when said, “Where
are Cardivs 1 and 27" and I said, “1 do not know precisely, bt if I must estimate,
I wounld say that they are probably in the Kure area since we haven’t heard from
them in a long time and they may be refitting as they finished operations only a
ionth and a half ago,” and it was then when he, with a twinkle in his eye, said,
“Do you mean to say they could be rounding Diamond Head?” or words to that
effect. In other words, he was impressing me on my complete ignorance as to
their exact location. . . .

Captain Layrox. This incident has been impressed on my mind. I do not
say that T gquote him exactly, but I do know that he made such a statement to me
in the way to poeint out to me that I should know where they are but hadn’t so
indicated their location. o

71. The December 2nd radio intelligence summary. which was de-
livered to Admiral Kimmel on December 3rd, stated as to carriers:

Almost a complete blank of information on the carriers today. Lack of identi-~
fication has somewhat promoted this lack of information. However, since over
200 service calls have been partially identified since the change on the 1st of
December and not one carrier call has been recovered, it is evident that carrier
traffic is at a low ebb.

72. The radio intelligence summary delivered to Admiral Kimmel
on December 4th stated, in part, “No information on submarines or
carriers.” The summary delivered on December 5th made no mention
of carriers. The summary delivered on December 6th stated, in part,
“No traflic from the Commander Carriers or Submarine Force has
been seen either.”

78. Other than radio intelligence and sighting reports from other
sources, the only practicable way by which the Commander-in-Chief,
Pacific Fleet, could have obtained information as to the location or
movements of Japanese naval forces from 27 November to 7 December
1941 was by long distance air reconnaissance.

[2771] 74. Under the Joint Coastal Frontier Defense Plan, the
Navy had the obligation, through ComFOURTEEN, to conduct dis-
tant reconnaissance, and under Annex VII, Section VI, to the Joint
Coastal Frontier Defense Plan, naval forces were to be supplemented
by available Army aireraft if {he naval aireraft were insuflicient for
long distance patrol and search operations. As previously pointed



52() CONGRESSIONAL INVESTIGATION PEARL IHARBOR ATTACK

out, the latter plan was not in operation beeause an agreement between
the Commanding General and ComFOURTEEN that threat of a hos-
tile attack was imminent was a prerequisite and no sich agreement had
been made prior to the attack. The Naval Base Defense Air Force
Plan, which implemented the agreements for joint Ariny-Navy air
action, similarly was not operative prior to the attack.

75. No patrol planes were under the command of Admival Bloch.
The only Navy planes suitable for long distance reconnaissance were
the Pacific Fleet patrol planes.

76. The Pacific Fleet patrol planes were under the control of Ad-
miral Kimmel, and he had the responsibility for their ntilization.
They were operated after 22 November 1941 in accordance with sched-
ules approved by him at that time, which were not revised prior to
the attack. The schedules stressed training operations. They did
not provide for distant reconnaissance from Ouhu.

77. Admiral immel testitied before the Naval Court of Inquiry
that he decided on November 27th that there should be no distant re-
connaissance,

78. There is no evidence of any specific discussion between Admiral
Kimmel and members of his stafl on or affer the receipt of the *“war
warning,” as to the advisability or practicability of long range recon-
naissance from Oahu. The War Plans Oflicer thought that the sub-
ject must have been discussed, but could recall ne specific discussion.
The Commander of the Fleet patrol planes, who had not been informed
of any of the significant warning messages, testified that Admiral
Kimmel had no such discussion with hin.

79. The joint estimate by Admiral Bellinger, Commander, Fleet
Patrol Planes, and General Martin, Commanding General, Hawaiian
Air Force, which was used as a basis for the joint Army-Navy agree-
ments, was prophetic in its estimate that in the event of attack on
Hawaii, the most likely and dangerous form of attack would be an aiv
attack to be launched at dawn from carriers about 200 miles from
Oahu. This estimate stated that the action open as a counter-meas-
ure included daily patrols as far as possible from Qahu, to sectors
through 360 degrees, to reduce the possibilities of surface or air sur-
prise. It further stated that such puatrols could be effectively main-
tained with the personnel and materiel available at the time (March,
1941) for a very short period and that such patrols were not practic-
able unless other intelligence indicated that surface raid was probable
within narrow limits of time. According to Admiral Bellinger, it
was realized by the responsible officers of the Pacific Fleet that another
conrse of action which was always open was to fiyv a patrol of less than
860 degrees, with the available aircraft, covering the more dangerous
sectors,

[2172] 80. A daily search of the Fleel operating areas to the
southward of Oahu was being carried out prior to the attack. in ac-
cordance with the provisions of the Pucifie Fleet letter on security of
the I'leet at base and in operating areas.

§1. No distant reconnaissance was flown from Oahu during the
critical period 27 November to 7 December 1941. The last previous
distant reconnaissance flown from Oahu appears to have been for
several days during the summer of 1941 on a sector toward Jaluit.
This reconnaissance had been dirvected by Admiral Kimmel at Ad-
miral Bloch’s request. '
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82, Late in November, 1941, the Army planned to conduct a recon-
naissance flight from Oahu to Jaluit and Truk, with the Navy assist-
ing by providing intelligence. The reconnaissance was not flown be-
cause the Army planes were not made ready prior to the attack.

83. The Navy Basic War Plan assigned to the Pacific Flect the task
of protecting the territory of the Associated Powers in the Pacific
area by destroying hostile expeditions and by supporting land and
air forces in denying the enemy the use of land positions in that hemis-

here. Under the provisions of Pacific Fleet Operating Plan Rain-
Ib)ow Five, when that plan became effective, the Pacific Fleet patrol
planes were to maintain maximum patrol plane search against enemy
forces in the approaches to the Hawaiian area, having due regard for
tine required for overhaul and repair of planes and ior conservation
of personnel.

84. In the war warning of November 27th, which advised that nego-
tiations with Japan had ceased and that an aggressive move by Japan
was expected within a few days, the Chief of Naval Operations di-
rected that Admiral Kimmel “execute an appropriate defensive de-
ployment preparatory to carrying out the tasks assigned in WPL—46.”

85. The dispatch of November 28th repeated an Army dispatch,
which, among other things, advised General Short that Japanese
future action was unpredictable but that hostile action was possible
at any moment, The Navy dispatch directed that Admiral Kimmel
was to undertake no offensive action until Japan had committed an
overt act and that he was to “be prepared to carry out tasks assigned in
WPL46 so far as they apply to Japan in case hostilities occur.”

86. The establishment of long distance air reconnaissance from
Oahu would have been an “appropriate defensive deployment prepar-
atory to carrying out the tasks assigned in WPL—46.”

87. The Fleet patrol planes available at Oahu in the week preceding
the attack weve not sufficient to have conducted 360 degree reconnais-
sance daily for more than a few dayvs.

88. Prior to the attack, requests had been made by the Pacific Fleet
to the Navy Department to increase the number of patrol planes as-
signed to t?;e Fleet. Some new replacement planes had been sent to
the Fleet during October and November, 1941, Additional planes,
as evidenced by the prompt arrvival of reenforcements after December
Tth, could have been made available by the Navy Department, but
at the expense of defenses in other areas. The [173] Navy
Department presumably knew that the number of planes available
at Oahu were not suflicient to conduct 360 degree reconnaissance daily
for more than a few days. The evidence in prior investigations in-
dicates that after November 27th. responsible ofiicers in the Navy
Department thought that reconnaissance was being conducted from
Oahu to the extent practicable with the planes available there. :

89. There were sufficient Fleet patrol planes and erews in fact avail-
able at Oahu during the week preceding the attack to have flown, for
at least several weeks, a daily reconnaissance covering 128 degrees to
a distance of about 700 miles.

90. The sectors north of Oahu were geperally recognized as bein
the most likely sectors from which a Japanese attack would come, 1
the Japanese were to attack Pearl Havbor.



522 CONGRESSIONAL INVESTIGATION PEARL HARBOR ATTACK

91. If a daily distant reconnaissance had heen flown from Oahu
after 27 November 1941, with the available patrol planes, the northern
sectors probably would have been searched.

92. On the morning of 7 December 1941, shortly before the air
attack on Pearl Harbor, there were reports of suspected and actual
hostile submarine activity. The second advised of a surface and
depth charge attack on a submarine. Only the latter report rveached
responsible ofiicers. Due to reports on previous days o} sound con-
tacts with submarines, confirmation was sought. The action initiated
by ComFOURTEEN in dispatching the ready duty destroyer, was
in accord with the provisions of the Fleet security letter.

93, Confirmation of the report of the sinking of a submarine was
not received by Admiral Kimmel or by Admiral Bloch prior to the
air attack.

94, There is no evidence warranting the conclusion that a Japanese
submarine entered Pearl Harbor prior to December Tth. The one
midget submarine known to have been in Pearl Harbor on the morn-
ing of December Tth was sunk after making an ineffectual attack.

95. Ividence of the approach of a large flight of planes from the
northward. obtained by Army enlisted men operating a radar instal-
lation for instruetion purposes. was not comununicated either to the
Navy or to responsible Army commanders.

96. The Commander-in-Chief, Pacific Fleet, and ComFOURTEEN
had no previous warning of the air attack, which was initiated by
the enemy at 0755. The attack was skillfully executed, and resulted
in serious losses of life and damage.

97. The battleships each had two 5 anti-aiveraft guns ready and
two machine guns manned, which was in excess of the requirements of
Condition ITT as prescribed in the Fleet Security Letter. As to Fleet
aireraft based at Oahu, seven were in the air (3 on morning security
patrol armed with depth charged and | engaged in tactics with sub-
marines) ; ten were on 30 minutes notice; and the balance of forty-
four on four howrs notice.

[174] 93. As a result of adherence to Fleet schedules which had
been igsued in September, 1941, the Pacific Fleet battleships, with one
exception, were all in port and were either sunk or damaged. Due to
the fortunate coincidence which resulted in the atrcraft carriers being
at sea, they were uninjured.

99. Tt has been learned. since 7 December 1941, that the Japanese
task force which attacked Pearl Harbor left Saiki Anchorage, near
the Bongo Channel, sometime between 20 and 22 November 1941, East
Longitude T'ime, and proceeded to ‘I'ankan Bay, Etorofu Island, in the
Kuriles. The force then assembled and fueled. It departed on or
about 28 November 1941, East Longitude Time, and proceeded in an
. easterly direction to about 170° West Longitude, then southeast to a
point about 200 miles frem Oahu.

100. The Japanese striking force included three Carrier Divisions,
among which were Carrier Divisions 1 and 2. Five days before the
attack, the Fleet Intellizence Officer had advised Admiral Kimmel
that he could not reliably estimate the location of Carrier Divisions
1and2. '

101. The Japanese carriers launched their planes from a position
200 miles due north of Oahu.
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[175] B. Coxcrusioxs

1. The basic war plans and the local defense plans were sound and
were designed to meet, with the available means, various types of at-
tack, including an attack such as the one which was delivered. The
basiec war plans and the local air defense plans were not operative in
time to meet that attack. The Rainbow Five war plans presupposed
the existence of a state of war. The local air defense p]lans presup-
posed agreement between the local commanders that an attack was
imminent. Neither of these was the case prior to the attack.

9. The system of command in effect in the Hawaiian area was that
of mutual cooperation and not unity of command. Cooperation be-
tween the local Army and Navy commanders required agreement as
to the imminence of attacl, which presupposed the possession and ex-
change of information concerning Japanese intentions and move-
ments of Japanese naval forces.

3. A full exchange of information is necessary to the effective ex-
ercise of Joint Command. While there was a considerable exchange
of information between various Army and Navy intelligence agencies
there was no organized system to ensure such exchange.

4. Current and detailed information which was obtained by the
Japanese as to the location and movements of American naval forces
and as to the preparations being made for defense against an attack
on Pearl Harbor contributed to the success of their attack.

5. Information was promptly and efliciently obtained by the United
States Navy and Army intelligence organizations in Washington, con-
cerning the Japanese (Government’s actual views as to the diplomatic
negotiations and its intendons to wage war, by means of interception,
decryption, and translation of Japanese diplomatic messages.

6. The information which was obtained 1n Washington by the War
and Navy Departments from Japanese diplomatic messages was fully
exchanged. The information which was obtained by the Navy De-
partment as to Japanese naval movements was available to intelli-
gence officers of the War Department in Washington. The War De-
partment had information which led that Department to believe that
Japanese naval forces were in the Marshalls in November, 1941. This
appears from a War Department dispatch of 26 November 1941 to
General Short, information to Admiral Kimmel, concerning a special
photographic reconnaissance to be flown over Truk and Jaluit, in or-
der to obtain information, among other things, as to the number and
location of naval vessels. The reconnaissance was not floswn because
the special Army planes were not made ready.

7. Although the Japanese Government established in their diplo-
matic messages a code, known as the “winds” code, to be used in radio
broadcasts in order to convey information to its representatives as to
the status of relations between Japan and other countries, no message
was intercepted prior to the attack which used the code words re-
Iating to the United States.

[176] 8. The information obtained by the Navy Department
from intercepted Japanese diplomatic messages was adequately dis-
seminated within the Navy Department.

9. Although Admiral Kimmel some months before had made re-
quests that he be kept fully informed on subjects of interest to {he
Fleet and as to all important developments, the Chief of Naval Op-
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erations did not communieate to him important information which
would have aided him materially in fully evalnating the seriousness
of the sitnation. In particular, the failure to transmit the State
Department message of November 26th and to send. by telephone or
other expeditions means. information of the “1. p. m.” message and its
possible import, were unfortunate.

10. Admral Kimmel, nevertheless, did have sufficient information
in his possession to indicate that the situation was unusually serious,
and that important developments with respect to the ontbreak of war
were imminent. This included the “war warning” message and simi-
lar important messages which were sent by the Chief of Naval Op-
etutions.

11. The available information in the possession of the Commander-
in-Chiet, Pacific Fleet, as to the existing situation, particularly the
“war warning” message, was not disseminated to all of his important
subordinate commanders whose cognizance thereof was desirable,
Thus Admiral Bellinger, who commanded the patrol planes. and
Admiral Newton. who was at sea with a earrier and other units, were
not informed of this and other important messages,

12. Despite the fact that prior to the attack the telephone lines of
the Japanese Consul General at Honolulu were tapped and that vari-
ous of his cable messages were secured at Honolulu. no information
was obtained prior to December 7th which indicated the likelihood
of a Japanese attack. The legal restrictions which denied access to
such cable messages were a definite handicap to the intelligence
agencies in the Iawalian area.

13. Although various messages of the Japanese Consul General at
Honolulu, which indicated Japanese interest in specific locations of
ships in Pearl Harbor, were intercepted by radio intercept stations
of the Army and Navy and decrypted prior to the attack, this infor-
mation was not transmitted by the Navy Department to Admiral Kim-
nmel. Certain other messages which were intercepted by the Army
prior to 7 December 1941, indicated the likelihood of attack on Pearl
Harbor but were not deerypted or bronght to the attention of the Navy
prior to the attack, apparently becanse the Army did not have sufii-
cient personnel for such worlk.

"14. The only practicable sources from which Admiral Kimmel could
have secured information. after the receipt of the “war warning,” as
to the approach of the attacking force. were the aircraft warning
service, traffic analyses of Japanese naval communications, and distant
air reconnaissance from Oahu.

[277 15. The aireraft warning system was being operated by
the Army during certain periods of the day primarily for training
purposes, and, although not fully developed, could have served to give
some warning of the approach of Japanese nircraft.

16. The principal basis for estimates of the location of Japanese
naval forces was the intelligence obtained by the Navy from traffic
analysis of Japanese naval communications.

17. A carrier attack could not, with certainty, have been prevented,
for the following reasons:

(a) Certain prevention of such an attack requires interception and
destiuction of the earriers before attack planes can be launched.
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(b) The forces necessary to insure such interception and destruc-
tion, anywhere in the vast area which would have had to be covered,
were not available, and could not have been expected to be available.

(c¢) If the Japanese task force had been detected at nightfall, the
probability of its successful interception and destruction prior to
the following dawn would have been small.

18. Prior warning of an impending air attack, even as little as
one half hour, would have served considerably to reduce the effective-
ness of the attack, for the following reasons:

(2) Ships’ anti-aircraft batteries would have been fully manned
and ready. It is to be noted that the anti-aircraft fire was more
effective against the subsequent attacks than the initial air attack.

(b) Enemy character of the approaching planes would have been
immediately appreciated and they wonld have been engaged at once.

(¢) Phe maximum condition of damage control readiness would
have been set, thus facilitating the isolation of damage received.

(d) Many planes could have been in the air, in readiness.

(e) Ground dispersal of planes could have been improved.

19. The only adequate means of assuring detection of an approach-
ing carrier attack was by 860 degree distant air search from Oahu.
Sufficient planes were not available to carry out an all-around distant
air reconnaissance daily for more than a few days.

[178] 20. A thorough appreciation of the danger, the capa-
bilities of the available planes, and the importance of the defense of
Pearl Harbor might have justified the allotment by the Chief of Naval
Operations of additional patrol planes to the Pacific Fleet. Although
the additional planes, if assigned, would not have been sufficient for
a 360 degree daily search, they would have increased the area which
could have been etfectively covered and might have acted as an induce-
ment to such employment. Admittedly, in making over-all plane
assignments, it was necessary for the Chiet of Naval Operations to
weigh the prospective needs of the Pacific and the Atlantie, where
hostilities with Axis submarines were already in progress.

21. Partial air reconnaissance, covering a sector of some 120 degrees,
could have been maintained daily from Oahu for a considerable period
of time with the Fleet patrol planes controlled by Admiral Kimmel
and could have been designed to cover the most probable approach
bearings from which an attack might have been expected. Such
reconnaissance would have had a reasonable chance of success.

29, Neither the Chief of Naval Operations, the Commander-in-
Chief, Pacific Fleet, nor the key members of the latter’s staff, seem
to have given serious consideration after 27 November 1941 to the
possibility or probability of an air attack on Pearl Harbor or of its
possible effect.

23. The information as to Japanese naval forces which was avail-
able to the Commander-in-Chief, Pacific Fleet, emphasizing the move-
ment of forces to the southward, tended to concentrate his atten-
tion on the probability of Japanese attacks on the Philippines and
Malaysia. The information which was received by Admiral Kimmel
during the first week of December 1941 indicated, however, that on
December 1st there was an unusual chanee in Japanese radio call
signs; that, on the basis of all information up to December 2nd, no
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reliable estimate could be made of the whereabouts ot four of Japan’s
ten carriers,and that there was no information as to any of the carriers
thereafter. The absence of positive information as to the location
of the Japanese carriers, a study of the movement which was possible
to them, under radio silence, through the unguarded areas of the
Puacific, and a dJdue appreciation of the possible effects of an air
attack should have induced Admiral Kimmel to take all practicable
precautions to reduce the effectiveness of such an attack. The meas-
ures which reasonably were open to him were: :

(a) Establishment of long distance air reconnaissunce, covering
the most probable approach sectors to the extent possible, on a rea-
sonably permanent basis, with available planes and erews.

(b) Establishment of a higher condition of anti-aireraft readiness,
at least during the dangerous dawn lhours. .

(e) Establishment of a higher degree of damage control readiness
by ships in port, particularly during the dangerous dawn hours.

(d) Installation ot anti-torpedo nets to protect the larger vessels
in port.

[179] (e) Maintenance of a striking force at sea in readiness to
intercept possible attack forces.

(f) Maintenance of the maximum force of the Fleet at sea, with
entry into port at irregular intervals. ~

(g2) Checking with Army as to readiness of anti-aireraf{t defense
and aireraft warning installations.

24, Admiral Kimmel’s estimate as to the probability of submarine
attack in the Tlawaiian arvea was justified by subsequent events.

25. Thronghout his incumbency as Commander-in-Chief, Pacific
Fleet, Admiral Kimmel was energetic, indefatigable, resourceful, and
positive in his efforts to prepare the Fleet for war. In considering the
action which lie could have taken, it should be noted that:

(a) Establishment of the maximum plane reconnaissance would
have meant the stoppage of aircraft training which was of great im-
portance to the naval expansion program, and might have resulted
in wear and tear on planes and crews which would have reduced their
later effectiveness.

(b) Higher conditions of readiness would have interfered with the
rest and relaxation desirable in port for the maintenance of personnel
efficiency.

(¢) Irailure to install anti-torpedo nets was influenced (i) by infor-
mation from CNO which made it appear that effective drops of air-
craft torpedoes with the depths of water and length of run available
in Pearl Harbor were not probable; (ii) the interference such nets
would have caused in harbor operations due to crowded conditions.

(d) The presence of two carrier task forces at sea at the time on
necessary ferry trips did, in a way, provide striking forces and some
reconnaissance.

(e) Inview of the submarine menace and the concentration of anti-
aiveraft batteries, it was questionable whether ships were safer in port
or at sea.

926. The attempt to obtain confirmation of the reported submarine
attack off Pearl Harbor was proper, although it should have been
effected in plain language. Adequate naval action was taken in send-
ing out the ready destroyer. This information was of no immediate
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interest to the Army unless it is fact indicated imminency of an air
attack, an assumption which was not necessarily logical. In any event,
confirmation was not received until the air attack had commenced.

[180] 97. More effective action would have been taken both
before and after the attack on Pearl Harbor had there been in existence
in the Hawalian arvea a suitable operating agency for the adequate
exercise of joint command functions. This omission was the fault
of no one person, but of the existing system.

28. War experience has shown that:

(a) The responsibility for final major decisions must devolve on
one person; that is, there must be “unity of command.”

(b) In planning and executing joint operations, responsible com-
manders of the different services, who are to act jointly, and the
principal members of their staffs, must be in close physical touch, and
not entirely dependent on telephonie, radio, or similar communications.
In no other way can a full exchange of information and ideas be
assured nor the possibility of misunderstanding be prevented.

(c) Commang organizations which are to function effectively in
an emergency must be in active operation prior to such emergency.

29. Based on the foregoing, military command of outlying stations,
such as Hawaii, should, even in peacetime, be established under the

rinciple of “Unity of Command.” The commander exercising such
joint command should be assisted by a joint staff, capable of advising
him in the functions of both services concerned.
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